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Preface

World War Two prisoners of war (POWs) had an unenviable
existence. No matter where one is captured or by whom, at
the time of capture there is always the frightening possibility that one
will be killed on the spot. Then, once men have surrendered and sur-
vived, they have to cope with the psychological crisis of believing that
they have failed in their military duty. For western POWs, this worry
could be temporarily depressing; for POWs from Japan’s military
services, the failure had cultural connotations that often led them to
commit suicide.

Moreover, as soon as men cease to be military “effectives” they
also cease to be of day-to-day interest to their parent military estab-
lishment. This can have long-term connotations to permanent-service
soldiers, who, after the war and their captivity ends, usually and not
unnaturally find that they are permanently retarded in terms of pro-
motion. Often, they return home to dislocated families and have to
struggle to cope with a world significantly changed from the one they
knew before captivity.

Nevertheless, twentieth-century POWs in general have had an infi-
nitely better prospect than was the case in previous centuries. Until the
eighteenth century, prisoners routinely could expect to be mutilated,
killed, or enslaved by their captors.

Beginning in the 1700s, ad hoc arrangements began to be made in
the field, between opposing generals, that permitted the repatriation of
the prisoners they might take in ensuing battles. In the 1800s, more
generalized arrangements began to be made. The United States codi-
fied a humane set of rules for managing the existence of POWs during
the Civil War, a groundbreaking formulation known as the Lieber Code
after Francis Lieber, its author. These rules were promulgated by the
Union in May 1863 as General Orders No. 100, “Instructions for the

Notes to Preface are on p. 329.

xiii



xiv / Long Night’s Journey into Day

Government of Armies of the United States in the Field.”! But the
appalling fate of so many Union and Confederate POWs makes it clear
that a Code, by itself, can do little to prevent suffering and death.

The next significant advance came through the efforts of Henri
Dunant, a Swiss. He was on the battlefield after the battle of Solferino
in 1859, and had been so horrified by the desperate plight of the
wounded and sick, both prisoners and non-prisoners, that he began
what became the Red Cross movement. The first step in that direction,
in 1862, was the publication of Dunant's A Memory of Solferino.2 One
crucially important consequence of the movement was that a series of
multnational conferences were convened to devise regulations assuring
proper treatment of wounded and imprisoned soldiers. Over several
decades, conferences were held in Geneva, Switzerland, and in The
Hague, The Netherlands; the resulting multnational agreements were
identified both by the name of the host city and by the year the partic-
ular compact was signed. The first so-called Geneva Convention was
signed by 12 nations in 1864; the 1929 version was the one that provid-
ed restraint and guidance to the actions of most of the nations involved
in World War Two. Those countries that did not sign or ratify the 1929
Geneva Convention had, in some important instances such as Japan,
fully ratified the 1908 Hague Convention, to the terms of which they
were bound theoretically in international law.

There are two stages in the process of accepting an international
agreement of this type and formally committing a nation to adhere to
it. The first consists in having one or more officials sign the
Convention—at Geneva or The Hague—on behalf of their country. The
second stage requires the government to ratify the agreement after
appropriate discussions in its own parliament. Only then does that
government formally undertake to abide by the Convention.

The 1929 International Convention Relative to the Treatment of
Prisoners of War was signed in Geneva on 27 July 1929; among the
signatories were Yoshida Isaburo,® Shimomura Sadamu,* and Miura
Seizo, the official representatives of the Emperor of Japan. Yoshida was
Envoy Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotentiary of Japan at Berne,
the other two were military officers.5 A second Convention, signed at
the same time, dealt with the treatment of the sick and wounded in the
field. Japan signed this document also.

In the Diet, the country’s parliamentary body, Japan ratified the
Convention on treatment of the sick and wounded in the field, but did
not ratify the Convention on POWs. In discussions within the Japanese
government in 1934, the army decided to “refrain from petitioning the
Emperor for his ratification.”¢ No specific reasons seem to have been
identified. Naval leaders itemized four reasons why they believed that
ratification would work to Japan's detriment. Since Japanese fighting
men “do not expect any possibility of becoming war prisoners” the
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obligations of the treaty would be unilateral on Japan; the expectation
of lenient treatment by the Japanese might encourage such acts as
bombing raids from distances so great that enemy fliers could not
return to their base; permitting unobserved interviews between
prisoners and representatives of the Protecting Powers would harm the
war effort; and treaty provisions on punishment of POWs were more
advantageous to Allied POWs than corresponding Japanese law would
be to Japanese soldiers, thus necessitating a change in Japanese codes
and laws.” The Convention was not ratified.

Thus Japan had no legal obligation in international law to follow
the precepts of that particular Convention. Naturally, this was a source
of great anxiety to the governments of those nations whose troops
faced the Japanese in their rapid advances dating from 7-8 December
1941. On 3 January 1942, in a communication that may have been a
direct result of the capitulation of Hong Kong on Christmas Day 1941,
the Argentine Ambassador in Tokyo, Erasto M. Villa, wrote to Togo
Shigenori, Minister for Foreign Affairs. He conveyed to Minister Togo
the information that the governments of Great Britain, Canada,
Australia, and New Zealand “will observe towards Japan the terms of
the International Convention on the treatment of prisoners of war” and
enquired on behalf of these governments whether Japan was prepared
to make a similar declaration.® On 29 January 1942, Togo responded,
giving the views of the Imperial Japanese Government. In translation,
the pertinent item read as follows:

The Imperial Government has not yet ratified the Convention relating to
treatment of prisoners of war of 27 July 1929. It is therefore not bound by
the said Convention. Nevertheless it will apply mutatis mutandis the pro-
visions of that Convention to...prisoners of war in its power.10

In a later communication, Togo further stated that his government
intended to take into consideration the national and racial customs of
POWs and civilian internees when distributing provisions and cloth-
ing.1! In considering these commitments, which should have assured
reasonably good conditions for the prisoners of the Japanese, one must
wonder what decisions or external circumstances led to their abandon-
ment or to their being ignored. For most certainly the 1929 Geneva
Convention on Prisoners of War was not adhered to with regularity by
Japan, as will become evident in the following pages.

The experiences of Allied servicemen who became prisoners of
war at Hong Kong in December 1941 are examined in this book. These
experiences agreed, in fundamental generality, with those of POWs all
over Japan’s Greater East Asia Co-Prosperity Sphere, as the Japanese
called their wartime expanded empire. Because of this essential simi-
larity, the Hong Kong captive years can be seen as a sort of case study
of POW life in the Far East.
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The purpose of this book is to tell what happened to the men
captured in the Crown Colony of Hong Kong. The primary emphasis
will be on the 1,900 Canadians who arrived there on 16 November
1941. But the account will by no means be limited to them. About the
same number of both British soldiers and Indian troops were there
also, as well as Royal Air Force aviators and ground crew, Royal Navy
personnel, and of course, the citizens of Hong Kong, thousands of
whom took part in the battle and shared the grim years of defeat and
imprisonment. Moreover, in the camps in Japan where many of the
Hong Kong prisoners ended the war, American, British, Dutch, and
Australian POWSs laboured, and sickened, and often died as well.

I am a medical historian. My thesis is that the story of the Allied
forces at Hong Kong—three weeks of fighting and 191 weeks of cap-
tivity—is explicitly a medical story and therefore may be told particu-
larly effectively and appropriately from the viewpoint of a medical
Bhistorian. Every POW was a patient at some time during those 191
weeks, many of them spending substantial portions of that time starv-
ing or seriously ill, with limited medical assistance. A high percentage
were ill enough that they did not last the 191 weeks.

I have depended upon three kinds of evidence in documenting the
events to be described: archives, books, and interviews. Archival col-
lections in many countries have provided information from sources
ranging from official reports and military war diaries to tattered clan-
destine diaries, maintained at great risk and eventually taken home.
Hundreds of men and a few women have written personal memoirs
about their experiences, and scores of historians have recorded and
analyzed various aspects of the war; a complete listing appears at the
end of the book. But perhaps the most significant source has been the
interviews conducted with many dozens of survivors of the camps in
the Far East. Their first-hand knowledge has been invaluable, and I can
only hope that the picture I shall draw will reflect their generous con-
tributions of time and, often, deep emotion at the re-telling of mostly
painful experiences.

Their experiences cannot be fully understood when told exclu-
sively in traditional political and military historical terms. The reality
of constant disease pervaded and influenced every other aspect of life
in the camps. In this book, the reasons for the existence of so much dis-
ease, and the responses to it, take centre stage. In Chapter one, that
stage is set as the months of 1941 recede into history.
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November 16:
December 8:
13:

18-19:

20:
25:

30:

January 5:
6:

21:

23:

24:

February 5:
15:
27:

28:

1941

Canadians arrive in Hong Kong

Japanese attack

Japanese demand for Hong Kong surrender rejected
by Governor

Japanese invade Hong Kong Island

Massacre at Shau Kei Wan

first use of North Point to house POWs

British forces capitulate

Massacre and rape at St. Stephen’s College

Sham Shui Po set up as POW Camp

1942

Japanese fix the rate of exchange at 2 HK$ to 1 Military
Yen; in July 1942 this became 4 HK$ to 1 MY.
performance by IJA band, Sham Shui Po

Indians at North Point move to Argyle Street Camp
Canadians at Sham Shui Po move to North Point
Camp

British and HKVDC at North Point to Sham Shui Po
Camp

regular “muster” parades begin at Sham Shui Po
electricity restored in Sham Shui Po

4 MOs, 20 RAMC orderlies, and ca. 30 nurses (QARNS
& VADs) sent to St. Teresa’s (80 beds) to set up a POW
hospital for Sham Shui Po and Argyle Street camps
first issue of meat at Sham Shui Po

XXV



March 10:

19:
April 1:
7:

10:

15:
18:

May 22:
June n.d.:
4:

6:

27:

July 3:

August 7 :
7

12:

19-20:

September 4:
8:

16:
25:
26:

27:

October 8:
17:

25:
28:

November 1:
21:
28:
December 21:
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illuminations seen in Kowloon; surrender of Dutch
East Indies

buffalo meat issued in Sham Shui Po

first issue of pay to officers

first whale-meat issue in Sham Shui Po

escape from Sham Shui Po of Pearce, Clague, White,
and Bosanquet

first yeast issue in Sham Shui Po

senior officers above rank of captain move to

Argyle Street Camp

non-escape oath demanded by IJA

first ICRC visit to Bowen Road Hospital

canteen opens, Argyle Street Camp

allowed to write first mail home

first diphtheria death among British at Sham Shui Po
first visit of ICRC representative, Rudolf Zindel, to
Sham Shui Po

first case of diphtheria diagnosed among Canadians at
North Point Camp

transfer of Col. Shackleton, RAMC, from Bowen Road;
Maj. Donald Bowie takes over

St. Teresa closed; patients to Bowen Road Military
Hospital or Sham Shui Po

escape of Payne, Berzenski, Adams, and Ellis,
Winnipeg Grenadiers, from North Point Camp

first draft leaves for Japan

Chinese in Sham Shui Po released (105, 97 of these
from HKVDC)

first Kai Tak work party from Sham Shui Po

2nd draft boards Lisbon Maru

1,404 Canadians and 27 Dutch move from North Point
to Sham Shui Po; North Point Camp closes

2nd draft of British POWs (1,816) leaves on Lisbon
Maru

Lisbon Maru sunk

Japanese beat Maj. Crawford and berate medical
orderlies because so many POWs are dying

first Allied air raid on Hong Kong

70 “bad cases” [Edwards, IWM] sent from Sham Shui
Po to Bowen Road Hospital

first issue of ghee in Sham Shui Po

first issue of Red Cross stores (bully beef and raisins)
first Red Cross parcels issued

first visit of ICRC delegate from Japan, C.A. Kengelbacher
and Pestalozzi, to Hong Kong camps



January 19:

22:

March 30:
April 9:
May 3:
August 4:
15:

19:
27:
September 5:
14:

December 15:

January 1:
April 20:

29:
May 4:

11:
22:
June, n.d.:

July 17:
August 10:
October 16:

26:

27:
December 8:
19-24:

January 16:
March 3:
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1943
663 Canadians to Japan on Tato Maru or Tatsuta Maru,
including Capt. John Reid, RCAMC, plus 451 regulars
(British), and 83 HKVDC. Edwards (IWM) identifies
the ship as the Asama Maru.
Lt. Tanaka O/C Argyle Street Camp succeeds
Lt. Sanemore
first mail received, Sham Shui Po
bath house opens at Sham Shui Po
Dr. Selwyn Selwyn-Clarke arrested by Kempeitai
14 senior officers to Formosa
4th draft: 376 Canadians, 83 British, 23 Dutch, 17 RAF,
and 2 HKVDC to Japan on Manryu Maru
all Canadian senior officers to Argyle Street
Gnr. Mathiew killed on wire at Sham Shui Po
typhoon begins
complete search of Sham Shui Po, 8:30 a.m. till
5:45 p.m., during which time no food or drink
5th draft, 204 HKVDC, 200 British, and 98 Canadians
to Japan on Toyama Maru

1944

hut collapses at Niigata Camp 5B, Japan, killing eight men
11 MOs to Sham Shui Po en route to Japan (no
Canadians)

47 Canadians to Japan on Naura Maru

first group of officers move from Argyle Street Camp
to Sham Shui Po Camp “N”

second group of officers move from Argyle Street
Camp to Sham Shui Po Camp “N”

third group of officers move from Argyle Street Camp
to Sham Shui Po Camp “N”

Indian POWs move from Ma Tau Chung Camp to the
now-vacant Argyle Street Camp

Lt. Goodwin escapes from Sham Shui Po

ICRC inspection: Barnett incident

heavy air raid; camp hit

partridge and pheasant in Sham Shui Po Camp “N”
Canadian Red Cross parcels issued

massive US air raid, Kai Tak bombed heavily

daily heavy air raids

1945

heaviest air raid on Hong Kong, 8:30 a.m. to 7 p.m.
British Red Cross parcels (1942 vintage) at Sham Shui Po



24:
April 9:

August 6:
9:

15:

19:

30:

September 5:
16:

March 31:
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patients and staff at Bowen Road Military Hospital
move to Sham Shui Po

patients and reduced staff from Bowen Road move to
Central British School

atom bomb dropped on Hiroshima

atom bomb dropped on Nagasaki

Emperor Hirohito broadcasts to his subjects
Crawford MO in charge of Camp “N”; Ashton-Rose
MO in charge of Ma Tau Chung

British fleet arrives in Hong Kong harbour

POWs leave Niigata Camp 5B for Tokyo

Maj.Gen. Okada and Vice-Adm. Fujita formally sur-
render all Japanese forces in the Hong Kong area to
Adm. Sir Cecil Harcourt, RN

1948

last judgment rendered in Hong Kong war crimes trials;
48 cases involving 129 Japanese had been tried



Chapter 1
Hong Kong before
8 December 1941

Wrs end in different ways for different participants. World
War Two ended at Hong Kong formally and officially on
16 September 1945. On that day, in the afternoon, in Government
House, Maj.-Gen. Okada Umekichi and Vice-Admiral Fujita Ruitaro
surrendered formally to Rear-Admiral Cecil Halliday Jepson Harcourt,

CB, CBE.

Figure 1.1. Lt.-Gen. Tanaka Ryosaburo signing surrender papers at Hong Kong,
September 1945. Vice-Admiral Fujita (r) waits his turn. (National Archives of Canada,
National Photographic Collection, PA 147118.)

Notes to Chapter 1 are on pp. 330-31.
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For Canadian Rifleman Gabriel Guitard, the war ended on
22 February 1944, in Japan. He had been ill for some time, in and out
of makeshift hospitals; he was admitted for the final time to the hospi-
tal at Niigata Camp 5B, northern Japan, on 1 February 1944: “Moved
in hospital have diarrhoea cramps and passing blood. Off eats.”
Somehow, he had kept a terse but eloquent pencilled diary while he
was at Niigata.

Guitard also recorded the contents of his final message home by
postcard, a poignant effort to downplay his condition so as not to
worry his wife: 6 February 1944: “Dearest Eugenie and Terry: Just a
word to say hello to you all at home. I am well enough. Hope this word
finds you all the same. Give my love to Mother and family. How are
the boys and Dad. Well Sweet I will close with love and kisses. From
husband. Gabriel.” On 15 February he wrote what turned out to be his
final diary entry: “Weather cloudy and snowing cold meals fair. on
small diet. in hospital. diarrhoea is bad few cramps side is sore fre-
quent.” That same day, looking ahead still, he pencilled in the next few
dates, leaving himself a line or two blank so that he could make his
painful notations. But nothing appears alongside these dates. He died
of dysentery on 22 February: emaciated, dehydrated, dirty, verminous,
finally too weak to move and soiling his own bed space with the
bloody discharges over which he had no longer any control.!

For Arthur Thomas, Winnipeg Grenadiers, the war didn't end
until 29 March 1953. He had been seriously ill as a prisoner, hospital-
ized continuously from April 1942 till war's end. He returned to
Canada nearly blind, with both legs weak and with troublesome
abnormal sensations. The state of his legs worsened over the next year,
his blindness did not improve, and he received a 100 percent pension.
He died of a myocardial infarction at age 43. His post-mortem exami-
nation showed that there were permanent defects in his spinal cord
and in the nerves governing vision, changes that certainly began in
Japanese captivity.?

One man, Rifleman David M. Schrage, didn't get as far as Hong
Kong in 1941. He died aboard the transport ship Awatea, somewhere
on the Pacific Ocean, on 31 October 1941. Schrage was a victim of patri-
otism and bravado and lethally bad luck. And improperly self-treated
diabetes.

What was this place these men travelled so far to defend and, too
often, to die for?

The Colony of Hong Kong

The Crown Colony of Hong Kong consisted, until 1 July 1997, of Hong
Kong Island and, across a narrow channel, a portion of the mainland
bordering China. The Island of Hong Kong was ceded to Great Britain
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in 1841; 19 years later, the peninsula of Kowloon with the surrounding
islands were also ceded to Britain. In 1898, an agreement with the
Chinese government was signed for an extension of the lease to the
area adjoining Kowloon. This area of about 400 square miles, known
as the New Territories, was leased to Britain for 99 years. That lease
ended in 1997.

The Island covers an area of 32 square miles, with a chain of moun-
tainous ridges extending throughout its length of 11 miles. The low
mountains are broken by deep valleys, and their precipitous slopes are
covered by dense vegetation. The island's highest point is Victoria Peak.
On the northwest corner of the island, below Victoria Peak, lies the
capital of Victoria, which occupies a narrow strip extending along the
northern shore for about four miles, a large section of which is domi-
nated by massive skyscrapers constructed since 1945—Hong Kong's
famous skyline.

Kowloon is sited immediately across the straits from Victoria and
connected to it by the famous Star Ferry (and, long after the war, by
tunnels). In 1941, the mainland to the north of Kowloon consisted of
sparsely populated villages hidden amidst mountainous, inaccessible
ground, much of it covered by forest. Most of the largely Chinese pop-
ulation lived in Kowloon. Forty miles from Kowloon and Victoria lies
the city of Canton, now named Guangzhou. In 1941, only two good
roads connected Canton and the Chinese frontier with Kowloon: the
Castle Peak road to the west and the Tai Po road to the east. Hong
Kong's only aerodrome was at Kai Tak on the eastern edge of
Kowloon, used for both commercial and military purposes.

The colony's population in 1941 was about 1,750,000, the vast
majority Chinese. As many as 750,000 were refugees from the Japanese
aggression that had wracked the mainland in Manchuria since 1931
and particularly severely in China after 1937.

Hong Kong was the headquarters and base of the Royal Navy's
China Station, and for a century had been a “defended port” of some
strength.3 When Great Britain was still great and controlled the high
seas, Hong Kong was a significant node in an effective military chain
that included Singapore, Australia, Ceylon (Sri Lanka), Burma
(Myanmar), and India, in the East. But in 1941, with much of the Royal
Navy heavily engaged in the Atlantic, Mediterranean, and North Sea
campaigns, the situation at Hong Kong had altered. The Royal Navy
was unable to mass fighting ships in the area, and Hong Kong sud-
denly became largely indefensible, a fact Prime Minister Winston
Churchill and his professional strategists recognized early in the war.

In 1938, the Imperial Japanese Army had landed about 35,000
men at Bias Bay, 35 miles from Hong Kong. They occupied Canton and
effectively cut off communications between Hong Kong and mainland
China. The Imperial Japanese Navy made shipping hazardous even
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before fighting began in December 1941. Hong Kong was almost
entirely cut off, particularly after the Japanese occupied Hainan Island
early in 1939, thus threatening the sea link with Singapore.

There were four regiments in Hong Kong in the summer of 1941.
As war loomed, the British had several options, not all of them realis-
tic. They could abandon Hong Kong completely: impossible because of
the impact on prestige and the blow to honour. They could cutlosses by
removing one or two regiments, but this would have destroyed morale.
They could leave status quo. Or they could strengthen the defences.
They chose the last course, and two inadequately trained and equipped
Canadian battalions became part of the ill-fated garrison.

Before the Canadians arrived, Maj.-Gen. C.M. Maltby, an Indian
Army officer who was General Officer Commanding the Hong Kong
Garrison, had under his command the 2nd Battalion, Royal Scots (who
had been in Hong Kong since January 1938), 1st Battalion, Middlesex
Regiment (arrived August 1937), plus 5th Battalion, 7th Rajput
Regiment, and 2nd Battalion, 14th Punjab Regiment, both of the Indian
Army (arrived June 1937 and November 1940, respectively).

Naval strength included three destroyers, but two of these sailed
for Singapore on the day the Japanese attacked, leaving only HMS
Thracian. There were four gunboats, HMS Cicala, Tern, Robin, and Moth,
a modest flotilla of eight motor torpedo-boats, and miscellaneous
smaller vessels.

There were four regiments of artillery—a Coastal Regiment of
the Royal Artillery and a Medium Defence Battery manning the
coastal guns, one AA Regiment, and the 1st Hong Kong Regiment of
the Hong Kong and Singapore Royal Artillery. The last was responsi-
ble mainly for the mobile artillery and comprised two mountain bat-
teries equipped with 3.7 howitzers using pack mules and with 4.5
howitzers on wheels. The coastal defences comprised 29 guns. The
total complement of RAF planes were three obsolete Vildebeeste tor-
pedo-bombers and two Walrus amphibians.4 As well, there were the
almost 3,000 members of the Hong Kong Volunteer Defence Corps
and the Hong Kong Naval Volunteer Reserve. Canada's “C” Force
arrived 16 November 1941. Thus the garrison on 8 December 1941
amounted to 8,919 British, Canadian, and Hong Kong personnel,
4,402 Indians, and 660 Chinese.5

Medical Planning

When war began in Europe in 1939, military medical officials at Hong
Kong worked to bring medical defence up-to-date. The report for 1939
indicated that their efforts included the planning of first-aid posts,
casualty clearing stations, and relief hospitals; recruiting and training
personnel; and collecting ambulances, stretchers, instruments, dress-
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ings, and medications.6 Auxiliary hospitals were to be sited at various
places (described in the next chapter). An Auxiliary Nursing Service
(ANS), created in March 1939, was made a part of the Hong Kong
Volunteer Defence Corps.

The medical personnel came from three sources. Those members
of the Royal Army Medical Corps (RAMC) who were not attached to
specific regiments were consolidated into 27 Company RAMC just
prior to the beginning of the war in Europe in 1939.7 There were the
regimental medical officers and other personnel. And there were the
members of the medical section of the Hong Kong Volunteer Defence
Corps; some of these men had had previous military service but they
were in civilian practice in Hong Kong until mobilized in 1941. A few
individuals from the first group, a Canadian medical officer from the
second group, and the bulk of the third were formed into the Hong
Kong Field Ambulance late in 1941.

The established military medical institutions were segregated, as
was routine practice at the time, with separate facilities being main-
tained for Indian soldiers. This segregation vanished during the fight-
ing in December 1941. The two main hospitals were the British
Military Hospital on Bowen Road, on Hong Kong Island (168 beds),
and the Indian Hospital in Whitfield Barracks, Kowloon (120 beds).
The latter hospital was to be replaced by the facilities on the island at
Tung Wah Eastern Hospital, Causeway Bay, in the event of the main-
land having to be evacuated.® Once hostilities began, St. Albert's
Convent, on the Island, would provide another 400 beds. In addition,
a potential 400 beds could be provided in an emergency hospital to be
set up at St. Stephen's College, near the town of Stanley on the south-
eastern side of the island, and 200 beds in the Hong Kong Hotel,
Victoria.

The Army Medical Store was located on the mainland until
August 1941. It was then moved to St. Albert's Convent on the island.
The staff was accommodated at the nearby Bowen Road Military
Hospital. However, the war plan called for St. Albert's to become a
hospital. Accordingly, early in October the Stores moved to a “perma-
nent” home at the Salesian Mission at Shau Kei Wan (or Shaukiwan).
“One would have thought this to be a most unlikely site in which to
place all the Colonies [sic] reserves of medical supplies,”® because of
the distance between Shau Kei Wan, near North Point on the eastern
part of the island, and the main military hospital, British Military
Hospital, Bowen Road, in the west above Victoria City. All too soon,
the unhappy placement of this depot would become grimly clear,
though for reasons unrelated to the location of Bowen Road Military
Hospital.

That institution opened 1 July 1907. It was a conspicuous red-
brick building of three storeys commanding a magnificent view of



6 | Long Night's Journey into Day

Victoria, Hong Kong Harbour, and Kowloon from a hillside high
above the city. In peacetime the location was ideal. The hospital con-
sisted of two wings of wards plus a central administrative block that
also housed the operating rooms and the x-ray department.

Figure 1.2. Bowen Road Military Hospital, Hong Kong Island, 1930s. (Reproduced by
permission of the Urban Council of Hong Kong, collection of the Hong Kong Museum
of History, P69.143.)

For reasons unrecorded, the roadway to the hospital had been so
built that an ordinary army ambulance could not reach Bowen Road
Hospital directly. The last three-quarters of a mile was only a narrow
path over which a specially constructed, narrow, one-stretcher ambu-
lance transferred patients from the end of the nearest roadway.
Fortunately, this bizarre and anomalous situation was resolved in 1938
when a proper road was extended into the courtyard of the hospital.
Had this not been done, the use of the hospital during December 1941
would have been severely restricted.

Another important pre-war project was the creation of an under-
ground operating suite and x-ray department in renovated basement
space. An emergency generator was installed and the Royal Engineers
constructed a water reservoir in the hospital grounds, both measures
proving to be of great value during and after hostilities. In addition, in
autumn 1941 the accommodation at Bowen Road was increased from
168 to 250 beds to handle a severe outbreak of malaria that particular-
ly affected the Royal Scots, already undermanned because of rampant
venereal disease.!9 A Nursing Sister voiced what was widely known:
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“The second Battalion of the Royal Scots had been abroad for seven
years and was riddled with VD and malaria and was unfit to fight.”1!
Malaria reached epidemic proportions after manoeuvres in October, so
that, as one surgeon put it, “there must have been many of those man-
ning the mainland defenses whose legs felt weak and shaky following
the fever and anaemias of the disease as they covered the hilly and ter-
ribly uneven country they were called on to defend.”!2 When hostili-
ties began the total bed capacity at Bowen Road was increased to 400.13

On the civilian side, many efforts were carried forward in prepa-
ration for the medical needs of war. For example, volunteers were
asked to have their blood typed.14 Air raid drills were routine, reflect-
ing the grim realities of life in Great Britain at the time. A young
woman wrote in her diary that on 29 November 1941: “We took Mum
to pictures—good one ‘Sun Valley Serenade.” The Exercise was on so
there was a blackout and we had to walk most of the way there and
back, because syrens [sic] blew at inconvenient times. It looked like a
good blackout—saw a plane drop a pretend parachute.”15

There was a considerable and unfortunate alteration in key Allied
personnel in 1941. The changes may have been necessary for strategic
or political reasons, but in retrospect it is obvious that the changes
occurred too soon before the outbreak of fighting. For example, it was
only on 11 September 1941 that Sir Geoffrey Northcote turned over the
governorship of the colony to Sir Mark Young. That same month the
replacement for the former Commander of the Garrison (a Canadian,
Maj.-Gen. A. Edward Grasett) arrived to take up his heavy task; this
was Maj.-Gen. Christopher M. Maltby, MC.16 Thus these key figures
had less than three months to acquire the detailed knowledge of plans,
terrain, and men necessary to permit efficient leadership.

Canada’s Military Involvement

Britain asked Canada for two battalions and a brigade headquarters to
aid in the defence of Hong Kong on 19 September 1941, in a telegram
dispatched from the Dominions Office, London. The War Committee
of the Canadian Cabinet considered the telegram on 23 September but
deferred its decision pending examination by the General Staff, head-
ed by Lt.-Gen. H.D.G. Crerar,” and consultation with the Minister of
National Defence, Col. James Layton Ralston, who was then out of the
country. Inevitably, one event swayed General Crerar (and, probably,
others in authority) towards acceding to the request: the consultation
he had held with Maj.-Gen. Grasett the previous month. Grasett, a
Canadian but a member of the British regular army, was en route to the
United Kingdom at the conclusion of a two-year assignment as
Commander-in-Chief, China Command (Hong Kong). As Crerar said
later: “Major-General Grasett informed me during our conversation
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that the addition of two or more battalions to the forces then at Hong
Kong would render the garrison strong enough to withstand for an
extensive period of siege an attack by such forces as the Japanese could
bring to bear against it.”18 Grasett proved to be tragically wrong, but
his opinion, as the outgoing Commander at Hong Kong and as a fel-
low Canadian, must have weighed heavily in Ottawa.

On 27 September a message arrived from Col. Ralston conveying
his approval and specifying that the units should be sent from troops
then in Canada, not from those previously transported to England. On
the 29th Prime Minister William Lyon Mackenzie King cabled to the
Dominions Office that his government had agreed in principle to send
two battalions to strengthen the Hong Kong garrison.!

The Royal Rifles of Canada (from Quebec) and the Winnipeg
Grenadiers were chosen for Hong Kong because they represented both
eastern and western Canada, and French- and English-speaking
Canadians. Actually, the Royal Rifles was technically an English-
speaking unit, though a substantial proportion of its men had French
as their first language. Some, it turned out, had little English at all.
Both battalions had been on garrison duties, the Royal Rifles in
Newfoundland, and the Grenadiers in Jamaica. It was assumed that
there would be ample time for them to receive necessary additional
training after arriving in Hong Kong.20

The Royal Rifles of Canada was founded in 1862 when six inde-
pendent companies were combined at Quebec. Some units fought in
the North-West Rebellion of 1885 and during the South African war,
and others in France and Flanders in the First World War as reinforce-
ments to the Canadian Corps. In spite of the Regiment's long history,
the Hong Kong campaign proved to be its first active service fighting
as a formed body. After mobilization in July 1940, the Royal Rifles,
including many soldiers from the Gaspé (a substantial proportion of
the men came to the regiment through the 7th-11th Hussars?!) were
posted to Newfoundland.

The Winnipeg Grenadiers, formed in Manitoba in 1908, were allied
after the First World War to the Scots Guards, and King George VI had
become their Colonel-in-Chief by the time they mobilized in September
1939. The Grenadiers served in Jamaica and Bermuda for 17 months
before being assigned for special service to Hong Kong.22

The Training and Equipment
of the Expeditionary Force

The War Office had stated, on 11 October 1941, that first-line reinforce-
ments should accompany the Canadians to Hong Kong, amounting to
six officers and 150 other ranks for each battalion. At the time the units
were selected, the Royal Rifles were at full strength and, in addition,
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had three officers and 59 other ranks surplus to establishment. The
Winnipeg Grenadiers, on the other hand, were well below their war
establishment of 807. Subsequently, some 80 men of the Grenadiers
and 71 of the Rifles were struck off strength for medical or other rea-
sons. To bring the battalions up to strength and to provide them with
first reinforcements, approximately 440 new men in all were required
and had to be provided within 14 to 16 days. The additional men were
found by combing the training establishments; more than 100 of the
men had not yet completed their 16 weeks of basic training.2

The two battalions clearly had not reached the advanced state of
training that one would wish troops to attain before confronting the
enemy. But to suggest that they were sent into battle untrained is mis-
leading. Both British and Canadian authorities believed that the troops
were going to Hong Kong for garrison duty, and there was some rea-
son to believe that training deficiencies could be remedied there.24

The related question that needs to be answered, though, has been
hotly debated by US historians in connection with the attack on Pearl
Harbor: was the Allied leadership culpable in thinking, as late as the
end of September 1941, that Japan would not attack in the immediate
future? The Canadian government and its military hierarchy knew
that the Royal Rifles and the Grenadiers were not combat-ready. Was
there in fact any realistic hope that they would have an opportunity to
complete training before combat began? In the event, of course, they
did not have such good fortune.

Galen Perras recently provided an appropriately balanced assess-
ment of the case, indicating that the reinforcement of Hong Kong in
1941 was a mistake. Adding 1,975 soldiers

obviously did not deter a Japanese assault, nor did the extra troops make
a difference once war began. But it is far too easy to look back at the
events of 1941 (and what happened to the British and Canadian sur-
vivors in Japanese prison camps) and say the bolstering of Hong Kong
was folly and a calamity that could and should have been avoided.
Unfortunately, fixating on the consequences of a military defeat, only
natural given the human costs involved, does little to illuminate proper-
ly the reasons behind the decision to ask Canada to provide “C” Force.?5

On 27 October the bulk of the Force embarked from Vancouver on
the Awatea, a New Zealand transport ship provided for the expedition.
In addition, four officers and 105 Other Ranks of the Royal Rifles were
carried on the escort ship HMCS Prince Robert, an armed merchant
cruiser.26 Both ships sailed that night. Under the command of Brigadier
John K. Lawson (1890-1941),%7 the actual strength of the force was 96
officers (plus two Auxiliary Services supervisors) and 1,877 Other
Ranks. This included four medical officers and two nursing sisters,
two officers of the Canadian Dental Corps with their assistants, three
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chaplains,?® and detachments of the Canadian Postal Corps and the
Royal Canadian Corps of Signals.?

The medical personnel were Maj. John N.B. Crawford, Captains
Stanley Martin Banfill, Gordon Cameron Gray, and John A.G. Reid, all
Royal Canadian Army Medical Corps (RCAMC); Captains Winston R.
Cunningham and James C.M. Spence, both Canadian Dental Corps
(CDC);3 and Kathleen G. Christie and May Waters, nursing sisters.3!

Figure 1.3. Loading of Canadian military equipment aboard HMT Awatea, in Vancouver,
en route to Hong Kong, 27 October 1941. (National Archives of Canada, National
Photographic Collection, PA.116789.)

On 16 November the Canadians docked at Holt's Wharf, Kowloon.
Their numbers had shrunk by one; Rifleman Schrage had hidden his
severe diabetes mellitus from his medical officer. While at sea he devel-
oped hyperinsulinism after over-treating himself, and died.32 This self-
sacrificing (and sometimes suicidal) determination to serve was not
uncommon early in World War Two.

At the Hong Kong docks they were greeted by Sir Mark Young,
new Governor of Hong Kong, and by large numbers of the local inhab-
itants. The latter applauded vigorously. Many made the unfortunate
assumption that, with two additional battalions, the garrison was now
capable of withstanding a Japanese attack.

The Grenadiers and the Royal Rifles were given quarters in Sham
Shui Po Camp on the edge of the mainland city of Kowloon.?* They
found these quarters a revelation, as were most aspects of life in the
Far East for these young, often naive, and largely untravelled
Canadians. One soldier reported to his parents that the barracks were
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simply beautiful, “all made of cement with gardens and grass...you
can eat off the sidewalks.”34

The task of the Hong Kong garrison was to defend the Colony
against external attack and to deny the use of the harbour and dry
dock to the enemy. Thus mechanical transport would be essential for
the movement of troops and supplies. Canada was to provide this
transport, amounting to 212 vehicles, 20 of which were to be placed
aboard the Awatea. However, the vehicles for the Awatea did not reach
Vancouver until 28 and 29 October, and by that time the ship had
already sailed.

As a result, no transport went with the Canadian forces, and the 212
vehicles intended for it were loaded on the American freighter Don Jose,
which sailed from Vancouver on 4 November, one week after “C” Force.
Normally the freighter would have reached Hong Kong about
6 December. However, the ship was rerouted under orders from United
States naval authorities via Honolulu and Manila, reaching the latter
only on 12 December, after the outbreak of war with Japan. On
19 December, the War Committee of the Canadian Cabinet approved
diverting the vehicles to the use of the US forces in the Philippines.3>

Eight days before war began, the Royal Scots loaned the
Grenadiers an old Bren gun carrier so that the men could receive some
instruction—in hopes, presumably, of the vehicles arriving later.
“Some of our driver mechanics are working on the old carrier hoping
it will hold together so we can practice with it.” Two days later, during
training sessions, sections of men were marched about pretending to
be Bren Gun carriers.3¢

After the Canadians arrived there was, as it turned out, only a dis-
astrously short period for acclimatization. This fact would seriously
impede their efforts to carry out their role in the fighting, since they
seldom had the necessary detailed knowledge of the terrain over
which they had to fight. The area abounds with steep hills, often blan-
keted with bushes and trees, although the slopes nearest the cities of
Kowloon and Victoria were being denuded by the enormous numbers
of refugees scrabbling for firewood. Nevertheless the hills still con-
tained wild boars and miniature deer, called “barking deer,” preyed
upon by packs of wild dogs.3”

A British soldier in the Royal Scots noted in his diary of the
Canadians: “Poor devils! Straight from guard duties in the West Indies
& Canada they had not a clue about H.K. terrain and were pitch forked
into battle almost before they knew which was the Island and which
was mainland. They suffered heavy losses and were indeed a burnt
offering.”38

On arrival, the physical condition of the Canadians was good
though inevitably somewhat reduced by their long sea voyage. In
Hong Kong the significant medical conditions involving the Canadians
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during the next three weeks were an epidemic of food poisoning?® and
the expected outbreak of venereal disease as these vigorous young men
encountered the exotic, entrancing, but frequently diseased prostitutes
of this teeming port city. About 90,000 prostitutes worked the city, some
of them frequenting a dance hall known to the men as Gonorrhea
Racetrack.40 Another favourite spot was the Sun Sun Café in Wanchai.
By the end of November the incidence of venereal disease had reached
“alarming proportions,” despite efforts at prophylaxis by the medical
team.#! According to one of the Canadian medical officers, the first
night the men were given leave, the supply of condoms gave out in a
couple of hours.#2 The consequence was predictable; many Canadians,
as well as British and Indians, went into battle while struggling with
the distressing though not incapacitating symptoms of acute gonor-
rhea. It is also possible that they gave as well as got. Certainly the Royal
Rifles, having been posted to Newfoundland, had opportunity to
acquire venereal diseases there. Some evidence suggests that “a large
proportion of unmarried Newfoundland women” had “no effective
inhibitions relative to non-marital sexual intercourse” in the early
1940s, and an eyewitness saw couples copulating along the roadside as
he drove by.#* Maj. Donald Bowie, the chief surgeon at Bowen Road
Hospital before the war, and later Senior British Medical Officer
(SBMO), noted that a high proportion of the Asian prostitutes in Hong
Kong were infected. In an effort to avoid gonorrhea and syphilis, “some
men sought satisfaction in their own sex. Alas, this did not safeguard

them from infection.”44
The senior medical officer with the Canadian troops, Maj. John N.B.

Crawford, RCAMC, arrived in Hong Kong as Medical Officer, Winnipeg
Grenadiers. On 3 December he was posted as second in command,
Hong Kong Field Ambulance, a unit under the command of Lt.-Col.
(later Sir) Lindsay T. Ride. The Hong Kong Field Ambulance comprised
regular RAMC personnel, members of the medical company of the
Hong Kong Volunteer Defence Corps, and members of the St. John's
Ambulance Brigade. The duties of the Field Ambulance were to provide
preliminary treatment of battle casualties and then to transport them to
hospitals in the rear.4> Five days after taking up his post, Crawford and
all of Hong Kong were at war with Japan.

In the days immediately before war began, Hong Kong attempt-
ed to carry on as if the axe would not fall. Dances were held, the bars
and cafes did a roaring business, and inter-service sporting events
continued. One Canadian soldier remembered the pain of “drilling
with murderous hangovers.”46

War hovered near. Perhaps fortunately, no one could have
predicted the magnitude of the catastrophe that would begin on
8 December 1941.



Chapter 2
The Eighteen-Day War:
8-25 December 1941

Death is not an adventure to those who stand face to face with it.
—Erich Maria Remarque

s ! he defence of Hong Kong fell into two successive phases: a

delaying action in the mainland territories, followed by a pro-
longed defence of Hong Kong Island. The latter, Imperial authorities
hoped, would last at least six months.

Two infantry brigades were created out of three battalions. The
Mainland Brigade, under the command of Brigadier C. Wallis, consist-
ed of the Royal Scots on the left of the Gin Drinkers’ Line, covering the
slopes of Tai Mo Shan Mountain and the Shingmun Redoubt; 2/14
Punjab Regiment, which was assigned to cover the center of the main-
land area; and 5/7 Rajput Regiment on its right.

Brigadier J.K. Lawson was appointed to command the second
Brigade on the Island, which included his two Canadian battalions
and 1st Middlesex Regiment. Such was the defence scheme in which
the Canadians took their places.!

The role of the Hong Kong Volunteer Defence Corps (HKVDC)
was not spelled out in this plan, though the addition of their numbers
was significant, consisting of 94 officers and 1,665 men, plus 14 officers
and 860 men of the Hong Kong and Singapore Royal Artillery, and
three officers and 250 men in the Hong Kong Mule Corps.2 There was
also a contingent of the Hong Kong Royal Naval Volunteer Reserve.
Thus the total contribution from Hong Kong itself amounted to almost
2,800 men.

Notes to Chapter 2 are on pp. 331-35.
13
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On 6 December, as the threat of war escalated, military units were
called into readiness. The Hong Kong Field Ambulance was recalled
from the New Territories and, on the 7th, it took up its battle positions.?
The Japanese attack on Hong Kong began on 8 December (7 December
on the North American side of the International Date Line) with a dam-
aging air raid, and continued relentlessly for the next 17% days. On
Christmas Day 1941, the Colony was forced to surrender.

(6]
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Figure 2.1. Map showing outline of Hong Kong and New Territories. (Faculty of Health
Sciences, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON.)

Misinformation had clouded the preparations for war. Suppos-
edly the Japanese were inadequate soldiers of poor physique and
stature, short-sighted, and unable to see—and therefore fight—at
night. Allied soldiers quickly discovered that these were lethally
wrong predictions. Within a few days, a nurse in Kowloon, already in
captivity, observed Japanese troops training for the assault on Hong
Kong Island. The men’s physical fitness and stamina was “depress-
ingly first-class,” she noted.4

During hostilities at least a dozen hospitals on the Island took in
military casualties. These included: Bowen Road Military Hospital;
Tung Wah East (the Indian military hospital); St. Albert’s Convent;
St. Stephen’s College, Stanley; Stanley Prison Hospital; the Royal
Naval Hospital, Queen Mary Hospital, Pokfulam; University
Hospital in various University buildings; the Hong Kong Hotel; War
Memorial Hospital, The Peak; Matilda Hospital, The Peak?; and the
Happy Valley Racetrack, where a temporary hospital was set up by
12 December. On the mainland there were several military and civil-
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ian hospitals, including St. Teresa’s Hospital, the Kowloon Military
Hospital, the Indian Hospital in Whitfield Barracks, and Kwong Wah
Hospital, as well as a number of emergency hospitals located in suit-
able large buildings: for example, the Peninsula Hotel, the
Magistracy, Central British School, and La Salle College. Several
other hospitals handled civilian casualties exclusively, such as the
French Hospital on the Island. This institution was prepared to hold
as many as 600 patients. The Sisters were retained and, in addition,
European and Chinese physicians and nurses were added when war
broke out. All these men and women were under the overall direc-
tion of Dr. Dean Smith.6

As fighting began, the light sick were discharged to their units
and casualties began to flow in. Arrangements often were makeshift,
as medical officers and nurses who found their way to assigned posts
struggled to cope with large numbers of injured and, in many
instances, were seriously overworked because other medical person-
nel did not arrive. Dr. J.J. Woodward’s experiences epitomize this dif-
ficulty: a member of the Indian Medical Service, he was first stationed
at a Modified Casualty Clearing Station in the old Kowloon Military
Hospital, 8-10 December 1941; then he was evacuated to the Indian
General Hospital in Whitfield Barracks. A number of civilian medical
officers (MOs) were to work there but most did not appear. He was the
only surgeon. Nursing arrangements fell through but four Sisters vol-
unteered from the Italian Carnossa Convent. They handled between
300 and 400 patients, mostly Indians.”

Mainland Hospitals in Kowloon

The work of these hospitals will be described first since they were clos-
est to the fighting when it began and thus tended to see casualties
early. Unfortunately, official records of these hospitals are lacking. As
a result, the reconstructions here are of necessity anecdotal and frag-
mentary, depending heavily on the recollections and observations of
harried participants, sometimes recorded at the time, often later.
Indeed, of all the many hospitals, permanent and temporary, function-
ing during December 1941, only the activities at Bowen Road Military
Hospital have been detailed in an adequate historical record.

Kowloon Hospital

A number of Chinese non-government doctors had been assigned to
Kowloon Hospital. Most of them became disaffected early on and also
caused much trouble by sowing dissension among the Chinese labour-
ers at the hospital. By 12 December, the Chinese staff, both the menial
staff and most of the Chinese medical practitioners, had either disap-
peared or had become singularly uncooperative. The nurses, however,
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and two loyal Chinese physicians—Doctors Yeo and Yu—were praised
as admirable by Dr. K.H. Uttley (a civilian doctor who had a practice
in Hong Kong before the war).

) U

Figure 2.2. Map showing Hong Kong Island and Kowloon with sites of military hospitals,
both permanent and temporary, and other sites, marked. Legend: A: Sham Shui Po POW
Camp; B: Maryknoll School; C: La Salle School; D: Kowloon Hospital; E. Argyle Street
POW Camp; E. Central British School (now King George V School); G. Ma Tau Chung
POW Camp (Indian troops); H. Kwong Wah Hospital; I. Whitfield Barracks;
J. Peninsula Hotel; K. St. Stephen’s School Emergency Hospital; L. Hong Kong Hotel;
M. Murray Barracks; N. St. Frances Hospital; O. Royal Naval Hospital (now Ruttonjee
Sanatorium); P: North Point POW Camp; Q. Tung Wah Eastern Hospital; R. Hong Kong
Volunteer Defence Corps Headquarters; S. Nethersole Hospital; T. Bowen Road Military
Hospital; U. Happy Valley Temporary Hospital; V. Shau Kei Wan Medical Stores;
W. Canossa Hospital; X. Queen Mary Hospital; Y. War Memorial Hospital; Z. Repulse Bay
Hotel; AA. St. Stephen’s College Temporary Hospital and (later) Stanley Civilian
Internment Camp. (Faculty of Health Science, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON.)
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On 12 December, the situation obviously hopeless, Uttley sent a
note to the Japanese Commander offering to surrender the hospital.
They were ordered to hoist the Japanese flag. Later, a Japanese medical
officer appeared who had, as Uttley expressed it, the “usual superficial
friendliness characteristic of the Japanese official.”8 Not only the
Chinese feared the arrival of the Japanese. Everyone had heard about
the atrocities in China. Some were more frightened than others, such
as a woman “well known in Hong Kong society” who wanted
Dr. Uttley to have her and some of her fellow ANS nurses taken over
to Hong Kong, and not to be left in the hands of Japanese soldiers.
When he pointed out that their orders were to stay put, she gave him
“the most complete and most voluble ticking off I have ever had in my
life or am ever likely to have.” Nevertheless, the initial treatment of
the various medical establishments by the Japanese seems to have
been unexceptionable.

Dr. Isaac Newton, also working out of the Kowloon Hospital, kept
a diary that tells us much that otherwise apparently went unrecorded.
On 15 December 1941, while under Imperial Japanese Army (IJA)
guard in Kowloon, Newton reported that they had a visit from
Japanese officers, who came with an interpreter and, Dr. Newton
noted, were pleasant and asked what they could do for them. They
brought the medical prisoners a sack of rice, some sugar and vegeta-
bles, and a few cigars, but no water.1

The last being needed urgently because the city water mains had
failed,* Newton decided to risk a foray into newly occupied Kowloon.
He handed a note written in Chinese to the sentry. After reading it, “he
pretended to percuss my chest so I nodded and felt his pulse, he
laughed and pointed in the direction of the wells and I nodded and
left.” Newton felt that none of them could complain of the way they
had been treated till then. Later, he told a Japanese officer about two
sick persons in the POW group. The officer arranged for a car to take
them to a functioning hospital and allowed Newton to go with them,
take messages, and collect belongings.

It was the most terrifying drive I have ever experienced, we started by
going in reverse twice, then we shot forward full speed in bottom gear
straight across Nathan Road and managed to [stop] just before we
reached the curb....Along Nathan Road we swerved from side to side
across the whole middle of the road, fortunately there was practically no
traffic.12

By 15 December the entire medical staff was incarcerated. Several
physicians, some of their families, and a strangely varied group of oth-
ers were confined together. The Sisters and ANS nurses cooked and
kept their quarters in order. They contributed greatly to morale. And
morale sorely needed support at times. One doctor, whom Uttley did
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not name, had brought in a large quantity of food; he and his family
consumed it behind the backs of the others for several days. He “made
no attempt to share it with the others who were almost starving.”13

On 22 December 1941, the IJA moved the party of 83 men and
women, mostly doctors, nurses, and other hospital staff, to the first floor
of the luxurious Kowloon Hotel.14 There the group, minus Dr. Fehily
(an Irish doctor eventually released because of his nationality and there-
fore neutral status) who had been returned to run Kowloon Hospital,
were joined by Drs. Hargreaves, Gozano, and Yaroogsky.1>

Early the next day a Japanese doctor arrived to collect Drs. Newton,
Hargreaves, Gosano, and Uttley to “look after the British Army.”
They went first to the Kowloon Hospital, where they found all nurs-
es and medical staff had been removed the day before to the Chinese
YMCA. As additional survivors came in, they heard news of friends
and were surprised and delighted at how few casualties there had
been among them. Dr. Dean Smith had a gunshot wound of the arm,
the only serious injury. Of course, they would not have learned about
the slaughter at Shau Kei Wan, and the St Stephen’s atrocity had not
yet occurred.

Peninsula Hotel Temporary Hospital

Mrs. Day Joyce had been in the Auxiliary Nursing Service in Britain,
and joined the Hong Kong organization when she moved there. She
had one month’s training in a hospital each year, mostly in casualty
departments or operating rooms where, in the summer heat, “[m]y
amateur perspiration would drip into the poor patients’ sores.”16 The
ANS personnel assigned to the Peninsula Hotel were a mixed lot of
nearly 50 volunteers representing at least a dozen nationalities. The
day fighting began, Mrs. Joyce tried (and failed because of downed
telephone lines) to reach her group. In a final act of normality and
habit, her “coolie” had run a bath. “One has to try to live up to calm
devotion to duty like that.” She bathed and put on her grey cotton uni-
form.” Her world was changing forever.

Although she hadn’t been able to telephone the nurses they began
to trickle in to the Peninsula Hotel:

Of course I did not think of it at the time, but now one’s heart is torn by
the thought of the partings that took place on that Monday morning—
from husbands, lovers, children, needy ones, from homes and animals,
even from jewels and books....The Indian girl came, the Japanese
woman with the English name and the just-grown-up son, the large
Turkish lady (we lost her again), the Portuguese and many Eurasians,
and the handful of Europeans like myself; I am English. Gradually they
all turned up. A wife and mistress came together, having said goodbye
to their man.18
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Dr. Uttley’s job on the outbreak of hostilities was to take medical
charge of the hotel in Kowloon, and to turn the first two floors into an
emergency hospital. He ate what breakfast he could, though “I frankly
admit it was all I could do to get down a piece of fried bacon and an
egg.’19

Handing over Kowloon Hospital to Dr. Newton, who was to be
the chief medical officer there, he set off for the Peninsula Hotel in his
Austin car, a slow journey because of damage from the air raid. When
Uttley finally arrived at the hotel he told the manager, Mr. Nixon, that
he was there to open a hospital as had been previously arranged.
Nixon was cooperative and helpful. “I then saw Miss Dickson, the
Hotel Nursing Sister, and by 11 a.m. all our nurses, ANS nurses and
Sisters had turned up. I thought that this was very good but no
Doctors (all Chinese) nor any Chinese subordinate staff put in an
appearance all the day.”20

They took over the ground floor, the mezzanine, and the first
floor. By mid-afternoon the manager had cleared hotel property from
the areas to be converted into a hospital; the staff started setting up
camp beds and unpacking the hospital equipment that had been
stored in the hotel garage in preparation for the emergency.2! During
the afternoon of 8 December he allocated rooms to the nurses on the
mezzanine floor. Uttley was impressed with the hard-working and
helpful team of ANS nurses, who were either former Nursing Sisters
who had married or were young women who had had a short period
of training in the ANS at Kowloon or Queen Mary Hospitals, such as
Mrs. Joyce.??

No patients arrived at the hotel that first day. Nor was any food
sent to them. The logistical arrangements failed almost totally in the
first few confused and disastrous days. Dr. Uttley confirmed the fail-
ure of the logistical arrangements: “No food came to us on this or any
other day from the Medical Department; the commissariat broke down
completely in Kowloon so I had to fix up with Mr. Nixon to feed us at
his expense for the time being.”2

On 10 December Uttley expressed relief that no patients had
arrived as yet. Casualties had been light, so their services were not yet
required. The Peninsula Hotel was intended to be an overflow hospi-
tal for the Kowloon Hospital and the Central British School emergency
hospital. All major cases went in the first instance to Kowloon
Hospital, which was very busy. Dr. Isaac Newton and his Chinese col-
leagues there operated on 150 patients injured in bombing raids in
these early days. The lack of patients at the hotel was fortunate for
another reason. A serious problem had arisen because “every relative
of every coolie, boy or amah of the hotel has flocked here for safety in
the bomb-proof basement.”?¢ Uttley estimated that about 1,500 per-
sons had camped there, and the medical staff were unable to squeeze
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into the so-called shelter during a raid. The conditions were almost
indescribable. The floor was covered with excreta and there was no
ventilation.

Uttley had tried for days to reach Dr. Gray, the Medical Officer of
Health, but had been unsuccessful. “I heard later that he had bolted
and was hidden in the Hong Kong Hotel, permanently drunk.” He
was found by Dr. Selwyn-Clarke, brought over by him personally to
Kowloon, and told to get on with his wartime duties, but he apparent-
ly bolted again and was back in Hong Kong before Selwyn-Clarke
himself had returned.?> Lacking Gray’s assistance, Dr. Uttley secured
the services of two Sanitary Inspectors who got things better organ-
ized. Then, in mid-afternoon, he received an urgent phone call from
Dr. Newton telling him to close down the hospital and remove all the
nurses and all the food as quickly as possible to the hospital at La Salle
College.

La Salle College Temporary Hospital

This site was much closer to the fighting than was the hotel.
Alarmingly close. La Salle College was a Roman Catholic boys’ school,
almost in the foothills of the New Territories. A truck was purloined
for the hospital staff—seconded from the inactive Peninsula Hotel—
and their baggage. Mrs. Joyce herself went a little later. “Every single
one of the volunteer nurses climbed aboard without demur. Great
hearts. In the terrible hours to come there was not a single failure of
that quiet and lonely courage.”2¢ This is an exaggeration. As will
become evident, there was some perhaps understandable failure of
courage as surrender loomed.

At the college they organized a guard to patrol the hospital and
consequently had a quiet and unmolested night. The guard consisted
of Chinese soldiers who had been interned in the Argyle Street Camp
after they escaped mainland China to Hong Kong; they were released
on the outbreak of the war with Japan. Efficient at their job, they stayed
with the medical group to the end.

More than a year later, while struggling to cope in Stanley intern-
ment camp, another internee heard what he described as a “believe or
not story.” A Mrs. Sheldon, who was working in the La Salle hospital
during the war, remembered the Japanese entering the place. They saw
a box of Kotex. The officer in charge immediately exclaimed, “For face,
yes?” Then he tied one of these objects over his mouth and nose, after
stretching it to fit, tying it at the back of his head. The rest of his group
followed suit, and continued their inspection of the hospital “appro-
priately” masked.?”

One or two doctors had, apparently, behaved in unheroic fashion.
As described, Dr. Gray seems to have hidden himself away through-
out the war. “Dr. Tomlinson also did a bunk from Aberdeen FAP [First
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Aid Post] when a shell exploded rather nearer to him than he liked and
he hid himself in the Peak Hospital with a self-made diagnosis of
‘shell-shock’ until things were quiet again. Here, however, I blame
Dr. Kirk, who was in charge there, for letting the man get away with it
so easily. Apart from these two discreditable performances, the med-
ical department did very well in the war.”28
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Figure 2.3. LaSalle College, Kowloon, used as temporary hospital briefly in December 1941.
Photograph September 1945; the building no longer exists. (Reproduced by permission
of the Urban Council of Hong Kong, collection of the Hong Kong Museum of History
P94.750.)

Meanwhile, the Japanese were fighting a vigorous and successful
war. If casualties were somewhat lighter than anticipated, this was
because rapid advances required equally rapid retreats by the Allies,
with few long-term confrontations. Kowloon fell on 13 December after
only five days of battle.

The Island Attacked

Just a week until Christmas and the news was all bad. Hong Kong had
already been heavily battered. The Japanese attack on 8 December had
succeeded spectacularly. British, Indian, and Volunteer troops, and a
few Canadian elements had suffered major losses while being driven
from fixed positions with discouraging speed. As early as 13 December,
only the Island of Hong Kong itself flew the British flag. Sure of them-
selves, the Japanese took a few days to rest and reorganize their army
while the artillery pounded the Island.

A chill rain rattled on windows throughout the black night of
18-19 December, an ideal situation for invasion. The moon was hid-
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den as heavy clouds lowered the sky, and burning oil from damaged
storage tanks added roiling clouds of acrid smoke.

The inevitable invasion occurred that night. The Japanese
advanced rapidly after landing on the northeast corner of the island,
and fighting grew bitter as small-scale battles were fought, often at the
level of hand-to-hand combat. The situation was confused, and wors-
ened by inadequate methods of communication and, for the
Canadians, a general lack of knowledge of the terrain where they
fought. Late in the battle, small groups of men often were cut off from
their units, with no idea of what was expected of them, other than to
struggle for survival. Remarkable escapes preserved a few. One group
of Volunteers were close to enemy troops for hours: “The Japanese
were within short stone-throw—they were throwing clods at a dog
which was whining at the door of the shelter and hit Winch twice.”?
Ultimately, the Japanese moved on and Winch and the rest of the
Volunteers survived to fight again.

Figure 2.4. Lye Mun Passage separating mainland (background) and Hong Kong Island.
Japanese troops invaded here 19-20 December 1941. (National Archives of Canada,
National Photographic Collection, PA. 1555-28.)

On 19 December, local radio station ZBW made its last broadcast.
John Stericker crouched in an auxiliary power station and gave the
BBC news by thrusting a small radio tuned to London in front of the
only microphone. After the news ended, Stericker “with no confidence
in myself or the future wished everybody the good night which they
knew they were not going to get.”30 ZBW went off the air.

Before detailing the medical activities in the various Island hos-
pitals, it must be said that the majority of casualties were treated
first—and, in the case of minor and of lethal wounds, only—in the
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field. Medical staff, and persons with little or no medical training,
coped with the increasing flow of wounded men in largely unrecord-
ed fashion. H/Capt. Uriah Laite, attached to “D” Company,
Winnipeg Grenadiers, found himself on 19 December giving first aid
to a severely wounded man within an hour of joining the company.
By 21 December Laite had been placed in charge of all the wounded,
no medical officer being available at that time.3!

Hospitals on Hong Kong Island

The work of the Island hospitals continued without serious interfer-
ence until the Japanese completed their invasion of the New Territories
and Kowloon by occupying Kowloon in mid-December. After that
date, supplies of anesthetic gases, water,32 and electricity were cut off,3
and some of the hospitals came under enemy artillery fire.

Bowen Road Military Hospital

Bowen Road Hospital, a large building occupying a conspicuous place
high on a hillside overlooking Kowloon, could scarcely have expected
to be spared, and it was not. Shell fire and bombs did much damage
and the upper two floors became unsafe for use. All surgery thereafter
was carried out in the basement operating theatres.3

Nor was shell fire the only hazard. On 19 December 1941, Col.
Shackleton, chief at Bowen Road, issued Hospital Order No. 298:
“Owing to danger from snipers, personnel will not proceed above the
ground floor of this hospital.”3> The uniform for the Volunteer Aid
Detachment nurses (VADs) consisted of white overalls and caps. The
women had no other clothes to wear because they had been unable to
return to their homes. White overalls were the worst colour to wear
when crawling about in air-raid shelters. Moreover, Bowen Road
Hospital was situated half-way up the Peak and could be seen by the
enemy through binoculars. The nurses feared that their white overalls
made them conspicuous.3¢ A full description of the work of Bowen
Road Hospital appears in a later chapter, as most of its existence was
as a POW hospital.

Queen Mary Hospital
This multistoried institution was located on the west side of Hong Kong
Island and was the main hospital caring for the European inhabitants of
the colony during peacetime. At one point during hostilities, more than
100 casualties were being admitted each day. Eventually, late in
December, the press of patients was so great that the upper-floor wards,
closed because of fear of injury from enemy fire, had to be reopened.?”

Happy Valley Racetrack Emergency Hospital
Barbara Redwood wrote at the end of November 1941: “Mum was on
duty at Jockey Club—they had real patients dragged out from hospi-



24 | Long Night's Journey into Day

tals—in this cold weather!”38 Training was thus as realistic as possible
for those assigned to this temporary hospital.

The matron at the Jockey Club emergency hospital in December 1941
was Miss Amy Williams. Her staff included three trained nurses plus 15
European and about 30 Chinese nursing assistants (ANSs). The patients
were largely Chinese women and children, with a handful of Indian
soldiers.

Mrs. Redwood has left a detailed account of these dangerous
times. The nursing staff were billeted in a Chinese hotel not far from
the racetrack; the nurses, mostly quite young women or girls, were
told to book themselves for a bed and meals. But many of them lived
nearby and they decided that it was as easy to get home and have the
comfort of a hot bath, sparing themselves the annoyance of queuing
for it. “We still intended to have a comfortable war.”3°

One day, Japanese cavalry were seen on the racetrack. Alert
troops let loose a rain of machine gun fire, only to discover too late that
the “cavalry” were riderless racehorses that had broken out of the
stables. The chief asset of the Jockey Club had met with a gruesome
end. One horrified officer described the sight: “Blood on their silky
coats, streaks of blood in their wide staring eyes, heads high in panic,
they ran a futile race with death.”40 Dead animals littered the course
and the surrounding streets. The effect over the next few days must
have been grossly unpleasant, though the locals almost certainly
would have butchered the carcasses for their own use.

As fighting raged on, many of the volunteer nurses set up camp
beds in the betting booths. Artillery shells were landing all around the
area. The doctor in charge at Happy Valley did not think that the
Japanese would deliberately shell a hospital. They were, he main-
tained, fighting a “Gentlemen’s War.” He claimed that they were
shelling the guns on the hills behind. That was obvious, but the hospi-
tal itself had been hit more than once, the operating theatre wrecked.

Maybe it was bad marksmanship, but we had no Red Cross flag to
denote that we were a hospital, and after all the Japs were aware of the
military post next door....The doctor suggested that they make and dis-
play a flag without delay. Two of the nurses created one from a sheet and
strips of red blanket. It proved difficult to get it hung, given the amount
of shooting in the neighbourhood. At last a couple of the men, braver
than the rest, managed to attach it to some posts that usually bore the
names of the horses and jockeys in each race.!

Sanitation presented a major problem. The flush toilets had
stopped functioning, and there was no water even to clean the bed-
pans. Two large reserve tanks were inexplicably locked. Since wash-
ing wasn'’t possible, one of the nurses produced a large bottle of eau-
de-cologne: “we each had a drop or two...to freshen our faces.”42 The
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perfume would have been helpful for another reason. The corpses in
the garage were beginning to make their presence felt.#3 All this was
on 24 December 1941.

The morning of the next day, that grotesquely memorable
Christmas, some of the staff stood chatting outside when a nurse
noticed a group approaching. A man seemed to be leading Japanese
soldiers on a rope. However, a second look showed that the man on
the rope had his hands tied. The Japanese used him as a hostage or as
a human bomb detector. He was a well-known elderly Anglo-Indian
doctor.+

Suddenly the Japanese soldiers were in their midst. The soldiers
looked at them with “toothy grins. A more repulsive mob one could
not imagine. Dirty and unkempt and unshaven for days by the looks
of them. But I suppose their condition was excusable as they had been
fighting heavily for days.”45 There were several such visitations during
the morning of Christmas Day, but without any untoward happenings.
Then one of the staff ran up to tell the matron that soldiers had taken
some of the young Chinese girls away, members of the St John's
Ambulance: “they must have hidden somewhere and the Japs had
found them. Soon they came from upstairs crying their hearts out.
They had been badly used. We comforted them as best we could, they
were not more than about 15 years old.”46

That night the situation deteriorated. The first inkling the worried
women had of what lay ahead for some of them came when a flash-
light lit up their room:

[Olur place was pushed open. There stood a group of Japanese soldiers.
The one who held the torch (which had a beam like a car headlight)
flashed around, showing us all huddled beneath our blankets. They
advanced. “Get up all” one commanded. We in the beds all scrambled out.
Rather undignified we must have looked, as climbing out of a camp bed
by the end, could not be done with dignity....They scrutinized each one in
turn, almost blinding us as they shone the torch in our faces one by one.
It was a terrible ordeal, as we did not know what was to happen, and
when they selected about four, we feared the worst. As they selected each
one the spokesman said “Go Jap. No come kill all.” Then turning to the
rest he said “Sleep,” and we again climbed to our beds. They went away,
taking the girls with them....I could not say how long it was before we
heard running light footsteps, and one of the girls rushed in sobbing. Very
soon the others followed, and almost before we could get them quieted,
the torch reappeared...they looked under the table, and found those who
had taken refuge there. They made them come out and ordered some of
them to go with them. The same threat, “No come kill all.”4

The unfortunate women returned, one by one, terrified, dishev-
elled, some of them badly injured. Then the flashlight shone again
and more unhappy victims were hauled away. The ordeal continued.
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Mrs. Redwood was one of the more elderly women in the group and,
happily for her, failed the flashlight test. All the nurses were in uni-
form. During Christmas Day most of the Chinese staff had slipped
away. Eventually, a total of six Europeans, as well as at least six
Chinese women, were raped.48

One woman escaped during the night. She fled to Bowen Road
Hospital, where she told the senior medical officer what had hap-
pened. He asked the Japanese for the immediate evacuation of the
nurses. About noon on the 26 December, a Japanese soldier once again
entered the area. He began to drag a woman away with him; then a
Japanese officer appeared at the end of the room. The soldier left hur-
riedly. This grim period finally was over.# The nurses were evacuated
to Queen Mary Hospital.50

According to one report, a full-scale massacre was prevented by
Dr. J.A. Selby, who opened the liquor stores to the Japanese troops,
many of whom drank themselves into a stupor.5! The strategy appar-
ently succeeded in this instance, though in general its wisdom might
be debated. Drunkenness usually fuelled savagery.

Hong Kong Hotel

This hotel on the Island, long since demolished, was a leading estab-
lishment before the war. Like many other large and centrally located
buildings, the Hong Kong Hotel was designated as an emergency hos-
pital, and soon after the war began was used largely for the care of
lightly wounded soldiers.

Two days before the surrender, Barbara Redwood heard that an
old boyfriend had been wounded and was at the hotel. He phoned her
and said he was convalescing on the first floor. “I careered down to the
hotel, plus 6 packets of cigarettes from Mrs. Boulton, and found Sid
lying on a ‘biscuit’ on floor with hundreds of others. He looked a bit
wild and woolly.”52

Unfortunately, other than these few words, no participant in the
medical activities that took place at the Hong Kong Hotel seems to
have left a record.

St. Albert’s Convent

The story of the temporary hospital in St. Albert’'s Convent during
December 1941 began on 12 December when four nursing Sisters,
including Sister D. Van Wart, 40 VADs, and several voluntary trained
staff, were sent to open a relief hospital in this large Spanish institu-
tion. Initially, most of their patients had malaria as there was an epi-
demic at the time.>

One day the Chinese house where the nurses lived took a direct
hit on the dining room just at lunch time. Fortunately, the cooking
stove was temperamental and lunch was late, or many of the nurses
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would have been injured or killed. The acting matron was seriously
wounded, and one Sister killed as they went out to rescue a pet dog.
The dead woman had just become engaged to a young officer. When
he heard of her death he unnecessarily and deliberately exposed him-
self to enemy fire and was killed. After the war his remains were iden-
tified by his fiancée’s hospital badge that she had given him as a keep-
sake.>* St. Albert’s itself was bombed 19 times, but fortunately only one
patient was killed.55

Muriel McCaw, then in her early twenties, was one of many
young women who joined the nursing section of the HKVDC before
the war. Their training was minimal: evening classes in first aid and in
home nursing, plus an annual one-week course at Bowen Road
Hospital, where they did little nursing; rather, they observed the rou-
tine of the hospital and, “of course, we were ogled by the Military
patients which was rather unnerving.” When war began, Miss McCaw
was also assigned to St. Albert’s Convent. Among their early patients
were a few Canadians with malaria and several with wounds. There
was also a Japanese prisoner / patient:

Our Drs. did what they could for this Japanese soldier but he had a very
serious buttock wound and it was thought he did not have long to live.
I was told the Drs. were merciful and gave him a shot of their precious
supplies of morphine much to the disgust of some on the staff. A friend
of mine, Betty and I were on night duty and...we spent the small hours
of the night in the little room off our ward watching the face of the
enemy. He looked like a porcelain doll with close cropped hair and long
spiky eyelashes. The smell of gangrene was so strong we had to douse
our handkerchieves [sic] with disinfectant. Towards dawn he became
very restless and plucked continuously at his waist. We noticed he had
a cloth round his body and discovered it was a Japanese flag. So we
respected his wishes to leave it when he pushed our hands away.56

Their patient died soon afterwards. The hospital was captured on
23 December. Their hands tied behind their backs with wire, the
matron and the commanding officer were dragged outside and a
machine gun trained on them. The nurses and up-patients were herd-
ed into a room and a Japanese soldier, “camouflaged with small
branches sticking out of his helmet like a Christmas tree,” guarded
them. After a long time one patient fainted and finally the captives
were allowed to sit. “I remember thinking, Fancy ending my life like
this, and kept praying that I would be shot outright.”5”

There was much ominous threatening, but this suddenly dissi-
pated when the troops discovered that their dead comrade had been
decently cared for. There were no atrocities at St. Albert’s.

After the surrender of Hong Kong the Japanese wouldn’t allow
the medical orderlies captured at St. Albert’s to search for their wound-



28 | Long Night's Journey into Day

ed comrades on the hillside behind the hospital. The staff knew that
they could have saved more lives if they had been allowed to look for
casualties. “One was reminded that the bodies were there by the vul-
tures circling above the skyline.”58

The Japanese interfered only occasionally with the running of the
hospital. All POWs, medical or not, had to bow to all Japanese officers;
otherwise they were liable to be beaten up. The wounded Indians and
personnel from the Naval Hospital were brought to St. Albert’s, which
made conditions crowded. As the patients recovered they were given
new clothes and two army blankets from the hospital stores and sent
off to the mens’ camp in Kowloon.5

Dr. K.-H. Uttley arrived at Stanley Camp 23 January 1942. The
Japanese sent him and three colleagues to St. Albert’s Hospital, where
they told the colonel in charge that they had been told to take what
drugs they needed. “The poor chap was nearly distracted. His hospi-
tal was full of British and Indians (I think about 400 patients) and he
had heard nothing about this arrangement.”6 This was not surpris-
ing; the Japanese were not good at communication and informing the
hospital beforehand was the sort of thing that happened only rarely.
This was the first that the military medical officers had heard that
they had to go to Sham Shui Po. The Japanese had told Uttley that the
move was to take place but it had not occurred to them to inform the
St. Albert’s Hospital staff. They were moved a few days later, without
any stores.%!

Nethersole Hospital

Founded in 1886 as the Alice Memorial Hospital, this institution
moved to newly constructed quarters in Bonham Road in 1893. At the
same time, the hospital was renamed the Nethersole Hospital. The
London Missionary Society sponsored and staffed the hospital, with
generous financial contributions by Dr. Ho Kai, whose English wife,
Alice, had been memorialized in the first building.62

Little information seems to have been preserved of the work done
in December 1941 at Nethersole Hospital. The sole record discovered
to date is by an anesthetist there, Dr. Annie Sydenham. However, her
wartime station was the Casualty Clearing Station at War Memorial
Hospital.

War Memorial Casualty Clearing Station

On 8 December, the staff of the Nethersole Hospital had to take up
their wartime duties. Dr. Sydenham’s were not in her own hospital but
as an anesthetist at the War Memorial Casualty Clearing Station on
The Peak.63 As well as civilian patients they had British, Canadian, and
Indian military casualties. The second anesthetist, a Chinese doctor,
left. Then a Canadian medical unit was billeted in the hospital. “We
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benefited from the assistance of a Canadian Doctor as the second anes-
thetist in place of the Chinese Doctor, as he knew his own men and
was able to give them confidence and cheer.”¢* Within a few days both
the water supply and the electrical system ceased to function.
However, engineers from a scuttled ship produced electricity for the
operating room from a small dynamo. The staff used basins of water
over and over again in the operating room; the only sterilizing avail-
able was achieved by wringing out towels in disinfectant and using
them wet on wounds.6>

After Hong Kong surrendered, Dr. Sydenham continued to work
at War Memorial until 30 December 1941. They were visited by the
Japanese but were allowed to carry on treating their patients. No new
patients came in after the surrender, and “one can only guess what
happened to those wounded and left on the hillsides.” Nearly all those
left in the hospital at the end of 1941 were soldiers, and as there were
three male doctors to care for them, Dr. Sydenham decided to return to
Nethersole Hospital, which was full of Chinese civilian casualties. She
walked back down The Peak.66

Tung Wah Hospital

This institution was erected by the wealthier Chinese in Hong Kong
and was opened in 1872 in Po Yan Street.®” Again, as with several
other hospitals, no record seems to exist of its activities during the
fighting in December 1941. The hospital continues to serve Hong Kong
to this day.

Other Locations

All registered medical practitioners, plus otherwise unassigned med-
ical officers, were assigned to duty either in a first-aid post or a hospi-
tal in time of emergency. When war broke out on 8 December these
individuals, or most of them, went to their posts. For example, one
man’s home was situated opposite the university, so he was appoint-
ed to the nearest first-aid post, which was at the St. Louis Institute on
Pokfulam Road. On the second floor there was an operating theatre
where accident patients were seen, bullets extracted, wounds dressed,
and first aid assistance provided. Medical residents, nurses, and
Sisters were all mobilized and were on rotating duty day or night.
Because all first-aid posts were run in essence as out-patient clinics, all
patients who required hospitalization were sent on to the Queen Mary
Hospital.o8

Atrocities

Though previous atrocities such as the Rape of Nanking were widely
known, nevertheless, the men and women of Hong Kong would have
been shaken had they understood the nonchalant attitude of the
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invading IJA troops towards what the rest of the world termed “atroc-
ities.” One Japanese soldier, Tominaga Shozo, recalled his time in
China in a recent interview: “Most of us thought then that murdering,
raping, and setting fire to villages were unavoidable acts in war, noth-
ing particularly wrong.”

Even the text designed to guide a Japanese soldier’s actions could
be interpreted to excuse, if not condone, violence towards prisoners, at
least in the heat of battle. The relevant passage reads, in translation:
“When within the surroundings of the battlefield, one is apt to be
absorbed by what is immediately before one’s eyes and stray from
principles and occasionally these acts may be contrary to one’s duty as
a soldier. Much discretion is needed.”70

Despite the civilized treatment experienced by Dr. Newton and
his party in Kowloon, there were many shocking atrocities committed
by Japanese troops during and after the attack on Hong Kong. A num-
ber of these centred on wounded Canadian, British, Hong Kong, or
Indian soldiers and on their medical attendants.

In many cases uniforms or other signs of medical responsibilities
were ignored by the Japanese. L/Cpl. Williamson, Winnipeg
Grenadiers, stated in a deposition that he was marched to North Point
Camp on 22 December 1941. His party passed through the outskirts of
Victoria, where he saw eight or nine decapitated St. John’s Ambulance
personnel.” Some of these bodies were still in a kneeling position with
hands tied behind their backs. They were dressed in the St. John’s uni-
form and the St. John's hats were lying on the ground.””! Almost cer-
tainly, these men would have been Chinese or Portuguese.

The incidents of brutality against prisoners at the time of capture
by the Japanese may have many explanations. Amongst these are
drunkenness, so-called battle lust or blood lust, perception of continu-
ing resistance from within a group purportedly surrendering, confu-
sion because of propinquity of combatant and non-combatant forma-
tions, apparently official orders to kill prisoners, and implicit or
explicit sanction to celebrate victory and expiate the death of friends
by means of theft, brutality, rape, and murder. All of these excuses
were put forward at Hong Kong at the time of the events, and also at
war crimes trials held after the war and in more recent writings.

Three atrocities of particular seriousness took place on Hong
Kong Island on 19 and on 25 December 1941. One was the murder of
Royal Army Medical Corps and other personnel near the Salesian
Mission at Shau Kei Wan, early on the morning of 19 December 1941.
The second were the bloody episodes of murder and rape at the tem-
porary hospital in St. Stephen’s College on 25 December 1941.72 And
the third was the previously discussed rampage of rape committed
against nurses at the Happy Valley Racetrack emergency hospital on
25-26 December.
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Shau Kei Wan

In October 1941, the Salesian Mission, located in the district of Shau
Kei Wan in the northeast section of Hong Kong Island, was the recent-
ly designated site of the Army Medical Store. Its stores included a
year’s supply of medical equipment and stores of all kinds for two mil-
itary hospitals, plus full equipment to stock Regimental Aid Posts,
Advanced Dressing Stations, and Advanced Surgical Centres.”

Figure 2.5. Salesian Mission near Shau Kei Wan, Hong Kong, September 1945; scene of
Japanese atrocities, 19-20 December 1941. (Photographer J. Hawes; National Archives of
Canada, National Photographic Collection, PA116804.)

By 14 December, Allied forces had concentrated on Hong Kong
Island. Thus, on the night of 18-19 December, the Japanese landed
across the Lei Mun Straits onto the northeast sector of the Island. A
short distance from North Point is the district known as Shau Kei Wan.
There, the 5/7 Rajputs along the north shore of the Island and the
Royal Rifles of Canada on the eastern shore opposed the attackers,
consisting of two battalions of the 229th Regiment, the Tanaka Butai,
under command of Col. Tanaka Ryosaburo.”# The 228th and 230th
Regiments landed at the same time, but somewhat further west along
the north shore.”

The staff of the Medical Store at Shau Kei Wan comprised 12
RAMC personnel.”s In addition, a Medical Collecting Post (Military)
was located there under the command of Capt. S. Martin Banfill,
RCAMC, with 2nd/Lt. Osler Lister Thomas, HKVDC, a most memo-
rably named medical student, second in command; the other members
were Rfmn. Raymond J. Oakley and L/Cpl. Argyll C. Harrison, RRC,
and Driver Kelly, RASC. Civilians attached were Mrs. Tinson, a captain
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in the St. John’s Ambulance Brigade; ANS nurses Lois Fearon and
Mary Suffiad, and six St. John’s Ambulance nurses (one European, one
Indian, four Chinese); Dr. Orloff, a Russian doctor; Dr. Tsang Fook Chor
and Dr. Chau, Chinese physicians; and eight Chinese stretcher-bearers
of the St. John’s Ambulance Brigade.”” Total personnel were thus about
40.

Figure 2.6. Dr. S. Martin Banfill, 1946 or
1947.

Early on 19 December, unaware that the enemy had landed, three
men left the Mission in an ambulance to take two wounded British
officers of the Rajputs to hospital. They had gone only a few yards
when they were firedon by machine guns. The driver and Oakley, who
was wounded in the thigh, leapt out. Lt. Thomas backed the vehicle
up to the Mission and gave the warning.”

At about 7:50 am” on 19 December 1941, a chilly, drizzling day,
Japanese troops entered the Salesian Mission and captured all Allied
personnel there. No shots were fired by anyone in the Mission, nor
was resistance offered. The Mission building was flying a Red Cross
flag and all equipment, such as stretchers, were plainly marked with
large red crosses.® Dr. Banfill believes the flag may have been shot
down and therefore not visible when the Japanese arrived; there had
been much shelling and bombing in the days preceding the 19th.81

Somewhat surprisingly, given other events that would occur in
Hong Kong over the next week, the women were all released
unharmed.82 A Japanese medical officer and two men accompanied the
women’s party away from the Mission and then released them after
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about a two-hour delay. Mrs. Tinson wrote out some of the details in a
letter in 1946:

Dr. Tsang [Chinese] was taken into the Fort and made to give injections
to about 100 Japanese wounded, after this he was set free, and I and my
girls were also told that we could go. I managed to get the girls to safety
in a Chinese house, and after some trouble...Miss Fearon and I found
refuge with a Chinese Priest and two Chinese nuns, who sheltered us un-
til January 2nd, 1942, when we were rescued by British Red Cross men.83

The fate of the men was tragically different. They were ordered to
remove boots or shoes and tunics. Pte. Oakley, who had been shot in
the thigh and was unable to walk, was presumably bayoneted by the
Japanese.8 The RAMC personnel had Red Cross identification cards
but the Japanese trampled these into the ground; neither Capt. Banfill
nor the Royal Rifles men had these cards and none of the men had Red
Cross armbands because they had been unable to obtain them. The
civilian doctors had no markings of any kind; all St. John’s Ambulance
personnel wore a distinctive uniform with Red Cross badges on the
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Figure 2.7. Drawing of Salesian Mission and area, based on a sketch made by Norman
Leath for the author in 1988. Key: 1: main Island road, here running roughly north-
south, north on right; 2: outbuildings and playing fields; 3: entrance to main building; 4:
smaller building, in 1941 occupied by the Salesian fathers; 5: main Mission building
occupied by Army Medical Store; the Collecting Post (Military) commanded by
Capt. Banfill was located in the basement; 6: forecourt where Allied staff was assembled
by the Japanese; 7: typhoon nullah up which the men were marched and, shortly, exe-
cuted except for three who were wounded but escaped, and also excepting Capt. Banfill,
who was spared. (Reproduced by permission from C.G. Roland, “Massacre and Rape at
Hong Kong: Two Case Studies Involving Medical Personnel and Patients,” Journal of
Contemporary History 32: 43-61, 1997)

After having had some of their valuables confiscated, they were
marched away from the Mission and into the hills behind.8 Here the
women were sent away. They saw the bodies of the two wounded offi-
cers who had been in the ambulance.
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At a small clearing the captives were halted facing a nullah, or
drainage ditch. Capt. Banfill was moved away from the men and tied,
his arms behind his back and a loop of rope around the neck.8” The
Japanese soldiers began to bayonet their prisoners. The bodies were
kicked into the nullah. Then, as a survivor noted later, “panic must
have broken loose as a number of those on the lower end of the line
broke and ran and these were shot.”8 The party of women was still in
sight and observed these killings.8° The Japanese attempted to behead
some of their prisoners with swords.

One of the latter group was Cpl. Norman Leath, miraculously a
survivor, who reported feeling a terrific blow on the back of his neck.
Feigning death, he was later able to wriggle away and roll into the nul-
lah where he saw the bloody bodies of some of his colleagues. Further
away, he came across Lt. Thomas, who had managed to jump into the
nullah and hide, partially covered by the bodies of the dead and
dying.?® Both men survived.

Eight days later, after many hardships, Leath managed to make
his own way to North Point POW Camp, where he gave himself up.
He received some treatment, then was taken to Queen Mary Hospital
where there were more adequate facilities. However, his condition was
so serious that, given the press of other casualties, he was left in a bed
“apparently to die in due course.”?! Then, on 3 January 1942, an
RAMC corporal found him there and took him to Bowen Road
Military Hospital.9 Finally, 18 days after his potentially fatal wound,
Leath received definitive treatment. Maj. James Anderson, RAMC,
operated on him on 6 January 1942. Leath recalled being told that the
wound was infested by maggots which had prevented the wound
from becoming seriously infected.”

On recovery, Leath worked as chief clerk at the hospitals at Bowen
Road. Remarkably, apart from some considerable stiffness in his neck,
which he noted was also “a little sore,” he did not feel any major effect
from his injuries.® He continued vigorous and healthy until not long
before his death in 1999. Half a century after the event, the scar on his
neck remained impressive.

Second Lt. Osler Thomas, a member of the HKVDC Field
Ambulance, was a medical student in 1941. Somehow, in the melee once
the slaughter began, Thomas managed to fall untouched into the nullah.
The bodies of two other victims fell on him and protected him from “the
orgy of shooting and bayoneting that followed.”% He escaped to main-
land China where he worked with the British Army Aid Group (BAAG),
supporting escapes from the Japanese and conducting a significant
Intelligence activity throughout the war.% Thomas completed his edu-
cation after the war. He now practises medicine in Australia.

A third survivor of execution was Ah Tim, a Chinese member of
the St. John’s Ambulance group which, separated from the Banfill-



The Eighteen-Day War: 8-25 December 1941 | 35

Thomas-Leath group, were also executed. About to be shot, he ran,
rolled down a hill, and was left for dead.%”

While these grisly and barbaric murders took place, Capt. Banfill
was made to lie down and told that he would experience the same fate
as his men, but only after he had been interrogated.” He heard the
sounds of Japanese conversation and laughter mingled with blows
and shots and with the cries and screams of dying men; even though a
Japanese had a foot on his face, Banfill had a clear view of the mas-
sacre. Then he was forced to his feet and marched away from the
scene. Some days later, with at least encouragement and perhaps direct
aid from a Japanese officer or interpreter named Honda, he was sent
off to a prison camp, uninjured except for the appalling mental strain.
By late February he rejoined the remnants of his regiment in North
Point POW Camp. He had been given up for dead and his “death” was
reported officially. In a grim twist of fate his wife, in Quebec, was
so distraught at hearing of his supposed death that she took her own
life %

These actions by members of the 229th Regiment were not only
brutal but blatantly illegal. Although Japan never ratified the 1929
Geneva Convention on Prisoners of War,190 the murder of surrendered
military personnel was a practice officially abandoned by all civilized
countries by the twentieth century and interdicted formally by the
Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907, and by the Geneva Convention
of 1929 Relative to Sick and Wounded in the field; all of these
Conventions Japan had formally ratified.19! Moreover, the protection
due to medical personnel was laid down explicitly in the Hague
Convention of 1907.

Although the 229th Regiment had made a night landing and was
in combat on 19 December, there had been no fighting at the Salesian
Mission, staffed entirely by Protected Personnel and nurses. No justi-
fication of “the heat of battle” or of “revenge for hostile actions” could
be sustained in behalf of the Japanese troops.

The commanding officer of the 229th Regiment, or Tanaka Butai,
was Tanaka Ryusaburo, a colonel in 1941. At his trial six years later,
Tanaka claimed to have issued “caution addresses” to his men through
the regimental officers. The gist of the purported caution was:

No unnecessary killings and ill treatment should be allowed. The pur-
pose of an operation is to break down the fighting streng an enemy and
as a surrendered personnel or a sick or wounded enemy is not a fighting
strength, unnecessary killing and ill treatment should not be allowed. If
such treatment is allowed it is not only inhumane, but it is a crime.102

Such testimony might seem predictable from someone on trial for
his life. One can only conclude that Tanaka lied about giving such cau-
tions, or his cautions were not transmitted by his officers, or the
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Tanaka Butai was grossly insubordinate and undisciplined. The
English-speaking officer who took charge of Dr. Banfill after the
remainder of the men had been killed, told Banfill, “Order is, all cap-
tives must die.”103

Tanaka was found guilty and sentenced to 20 years” hard labour,
but on the charges specifically related to the incident described at Shau
Kei Wan, he was adjudged not guilty. No men of his battalion were
brought to trial in connection with these murders.

St. Stephen’s College

In the second major atrocity involving medical personnel, the
antecedents are more equivocal. These barbarous murders and rapes
were perpetrated at St. Stephen’s College on 25 December. This insti-
tution is located on pleasant grassy slopes just above the neck of land
that connects the main portion of Hong Kong Island to the Stanley
Peninsula on the southeastern side. Supplies and equipment appro-
priate to permit the establishment of a 400-bed emergency military
hospital were moved to St. Stephens just before the fighting began.104

Figure 2.8. St. Stephen’s College, Hong Kong, September 1945. (Photographer Jack Howes;
National Archives of Canada, National Photographic Collection, PA. 145352.)

The main building of St. Stephen’s College was being used as an
emergency hospital. In the hall on Christmas morning were about 65
patients, with at least 40 more in the adjoining classrooms. The medical
staff comprised Lt.-Col. G.D.R. Black (HKVDC), Capt. PN. Whitney
(RAMC), two Nursing Sisters from Bowen Road Military Hospital
(Miss A.F. Gordon and Miss Elizabeth A. Fidoe), six VADs (in-
cluding Miss Andrews-Levinge, Mrs. A. Buxton, Mrs. E.M. Begg, and
Mrs. W.J.L. Smith), five Chinese nurses of St. John’s Ambulance, and a
number of hospital orderlies.

At 5:30 a.m. on Christmas morning, while the fighting was still
continuing along the adjacent ridge, about 150 to 200 Japanese broke
into the hospital. Col. Black went forward and endeavoured to stop
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them. He was shot through the head and bayoneted “dozens of times”
as he lay on the ground. The Japanese troops then began attacking the
bed patients, driving their bayonets through bodies and mattresses.

One can visualize the mental state of these men, one of whom
subsequently recorded, “I clearly saw the intention of the Japanese
troops who had reached the hospital and had already commenced
bayoneting every bed they encountered.”105 This man and his wife, a
nurse, got under the bed and escaped injury, though a Japanese private
bayoneted the empty bed several times. The massacre continued until
more than 50 of the patients in the hall, which had only a single
entrance, had been stabbed to death. The others concealed themselves
under beds and in dark corners.106

All the women were wearing nurses’ uniforms and Red Cross
armbands. Nevertheless, their treatment was atrocious. They were
confined first in a small upstairs room in the College. The Chinese
nurses were raped repeatedly by Japanese soldiers, then taken away
and were not seen again. Three of the British nurses were also taken
away at intervals, and their mutilated bodies were found next day. The
other four were raped again and again throughout the morning and
afternoon, but survived.1” In the evening a Japanese officer told them
that they were lucky that Hong Kong had surrendered; in another
hour they also would have been dead.1 Several of the women had
been sexually mutilated during or after the rapes took place.l? The
dead British nurses were Mrs. A. Buxton, Mrs. EM. Begg (wife of then
Sgt. Maj. Stewart Duncan Begg), and Mrs. W.J.L. Smith, all members
of the Nursing Detachment of the HKVDC.110 The names of the
Chinese nurses seem to be unrecorded. Here is one woman’s post-war
testimony:

We were left in peace for a short time only—three soldiers came in and
took me to a small adjacent bathroom, knocked me down and all raped
me, one after the other, and then let me return. Mrs. Fidoe was then
taken and underwent a similar experience. Both Mrs. Fidoe and I were
taken out a second time and raped as before.!11

Word of these atrocities had somehow been conveyed to the
newly captured Allied POWs elsewhere on the island. Officers among
them immediately reported the outrage to the Japanese Headquarters,
which “allowed us to send a truck to get the [surviving] nurses to the
main hospital for treatment.”112

While the rape and murder of the women was underway, the cap-
tured men were being killed systematically. Crowded together into
small rooms, one or two of their number would be selected arbitrarily
and forced to leave the room. After the door was locked again the
remaining prisoners would hear screams and shouts followed by
shots; then silence until the next selection in half an hour or an hour.
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When the slaughter ended, survivors were put to work cleaning
up after the massacre. On the 26th prisoners had to carry bodies,
blood-stained mattresses, clothing, and other debris outside. There
an enormous fire consumed some of the gory evidence. At this time,
Sgt. Maj. Begg had the shock of seeing and identifying the naked and
mutilated bodies of his wife and two other nurses.3

Later, just after the surrender, an Allied officer asked an IJA
colonel if it was the practice of the Imperial Japanese Army to rape
hospital nurses and shoot and bayonet the wounded in their beds, as
had happened at Stanley. The colonel replied that, if this allegation
were true, the culprits would be found and shot in accordance with
Japanese military law. Apparently, some such sentence was carried out
a few days later. One survivor recorded that the Japanese “took some
of our officers to witness the shooting of 14 Jap soldiers for going in the
hospital and doing the killing.”114

Nevertheless, the Japanese claimed that the shooting of the
wounded at Stanley was justified because firing had come from the
school which was being used as a hospital and armed men were found
inside; “they could not know who were wounded men or who were
shamming and waiting to shoot any Japanese who approached.”115

In statements prepared in July 1942, two eyewitnesses to these
events recorded some details that may explain, though not con-
done, the violence that occurred. The statements were made by
Sgts. H. Peasegood and J.H. Anderson, RAMC.

First, Peasegood noted that a machine gun post had been sited
about 100 yards from the hospital; later, several additional machine
gun posts were placed even nearer to the hospital. On the night of
24 December machine guns began firing from the College hospital
verandah and continued to do so throughout the night.l16 Sgt.
Anderson provided further information about this obviously improp-
er placement of machine guns in immediate proximity to a hospital:

Towards midnight on 24 December machine gun and mortar fire
increased and numerous machine gun posts were set up in the grounds
of the hospital. Later on these posts actually used bales of hospital blan-
kets and mattresses from the linen stores to build machine gun nests
within six yards of the entrance to the hospital reception hall. Guns were
also set up on the rising ground behind the cookhouse and another with-
in arm’s reach of the flagpole carrying the red cross. The machine gun
outside Brigade HQ actually had to fire over the top of a large St. George
Cross flag (the only other red cross available) which had been hoisted
over the end of the tennis courts.1”

Recognition that there was some provocation because of the com-
bining of combatant and hospital roles seems to have been widespread
among the POWs. For example, in 1945, Capt. John Reid, RCAMC, in
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an affidavit about war crimes observed in Hong Kong and Japan,
stressed that he had not been at St. Stephen’s but that it was his under-
standing that the Japanese attacking in the area had driven Allied
troops back to “or actually within the grounds of this hospital. The
British troops from these positions had taken a toll of the Japanese so
that when they were overcome the Japanese in full lust of battle con-
tinued on into the hospital and committed the above crimes.”118

Rfn. Randolph Steele, RRC, was not captured until 26 December.
He was near St. Stephen’s College with a small group of other
Canadians, afraid to surrender after finding some British soldiers tied
together with wire and bayoneted. One of these unfortunates had
lived long enough to tell the Canadians what had happened. Finally
they had to surrender, and were taken to the St. Stephen’s tennis court.
Lined up, they expected to be shot but a Japanese officer came along
and “he shouted to the gun crew and he slapped the Jap Sergeant’s
face and made them take the gun out of the court.”11? The officer found
water and food for them. “He also gave us a record player and about
50 opera records that didn’t do too much good for our nerves.”120 They
were put to work piling up bodies, which the Japanese soaked with
gasoline and burned. This grim task would not have helped their
nerves.

Nor was the disposal of bodies complete. A month later, St. Stephen’s
College was within the area set aside for Stanley Internment Camp.
Wenzell Brown was one of a group assigned to the St. Stephen’s science
laboratory. In the first room they found, face downward in a corner, the
body of a Canadian soldier; on the floor above, a dead Canadian and
an Indian shared one room. The internees could find no identification
on the men, but they prepared shallow graves for the decomposing
bodies and buried them as reverently as they could.!?! This burial had
to be carried out quickly for health reasons. The Japanese had carefully
cremated their own dead but not the British or their Allies. Soon, graves
dotted the camp grounds as more and more bodies were discovered. If
a body did not lie within the wire, the Japanese refused permission for
burial, and Brown relates a poignant account of a young woman who
watched daily with morbid despair while her brother’s body gradual-
ly disintegrated before her eyes, a few yards outside the barbed wire
enclosure.22

Nurses of the Hong Kong Volunteer Defence Corps

These women, chiefly Chinese and some Portuguese, were also sub-
jected to sexual outrages by the victorious Japanese. At least, that
seems a reasonable assumption. A member of the Volunteers, Arthur
Gomes, recalls seeing a group of these nurses being marched towards
a nearby public building when he and his comrades were in turn being
marched into Sham Shui Po Camp on the mainland, shortly after the
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capitulation. Screams and cries were heard repeatedly throughout that
night, and it seems plausible to infer that multiple rapes were com-
mitted.1?> Given the inbred reticence and modesty of women from
many eastern cultures, it is not surprising that this event has failed to
be documented. No record in English has been found.

To provide a context for what happened at St. Stephen’s, it must
be kept in mind that at least 10,000 girls and women in Hong Kong
were raped in the month following the Japanese victory. The number
may have been much higher, but modesty led to a reluctance to dis-
close at least the less violent and bloody instances and probably kept
many victims from identifying themselves or reporting their ill treat-
ment to authorities. The estimate of at least 10,000 was put forward by
a Chinese physician who was in active practice in Hong Kong during
1941 and 1942.12¢ In autumn, 1942, he and other practitioners were
dealing with the “deluge” of babies resulting from this orgy of rape.

Zia, also a civilian physician in Hong Kong, states that the rapes
were all committed during the first two weeks after the invasion.12>
This same writer cites several accounts of rape, including one of a
physician who killed a Japanese soldier in the act of raping his wife.126

The ubiquity of rape during wartime has been amply described.
Brownmiller has summarized at least some of the reasons, both imme-
diate and political:

When a victorious army rapes, the sheer intoxication of the triumph is
only part of the act. After the fact, the rape may be viewed as part of a
recognizable pattern of national terror and subjugation. I say “after the
fact” because the original impulse to rape does not need a sophisticated
political motivation beyond a general disregard for the bodily integrity
of women. But rape in warfare has a military effect as well as an
impulse. And the effect is indubitably one of intimidation and demoral-
ization for the victims’ side.12

Perhaps the most convincing accounts of the ubiquity and the
permissiveness connected with rape by the Japanese armed forces
come from statements published in the past 15 years by Japanese
participants in such events. Variously motivated by guilt and by a
perceived need to set the record straight, these former soldiers and
sailors have documented the banal nature of various acts of brutality,
including rape.128

The recollections of one man will demonstrate the tenor of these
recollections. Yomisu Omae served in China in the late 1930s. He wrote
of two instances of gang rape of Chinese women, attempting to indi-
cate what his state of mind might have been:

At another house, however, some soldiers kicked in a door to find a
married couple and their three children huddled together on a bed
under an old mosquito net. They had been unable to escape. Ripping the
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net away, we dragged the woman out and raped her—all of us.
Somewhere in the back of our minds we probably felt that this little extra
pleasure was totally deserved, since we were laying down our lives for
our country.1??

As well as Brownmiller, other observers also have described the
culture-destroying effects of rape, whether in China in the 1930s, in
Berlin in 1945, or in Bosnia-Herzegovina in the 1990s. Seifert refers to
evidence suggesting that rape has always been a part of warfare, and
that “the mass rapes that accompany all wars take on new meaning:
by no means acts of senseless brutality, they are rather culture-
destroying actions with a strategic rationale.”130 There is every reason
to believe that Japanese troops became accustomed to raping, owing
to the commonness of that crime throughout the war against the
Chinese. The outrage that became known collectively as the Rape of
Nanking is only the most widely known among many such occur-
rences during these years, most frequently at the individual level as
described by Omae.13! But Peking, Shanghai, Hankow, and Canton
suffered in similar ways.

In addition to these crimes against women, Japanese troops com-
mitted many other brutalities, frequently ending in physical injury and
in many cases death of the victim. Thus the events at Shau Kei Wan,
St. Stephen’s, and the emergency hospital at the Jockey Club are a
microcosm selected out of the violence that swept over Hong Kong
after the capitulation, and which had of course begun 10 days earlier
in Kowloon when that city was abandoned by the British troops.

There was no evidence of compassion towards wounded men
by the Japanese at Hong Kong. Incapacitated casualties were killed
routinely; their bodies, often tied hand and foot, were found all over
the island during and after the fighting. Though undoubtedly an exag-
geration in detail, one historian has claimed that there was only a sin-
gle case of the Japanese caring for a wounded British soldier. This
man had been raised in Japan and spoke fluent Japanese. But though
he was cared for, the Japanese refused his requests for aid to his
compatriots.132

Frequently, captured British, Indian, Canadian, and Hong Kong
soldiers were butchered. Some able-bodied men, often with hands
bound, or tied in groups of two or three, but not evidently otherwise
incapacitated, were bayoneted or shot. Their bodies were found by
Allied observers in the days immediately after the fighting ended.

On 19 December, several Canadian soldiers of “A” Company,
Winnipeg Grenadiers, were captured at Jardine’s Lookout. They were
bound together in groups, and one group of four ultimately was bay-
oneted to death. But the circumstances in at least this one incident
clearly exonerate the Japanese. Another member of the larger group of
36 or 37, L/Cpl. Charles Bradbury, attested in an affidavit after the
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war: “I personally saw Pte. Roy Land (end man in one of the bound
groups) remove a Grenade from his pocket, draw the pin, and throw
the Grenade toward where a group of seven (7) Japanese soldiers were
visible. The Grenade exploded killing at least four (4) Japanese sol-
diers.” Not surprisingly, the remaining captors immediately bayonet-
ed to death all four Grenadiers. No army in the world would have
behaved differently. The truly remarkable fact was that the remaining
32 POWs were not killed or mistreated, but instead were ultimately
marched off into imprisonment.133

Cpl. Les Canivet, a Canadian soldier, had a horrendous experi-
ence. He sustained a serious wound to his face and jaw just before
Christmas Day. Trying to escape, he and some companions swam
across Repulse Bay, several drowning in the attempt. On the other side
the survivors hid amongst some beach cottages but eventually they
were found by Japanese troops:

The four of us were led to a ravine and were tied together and shot. I got
shot in the shoulder and the hip and the right hand; the first shot hit me
in the shoulder and knocked me down. I sort of played dead. When I
came to, or when the Japanese had disappeared, and I felt it was safe to
sit up again, my buddies were dead, but I was still tied up and we were
still tied to one another.134

Soon after, he saw a Chinese man whom he knew, a houseboy to
a local family that had Canadian connections. Canivet was still tied;
for the privilege of stripping the other bodies, the Chinese man untied
him, taking as well Canivet’s ring and watch. After that, the Canadian
corporal wandered into the hills, wearing only his army underwear
and shoes, plus some shorts he had found in the shed.

Eventually he was picked up by a patrol and sent to Bowen Road
Hospital. There, doctors found his extensive facial wounds swarming
with maggots and free of infection. He was hospitalized for months
but eventually healed completely.

Where violence against captives did not occur, as at Bowen
Road Military Hospital, sheer good luck is a probable explanation.
Col. Bowie recalled that at the time of the surrender, the front line
was only about 400 yards away. Long columns of Japanese troops
were seen from the hospital. “I believe that it was the fact that we
were not overrun in battle that saved patients and staff from the
rape and murder which disfigured the campaign in Stanley, Happy
Valley and elsewhere.”135 Thus combatant troops never had a reason
to invade the hospital and no atrocities occurred.

At Hong Kong, the key to survival as a newly captured prisoner
apparently rested most substantially on two factors: whether or not
resistance of any kind was made after surrender (for example, strug-
gling to prevent the theft of valuables), and whether or not one was
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prevented from walking because of wounds or injuries. Resistance or
immobility almost guaranteed death. The Japanese captors would not
tolerate interference with their “right” to loot, and they made no
humanitarian allowances for the severely disabled. To these general-
izations, Shau Kei Wan seems to be the exception; the unfortunates
captured there had done nothing to bring on their fate. They seem to
have been doomed from the beginning. Why this was so remains a
mystery that has probably gone to the grave.

Much violence was still in store for those who survived to become
prisoners of war, but it was of a different kind, calculated to humiliate
the POW and exalt the Japanese or Korean guard. Rarely did this rou-
tine brutality escalate to murder.

Capitulation

At varying times from mid-December till the massive denouement on
Christmas Day, the troops had to surrender. None of them had been
trained in how to do so. And everything they had heard of the
Japanese sharply emphasized the potential risks when their turn came.
One Canadian rifleman recalled his sensations:

Lay down your arms? I couldn’t! It was all wrong. But the others were
actually doing it. “Pile them here!” My precious Lee-Enfield? My securi-
ty? My protector through all the mad chaotic events, my faithful friend,
the only thing I didn’t discard. Without it I was half a man, helpless.”
The others were laying theirs down, man after man. Slowly I followed
suit, overcome by a terrible, alien sensation of nakedness, of being total-
ly helpless, an act of ritual self-destruction.13

Another POW found it ironic that, perhaps to emphasize the
indignity, for the first few days the Japanese simply ignored those cap-
tured on Stanley Peninsula. They cordoned off the peninsula and
established a system of sea patrols. Then the POWs were left to their
own devices while the Japanese gathered and cremated their dead.
They dragged iron bed frames from houses in Stanley village and
improvised an open-air crematorium. For a day and a night the
macabre fires blazed. Japanese casualties at Stanley had run into thou-
sands. This single engagement, they told the prisoners later, cost them
more than any other part of the Hong Kong fighting.

As the flames died, special corpsmen moved down the line with steel
chopsticks picking a few fragments of bone and ash from each smolder-
ing pile. These were placed in small urns, and the urns in uniform white
boxes inscribed with the names of the victims. And soon the white boxes
would start on the long journey back to Japan....Only when all this was
finished and the mass memorial services for the Japanese dead had been
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held were we allowed to send out our own burial parties on a task that
by then had become a nameless horror.13”

Eventually, the Chinese civilian dead and the dead Allied service-
men could be collected and buried. The university football field on
Pokfulam Road was turned into a public cemetery.138

At Singapore, another Canadian, Maj. Benjamin Wheeler, a med-
ical officer in the Indian Medical Service, expressed the fears of many.
Singapore surrendered on 15 February 1942. At medical headquarters
they knew that when the Japanese had captured the main hospital,
they shot more than 200 patients and staff. As far as they knew only
one man survived. Added to this, Allied propaganda had stressed the
Japanese practice of taking no prisoners. Thus, “though it seemed
hardly likely they would slaughter a whole army, one could hardly feel
certain of a long life, when we watched General Percival go out to
make the final surrender.”13

Such fears were widespread. Nevertheless, this sort of general
slaughter did not occur at Hong Kong. Instead, the survivors of the
fighting were forced into an experience that would alter their lives for-
ever. They became prisoners of war. The following chapters attempt to
reconstruct what their lives were like for the many long years remain-
ing in the war.



Chapter 3
The Prisoner-of-War Camps

and Hospitals

The problem remained for every Japanese POW throughout the war.
How could you best behave and yet maintain some dignity?!

O n 25 December 1941, the Hong Kong garrison capitulated and
all surviving Allied troops became prisoners of war. The
remainder of this book will be devoted to telling what happened to
these unfortunate men. The main groups of prisoners were the sur-
vivors of the two British, two Indian, and two Canadian battalions,
and the Hong Kong Volunteer Defence Corps. There were also prison-
ers from the Royal Navy, the Royal Air Force, engineers, ordnance and
supply units plus, of course, the various medical detachments.

Several nursing sisters remained at Bowen Road Hospital for the
first half of 1942. Then they were removed from the hospital and sent
to the civilian internment camp on the Stanley Peninsula. They were
no less incarcerated there, but in general the Japanese treated in-
ternees somewhat less badly than they did POWs. Moreover, for the
Canadians, Nursing Sisters Kay Christie and May Waters, though
they had no way of knowing it in 1942, the following year would be
repatriated home.

For the men, those last days of 1941 and the first days of 1942 have
survived in memory as a confusing and intensely worrisome time of
frightening chaos. Frequently they have difficulty remembering the
events just after the capitulation. A Canadian lieutenant was “very
hazy about what happened after that. We sort of wandered around.
Told to go here, go there, do this, do that for the next couple of days. I

Notes to Chapter 3 are on pp. 335-40.
45
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don’t even remember where we ended up. I can’t remember whether
my first internment camp was Sham Shui Po, or whether it was North
Point,”2 though these camps were several miles apart, one on the
mainland and one on the Island.

The Imperial Japanese Army suddenly found itself with a
Christmas present of more than 8,000 prisoners to be accommodated
and fed. Even though the IJA officially declared that Japanese troops
should never be taken prisoner, they also knew that few other modern
nations—perhaps only the Soviet Union under Stalin—subscribed to
the same belief. Thus they would have known that when they went to
war there would be prisoners taken and, since they confidently expect-
ed to defeat their opponents, they must have made some plans for the
management of POWs. But the dominant motif of the early days after
the surrender on Christmas Day remains one of confused milling
about by the Japanese as well as by the POWs. Nevertheless, the
Japanese were in fact organizing the means of their prisoners’ future
existence.

There were many itineraries for captured Allied troops during
this time of great uncertainty. This state lasted for weeks while the
Japanese struggled to accommodate these thousands of POWs and to
decide what to do with large numbers of civilian foreign nationals. To
give some flavour to this confusion and the gradually evolving order,
here are brief summaries of the varied movements enforced on three
Canadian POWs late in December 1941 and early in January.

L/Cpl. Francis D.F. Martyn, Winnipeg Grenadiers, became a pris-
oner on Christmas Day. He was sent immediately to Mount Austin
Barracks on Hong Kong Island, where he arrived at about 7 pm; the
next day he was moved to Peak Mansions; then, on the 27th, about
noon, to the University of Hong Kong. Late the next morning, Martyn
was marched to Victoria Barracks, where he remained for two days.
All these sites are on Hong Kong Island. On 30 December he was
marched to the docks and ferried to Nanking Barracks at Sham Shui
Po Camp, in Kowloon, arriving about 4:30 pm; from there he later
became part of the large group of Canadian POWSs transferred to
North Point Camp, back on Hong Kong Island, on 23 January 1942.
Thereafter his movements paralleled the Canadians’ generally.3 But in
less than a month he saw six different sites of imprisonment. Martyn
ended up in Oeyama Camp, Japan, in January 1944, where he
remained until the war ended.

Cpl. Sydney Hiscox became a POW on the Island before the gen-
eral capitulation. He was captured after the Japanese invasion from the
mainland, on 19 or 20 December. After surviving the ordeal of the first
minutes and hours, when some of his comrades were killed (chiefly
the seriously wounded), Hiscox’s group of 30 to 40 was marched to
North Point, in use as a POW Camp at least by 20 December, the day
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Hiscox arrived. On 21 December they were taken to Argyle Street
Camp in Kowloon. Two weeks later they were moved to Sham Shui
Po, and late in January 1942, Hiscox, like Martyn, was among the large
body of Canadians sent to North Point Camp.4

Another Canadian, Samuel Kravinchuk, was in a group moved
from North Point on 21 December to Maryknoll School, in Kowloon.>
There they sought medical attention for the more than 40 members of
the group of 61 Canadians who had injuries. Ultimately the Japanese
gave the wounded first aid. Later that day, they were moved to Argyle
Street, near Maryknoll School, and subsequently followed the com-
mon path to Sham Shui Po, North Point, and ultimately back to Sham
Shui Po.

The surviving members of the Hong Kong Volunteer Defence
Corps had a somewhat less tumultuous time. Gathered together as the
war wound down, the men were first held in the Alhambra Theatre
opposite the Kowloon Magistracy Building. On Christmas Day the
Japanese moved them to their pre-war headquarters at Garden Road,
on the Island. There they occupied huts at St. John’s Place until 28 or
29 December. At that point they plodded to the Star Ferry, were trans-
ported back to Kowloon, and made the final humiliating march
through the streets to Sham Shui Po. There many of them were to wait
out the war.®

These itineraries, though unusual, were not unique. On the morn-
ing of 30 December the bulk of the Canadian prisoners were assem-
bled, removed from the Island, and marched through Kowloon to
Sham Shui Po Camp. The route was anything but direct. A Chinese
woman missionary saw the dispirited column that day and followed
the men for a long time, out of sympathy. They shambled along to
Argyle Street Camp, northeast of downtown Kowloon. After a brief
rest there they were then marched directly west to their ultimate goal,
Sham Shui Po. Those familiar with Hong Kong will know that this
route was a circuitous triangle. No one was left at Argyle Street nor
was anyone added.” But the dog-leg extended the journey by two
hours. Presumably the Japanese chose the route both to weaken and to
further humiliate their captives by displaying them in defeat to the
Chinese citizens of Hong Kong.

Sham Shui Po had been a large, permanent British army camp on
the edge of the harbour on the west side of Kowloon. The Canadians
knew this camp—it had been their living quarters after their arrival in
Hong Kong. Then, towards the end of January 1942, all Canadians
moved from Sham Shui Po to North Point Camp on Hong Kong
Island, where there were already substantial numbers of their coun-
trymen. At the same time, Indian POWs were consolidated at Ma Tau
Chung Camp in Kowloon near Argyle Street Camp, and Sham Shui Po
became the chief place of imprisonment for the British battalions and
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the HKVDC survivors. But consolidation remained incomplete for
months; as late as 18 April, 80 Canadians came into North Point Camp
from Sham Shui Po and Argyle Street.8

Relatively little information seems to have survived about the
experiences of these men in the first month of imprisonment. There is
no reason to suppose that they did not work, have entertainments,
encounter diseases, and suffer all the miseries of POW life. During the
short time that the men of the several different nationalities remained
intermixed, some antagonisms arose, often on racial rounds: “Several
truck loads of army stuff came in camp. The Indians nearly mobbed it.
Had to be driven off, a near riot between whites and Indians. Pickets
out all night patrolling between the lines.”® What is known about the
incarceration of Indian nationals, including the efforts of the Japanese
to persuade these men to join the Indian National Army and to fight
against the Allies, will be discussed later.

While this re-grouping began, there were many unresolved ques-
tions to be answered, the most distressing being the whereabouts and
condition of hundreds of missing men. When the fighting ended,
wounded and ill men were scattered all over Hong Kong, mainland
and Island, in various official and makeshift hospitals. Many more
were hidden away, languishing in culverts and huts, under bushes or
in nullahs. During and immediately after the fighting, such men were
usually executed on the spot by the Japanese.

After the capitulation, however, the Japanese in some areas per-
mitted their charges to search for survivors and bring them into camps
and hospitals. Three senior medical officers, Col. C.O. Shackleton,
RAMC; Col. Lindsay Ride, RAM; and Maj. John Crawford, RCAMC
were given passes permitting them to tour the battle sites and to col-
lect any wounded still surviving. Their findings make grim reading.

My commanding officer (I was second-in-command of the field ambu-
lance) was a man named Lindsay Ride who was later knighted, but at
that time was professor of physiology at the University of Hong Kong.
Lindsay knew the country like the back of his hand. He and I started off
(got a pass from some Japanese officer) and we tramped around the
island looking for casualties. We must have walked about 20 miles that
day. It was a long tiring day and a very traumatic one, because we found
masses of dead who had been butchered—hands tied and bayoneted
and so on—very rough.1

At the same time, the Japanese required hospitals for their own
casualties. The interrogation report of an escaped naval officer record-
ed that early in 1942, the Japanese cleared the Naval Hospital in which
he was a patient. “At 0900 hrs, a lorry load of naval ratings drove into
the yard, and these were quickly posted round the grounds and in the
building. An officer then read an order stating that the Japanese
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authorities required the hospital, and that it had to be evacuated by
1700 hrs that day.” The sickest patients went to Bowen Road and the
remainder to St. Albert’s Convent.!!

Meanwhile, conditions in Hong Kong itself began to deteriorate
badly. Despite what would seem to be an obvious vested interest in
keeping the city functioning as efficiently as possible, in fact Hong
Kong worked badly under Japanese rule. A civilian physician report-
ed that malignant malaria, cholera, and other diseases broke out quick-
ly. Hong Kong’s government anti-malarial squads stopped work, of
course, and “the scavenging coolies abandoned their rounds. Garbage
and filth, accumulated in heaps everywhere, bred an unprecedented
number of flies; and the thousands of decaying bodies scattered on the
hillsides were additional breeding grounds.”12

Japanese Camp Administration

On 20 February 1942, Lt.-Gen Isogai Rensuke arrived in Hong Kong to
assume the post of Governor of the Japanese colony of Hong Kong.13
Isogai replaced Sakai Takashi, commander of the 23rd Japanese Army
that had assaulted and captured Hong Kong. In 1945, Isogai was in
turn replaced by Gen. Tanaka Hisakichi.!4 The POW administration
was conducted out of a house on Forfar Road, quite near the sites of
the Argyle Street and Ma Tau Chung POW Camps.

A succession of Japanese officers functioned as camp comman-
dants. The first of these at Sham Shui Po was known to most of the
POWs only as “George,” though his name was Lt. Saikanu.!> One man
noted in April 1942 that he looked “slightly oiled.” He added a note
long after the war: “George’ was the name given to the then camp
Commandant. He was tall for a Jap, with a humorous grin (at times).
Like all Jap officers at work he looked terribly scruffy, with crinkled
clothes and a long sword dragging behind him. He used to advance
with a scuffling jingling sound. At times he ‘hit the bottle’ and the
result was amusing, a sight best observed from a distance.”16

By September 1942, “George” had been replaced by a Captain
Wada. He appeared to be “an inoffensive little fellow, not too bad
really. Always smiling and promising the sun, but nothing comes of
it.”17 Lewis Bush had a more flattering memory of Wada as a camp
commandant:

He seemed a good man....We had an excellent example of this in the
case of the discovery of a radio in the room occupied by a Dutch sub-
marine officer and some of his crew. It was quite obvious that the camp
informers had located this instrument through information supplied by
one of the Indonesian members of the submarine crew. Now, had Wada
reported this matter to the “kempei,” it is certain that the Dutch naval
lieutenant would have lost his head. It was settled with a beating, which
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seemed brutal at the time...but I am sure it was light compared to what
might have been if Wada had not been a decent man.18

A Canadian NCO seemed to concur. In January 1943 Wada
returned from Japan and was in charge of the camp: “There should be
less slapping now.”’® Another commandant, a man named Honda,
also created a favourable attitude. In April 1944, Les Fisher made an
entry in his secret diary about a group of 200 POWs leaving Sham Shui
Po. “As it left the lads gave three cheers for the camp commandant
Honda, because he is the only one we have had who has been decent
to us.”20

Bowen Road Military Hospital

Bowen Road was a classic example of a tropical-zone hospital, con-
structed with outside stairwells and wide verandas protected by over-
hanging eaves and floors. In less parlous times, when there was no
need to be concerned with the potentially lethal effects of shrapnel or
small-arms fire, the spacious verandas made ideal locations for conva-
lescing patients to be uplifted by the splendid view of Hong Kong
Harbour. There were no elevators.
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Figure 3.1. Ward in British Military Hospital, Bowen Road, Hong Kong Island, 1930s.
(Hong Kong Museum of History P94.260.)

Col. Shackleton, Senior British Medical Officer (SBMO) at Bowen
Road when war began, continued in this position under the Japanese
in the first months of captivity. However, on 7 August 1942 he was
moved to Argyle Street Camp with the other senior officers of the gar-
rison, and Maj. Donald C. Bowie took over as SBMO. Fortunately for
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our understanding of the history of the hospital, Bowie kept detailed
notes, most of which he was able to preserve. In 1975 he published a
lengthy, detailed, and precise account of his superintendency.!

The opportunity to operate Bowen Road Hospital from the time
of the surrender in 1941 until April 1945 displays an apparently co-
operative approach by the Japanese. Bowie was in the ideal position to
see these matters from the inside: “The Japanese obviously decided as
an article of policy to leave our hospital with its own staff to look after
allied sick and wounded prisoners of war....They did not interfere
with the treatment of our patients nor did they remove anything other
than minor quantities of drugs and equipment from our stores.”22 In
May 1945, the site was changed to the Central British School, in
Kowloon, where the uprooted hospital continued to function.

Permitting Bowen Road Hospital to function provided the
Japanese, Bowie contended, with a propagandistically useful instance
of conformance with the Geneva Conventions. Doing so was not
effected without cost to the Japanese. It must have been a substantial
administrative inconvenience because, from September 1942 on, the
staff and patients at Bowen Road were the only POWs on the Island,
all others being in Sham Shui Po, Ma Tau Chung, or Argyle Street
Camps in Kowloon.?

While internal control at Bowen Road rested with the POW med-
ical officers, their activities were governed by Japanese regulation of
the number of patients permitted, as well as the intake and discharge
of particular patients; moreover, they sent in rations and fuel accord-
ing to a scale that they established.24

The intensity of official scrutiny varied. Routine discipline contin-
ued to be wielded by the Japanese. Regardless of the weather, daily
parades were held—the much-loathed lengthy fenko so familiar to
POWs throughout the Far East. The parades were probably less rigor-
ous than in ordinary camps, but nevertheless everyone except the
unequivocally bedridden had to appear and be counted. Some were
able to take an ironic view of the enforced tenko at Bowen Road: “Each
day a roll call established that none of the amputees or TB cases or can-
cer patients had escaped during the night.”25 But the routine could be
brutal. One patient wrote, on 12 February 1942: “Absolutely freezing,
or so it seems....Parade for Japs at 4 pm. Impossible to stand still,
everyone double marks time. Off after 1!/> hours of agony.”2¢
Fortunately there were other occasions when “the Japs work smartly
and have us off in 10 mins.”?”

On 15 January 1942, all the wounded and ill men at Bowen Road
who were able to stand were paraded with their belongings in front of
the hospital. From there, they were marched to the docks in Victoria,
transported across the harbour in lighters, then marched the two miles
to Sham Shui Po Camp.28 Six days after these transfers, all sick and
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wounded Allied troops in War Memorial Hospital, near The Peak,
were removed to Bowen Road Hospital. The civilian medical staff at
War Memorial, St. Teresa’s, and also the temporary hospitals were sent
into internment camp at Stanley Point on Hong Kong Island, where
civilians from the Allied powers were segregated.?? Civilian internees
were administered separately from the POWs.

Late in May 1942, the hospital experienced a major problem. As
they did at POW camps throughout their jurisdiction, the Japanese
demanded that all prisoners, including patients, sign a warranty not to
escape. As happened at most other camps, the patients and staff at
Bowen Road refused to endorse such a document. The consequences
promptly became evident:

SPECIAL ORDER by Lt. Colonel C.O. SHACKLETON, RAMC.
Wednesday 20th May 1942. The Japanese Authorities have forbidden
until further notice the playing of tennis, Mahjong, or any card game
(involving more than two persons) by either patients or members of the
Staff. Similarly, Music, Concerts, Dancing and Singing is prohibited. The
Concert and Dance arranged for the 22nd and 28th are hereby cancelled
as well as all other forms of recreation and amusement. This order is a
reprisal for the refusal by RAMC Officers and Other Ranks and
Members of the Nursing Staff to sign blindly an Affidavit stating that
they will in no circumstance make any attempt to escape. The Japanese
Guard have received orders to deal with any offenders.30

Ultimately, all signed, having been assured by their officers that a
promise extorted under duress would not be viewed, after the war, as
“collaboration” with the enemy, nor as dereliction of duty. Some
escapes did take place, as will be discussed.

The medical staff, here as in other POW medical institutions,
wrestled with the question of how much opposition to the enemy
could be permitted. Early in captivity a prisoner named Carter operat-
ed a radio hidden behind a wall in the X-Ray Department.3! Perhaps
reluctantly, Col. Bowie ordered that the radio be dismantled. It was a
mortal danger to Carter, and its discovery could possibly have led to
the hospital being closed and everyone moved to the main camp.

Fortunately, all was not gloom and despondency at Bowen Road.
Many irrepressible members of the RAMC staff worked hard to main-
tain morale in the face of the apparently implacable enemy. For exam-
ple, the anonymous editor of The Snake and Staff, a typewritten newslet-
ter, reported in the first issue, in January 1942, that the publication had,
at “enormous expense,” been printed on edible vanilla-flavoured paper.
But “do not be misled and think that the colour of next month’s issue
will be flavoured with Chocolate.” Light-hearted advertisements
appear, and numerous amusing or wry anecdotes of events during the
recent fighting. Several poems, often with shaky metre, were featured:
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Twinkle, twinkle, little star,
How I wonder if there are
Men upon your world so high
Half as hungry as am I?

Not deathless material, but it must have uplifted the spirits of
patients and staff alike. Apparently only the first number has sur-
vived—possibly only one appeared.32

Once the men were incarcerated in their regular camps it became
almost impossible to have a sick man transferred to Bowen Road. This
is yet another example of the apparently senseless inconsistencies that
tormented the prisoners. Common sense would seem to dictate that if
a hospital was left intact and functioning, it should treat all seriously
ill POWs in the immediate area. Yet medical officers in the regular
camps remember, with frustration and anger, how difficult it was to
persuade the Japanese that a patient needed the more specialized care
available at Bowen Road.

Frequently, surgery had to be performed in primitive surround-
ings at Sham Shui Po because the patient seemed likely to die due to
the inordinate delay.3® Major Crawford found it fairly easy (though
often there were delays) to have men sent from North Point Camp—
also on the Island—to Bowen Road; but once the Canadians were
moved to Sham Shui Po this possibility vanished.34 Bowie stated: “I
recall only about four occasions in two and a half years in Bowen Road
when special admissions for consultations were arranged, and of these
two were for non-urgent eye conditions.”3

Given the lack of inter-service cooperation among the Japanese, it
may be possible to explain at least partially these failures to move sick
men promptly, on the basis of logistical problems. It seems likely that
the POW Administration had few vehicles under its control. If they
had to requisition one from a reluctant military unit in Hong Kong, it
is entirely believable that the requisitioned vehicle might arrive days
later, or not at all. But other, less charitable, explanations are not only
possible but probable—as the example of Maj. Hook shows.

As late as July 1945, Maj. Henry W. Hook, Winnipeg Grenadiers,
died at Central British School. He had been ill in Sham Shui Po Camp
“N” since 18 May with fever that was found to be caused by spinal
meningitis. He was under the care of Capt. Arthur Strahan, IMS, who
noted signs of meningeal irritation shortly after Hook became ill. A
sample of cerebrospinal fluid was found to be cloudy, suggesting that
the normally clear fluid was already infected. The Japanese medical
officer, Saito, was told; he saw Hook and said the diagnosis was mis-
taken—the officer, Saito stated, had malaria.

Strahan smuggled a sample of fluid into the other camp, where
there was a microscope. Later the same day he managed to slip
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through himself and “actually saw the organisms of meningococcal
meningitis with three other doctors.” Despite this information, Saito
remained adamant. Strachan requested sulfapyridine to treat Hook.
Saito sent an ounce of potassium permanganate.3® Hook developed
pneumonia. The medical officers tried for two weeks to get the
Japanese to provide a truck to take him to Bowen Road. At the time
they were using three trucks to move some paper stocks they had in
camp. “They finally did give us a truck two days before he died.”3”

The medical officers at Bowen Road were forbidden to send drugs
to the POW camps, though in fact much smuggling was done.38 But
inside the hospital, the medical staff had a free hand.

Fortunately, equipment for a second operating theatre at Bowen
Road, in addition to a resuscitation unit, x-ray film, and a large supply
of splints and surgical dressings, was transferred to the hospital just
before hostilities began.3 But Bowen Road was far from being ade-
quately supplied, at least by North American standards. A nursing sis-
ter remembered vividly some of the deficits, many items being in short
supply even before the war. One was the lowly tongue depressor.
According to Kay Christie, a Canadian nursing sister who accompa-
nied “C” Force to Hong Kong:

They had four tongue depressors, four wooden tongue depressors, and
one metal one for a whole ward. All of our boys had a sort of flu, and
this was before hostilities began. The Medical Officer was going around
looking at their throats and then he’d put the tongue depressor down
and I'd take it and break it. After I'd broken three, the orderly, the British
Army orderly said, “Sister, you don’t break those....We boil them and
use them again. That's a ward allotment.”40

The chief Japanese medical officer, Capt. Saito, never established
any sort of professional relationship with Bowie. The latter nevertheless
believed that Saito gave them “that to which he or his commander
considered we were entitled under the Geneva Convention so far as lay
within his power, though he showed no tendency to do more than he
need.”4

Though Bowen Road British Military Hospital was an imperfect
institution, its continued existence was a great boon to those fortunate
enough to be treated there. In a picture varying between overall grey
with many splashes of solid black, representing Japanese handling of
POWSs at Hong Kong, their action in permitting Bowen Road to con-
tinue operation is at least one substantial bright patch. A lieutenant in
the Middlesex Regiment voiced, in imperfect verse, the majority opin-
ion among the prisoners. The poem is entitled “A Prisoner’s Prayer at
Bowen Road”:

Lord, do not suffer me to go
Back to the gloom of Shamshuipo
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Nor yet direct my stumbling feet
Within the wire of Argyle Street
Grant, Lord, that I may pack my grip
And go aboard some friendly ship
Bound for London or Southampton
But, Lord, if this prayer is stamped on
Then, I pray, make light my load

And let me stay at Bowen Road.*

Bowen Road Hospital operated at its Island site until March 1945.
Then the patients and a reduced medical staff were moved to
Kowloon, going first to Sham Shui Po, where they remained about a
month, segregated from the rest of the camp. The Bowen Road staff
were told originally that they would take over Heep Yun School,
which would have been unsatisfactory as a hospital; but this location
was soon changed to the Central British School, near Argyle Street
Camp. “This was a quite modern and airy building and was ideal as a
hospital.”#3 Indeed, the Central British School had been used as a hos-
pital during December 1941, and afterwards by the Japanese. In mid-
April 1945, staff and patients moved to this site and established a
makeshift hospital that functioned until the end of the war. A POW in
Sham Shui Po recorded the date of the move as 12 April 1945, when
“there was a big shuffle in camp. All the amputees were moved to the
new ‘Bowen Road’ at Central British School.”44

Much detail about conditions treated at Bowen Road, medications
used, and related matters, will appear in later chapters.

St Teresa’s Hospital, Kowloon

St. Teresa’s Hospital, Kowloon, was a new and fully equipped French
Mission Hospital of 80 beds that had served usefully during the fight-
ing. On 27 February 1942, the Japanese sent there a team of POW med-
ical officers, medical staff, and nurses. The resident nuns had to vacate
the hospital so that it could accommodate sick from Sham Shui Po and
Argyle Street Officers’” Camps. A Nursing Sister in the party recalled:
“One day in February we were told the hospital was to be moved in an
hour. We could take what we could carry and a bedding roll....We
were herded into lorries and sent to Kowloon to a French hospital, St.
Theresa’s....We arrived in the dark and our bedding rolls were thrown
out onto the pavement in the rain.”45

The medical officers were Maj. J. Officer, RAMC; SurgLt. C.A.
Jackson, RNVR; SurgLtCmdr. W.D. Gunn, RN; and SurgLtCmdr. J.A.
Page, RN. A request was made for a Roman Catholic priest and a
Church of England padre. The priest arrived at 6 a.m. and Catholic
personnel were woken up and told to go to confession and mass. The
padre arrived that evening and was ordered to stay, as he would be
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useful for funerals. Some Japanese did attempt to be helpful. A pay-
master arrived and announced that he had brought the matron a pres-
ent for Easter, but she must return it after use. “She opened the parcel
which proved to contain a number of prayer books written in
Norwegian, taken from the Church at the end of the road.”46

Most of the patients came from Sham Shui Po Camp, the early
ones suffering from malaria; then came terrible cases of dysentery
“and we nurses were busy emptying the large commodes filled with
blood and urine from those patients able to stagger out of bed.”4”
Treatment meant being given rice water to drink. Later in 1942, diph-
theria broke out in Sham Shui Po. There was little serum, tra-
cheotomies were performed, and there were many deaths. This epi-
demic is described in Chapter Six.

In August 1942 St. Teresa’s was closed and the patients sent to
Bowen Road (severe cases) or Sham Shui Po (lesser severity).48 Sister
Van Wart, who wrote about their precipitate arrival at St. Teresa’s,
found their departure even more trying: “Another ghastly moment in
my life was when we were told the women were to pack and go to
Stanley Civilian Internment Camp, so we had just to walk out of the
hospital and leave those sick men to be nursed by mostly conscripted
orderlies who were quite untrained. I learnt at the end of the war that
nearly all the patients died.”4

When a patient died at St. Teresa’s, orderlies became pall bearers,
and several nurses formed an honour guard to the burial site, a bare
piece of ground not far from the hospital.5® Miss McCaw recalled that
they felt sorry for the deceased, but still they “could not help feeling
excited” at being able to get away from the hospital briefly.

We had some difficult times in St. Teresa’s. The strutting Japanese
Officer in charge of our Hospital hated the idea of being in charge of a
bunch of prisoners. It was a disgrace, he felt, not being able to fight for
the Emperor. He got drunk one day and came into the hospital grounds,
his bandy legs encased in shiny brown boots, and being short, his long
sword scraped along the ground. But of course we didn’t dare show our
amusement and contempt when he was around. He pulled out his razor
sharp sword, and slashing at some nearby bushes, spat out ‘Doctors!’
then another slash and this time ‘Sisters,” and yet another slash,
‘Nurses.” It was most unnerving and we wondered how it would all end.
Then our RAMC Sergeant Foster did a very brave thing. He walked up
to the Japanese Officer, spoke softly to him, and put his arm around his
shoulders and asked him to go and have a drink! To our surprise the
Japanese Officer was led away and we all heaved a sigh of relief.5!

North Point Camp

North Point Camp was situated on the Island of Hong Kong, on the
northern waterfront about two miles to the west of Lye Mun Gap.
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It functioned as a POW camp from 20 December 1941 until
26 September 1942. The camp comprised a number of wooden huts
originally built to house the Chinese refugees who flooded into
Hong Kong while escaping the war zone on mainland China.

Figure 3.2. Plan of North Point POW Camp in 1942, based on exhibit from war crimes
trial. (Original source: PRO WO 235/1012, Pt. 2, Exhibit L3.)

The Japanese landing on Hong Kong Island occurred near here
and, as a result, the huts and other buildings were considerably dam-
aged by shell fire. Sanitary conditions were appalling. The area had
been used as a garbage dump first by the British, and later by the
Japanese during the battle. The largest dump, to the west of the camp,
was the garbage heap for the city of Victoria.52 Moreover, the Japanese
seem to have used portions of the camp as a stable for horses or mules,
perhaps as a horse hospital, and “[b]lood-stained pads, dung and
putrefying carcasses had to be cleaned away.”5 The area was thick
with millions of flies, and the latrines were awash with human excre-
ment when the first POWs arrived. They had to transform this sham-
bles into a livable camp, with essentially no assistance from Japanese
sources.

One former inmate of the camp recalled several details while
being debriefed after the war:

The camp at North Point was surrounded by a barbed wire fence about
seven feet high. Some time during the Spring or early Summer of 1942,
an electric fence was constructed about eighteen inches outside the
barbed wire fence and was made approximately the same height as the
barbed wire fence. This electric fence was about the same distance out-
side the barbed wire fence all the way around the camp....This fence
completely encircled North Point Camp except for the area directly
behind the hospital where there was no fence, the fence being anchored
at both ends of the hospital building.54
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This architectural fact played a role in a tragic escape attempt
from the camp in the summer of 1942, described later.

Bugs and parasites of many kinds populated North Point Camp.
The flies swarm through every man’s recollections. One veteran had
the smothering, nauseating sensation of almost breathing flies. They
settled on every forkful of food before it could reach the mouth. Men
spent their days swatting flies. At night, when flies swarmed in their
millions on the rafters in the roofs of the huts, “parties would climb up,
squash thick black layers of them and scrape the mess into buckets, but
all efforts made not the slightest difference.”55 And this was in January,
during the cold season.

In addition to flies, lice, fleas, and bedbugs were ubiquitous
plagues at North Point Camp. Wherever the former residents, Chinese
refugees, had gone by January 1942, they had left many millions of
their travelling companions behind, waiting ravenously for their next
involuntary hosts. Lt. Harry White, Winnipeg Grenadiers, noted his
disgust when, just four days after arriving in North Point Camp, he
found lice on his underclothing for the first time in his life.56

Bedbugs were especially hated. The men were unable to sleep
because the bedbugs would bite all night, and in the morning one
would look like a person with the measles.” In addition, bedbugs have
a foul odour much intensified by squashing them. George Orwell
recorded a method used against these pests when he encountered
them in Paris in the 1930s: “Mario had told me of a sure remedy for
them, namely pepper, strewed thick over the bedclothes. It made me
sneeze, but the bugs all hated it, and emigrated to other rooms.”58

Ultimately, fly-catching was ordered by the Japanese, an order
that some POWSs looked upon as quaint or stupid. This began as early
as 6 February 1942, when it was ordered that everyone must kill his
quota of flies each day.® The idea was not stupid, for eliminating tens
of thousands of flies had to have some effect. But it may have seemed
like déja vu, at least to those older Canadians POWs who had long
memories. Before World War One, about 30 years before the events
chronicled here, at least three Canadian cities conducted fly-catching
contests among their citizens, all with the same hygienic goal that acti-
vated the Japanese.

Edmonton, Hamilton, and Toronto all proclaimed this an official
municipal activity. The Toronto Star co-sponsored the Fly-Catching
Contest of 1912, for children under 16. By the end of the contest—ter-
minated when it was found that some enterprising children were
breeding their own flies®0—3,367,680 squashed flies, weighing 2,758
pounds, had been counted carefully and stored in bottles in the
Department of Health office. “A teen named Beatrice White was
crowned the Queen of Swat after personally downing 543,360 flies. For
her troubles, White won $50.”61
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At North Point Camp in Hong Kong, only some modest prizes of
cigarettes were awarded. But at least the Japanese did become con-
cerned about sanitation. They offered a packet of cigarettes for every
100 dead flies collected. They counted the flies, or made the POWs
count them at first; then they decided that they would weigh them.
The prisoners, predictably, started tying little weights to the flies’ feet;
some men bred flies in their mess tins in order to get cigarettes.
Eventually the Japanese discovered this scam. The offer of cigarettes
ended.

I remember in my room, there were five of us in the room, and we had
alot of flies of course, and the chaps used to come in and say, “I will give
you two cigarettes, sir, for the fly rights of this room once a week.” So I
said, “You come in whenever you like.” He said, “While we have the fly
rights, you're not to let anyone else kill any flies in this room. And you're
not to kill any yourselves.” I said, “No, I promise I'll do that. I'll only kill
mosquitoes.” They didn’t like mosquitoes. They got the fly rights in pay-
ment for a couple of fags. It shows you the lengths people will go to get
a cigarette. Absolutely daft!62

Many of the men acquired parasites. Patients having anesthetics
often regurgitated masses of worms, perhaps irritated by the chloro-
form.

The men who faced the prodigious task of making North Point
livable included Canadians, British, Indians, and members of the
multinational and multiracial Hong Kong Volunteer Defence Corps.
Men of the Royal Engineers cleared a well so that some water was
available for bathing. It would be weeks before proper latrines were
functioning and, until then, 2,000 men hung their British, or Canadian,
or Indian, or Chinese, or Portuguese behinds over the sea wall to
empty their bowels—something almost everyone had to do with accel-
erating frequency as disease struck.

Soon dysentery struck, exacerbating the routine existence of dietary
diarrhea. The sea itself continued to be their latrine. Ken Cambon had
his first bout of bacillary dysentery at this time: “I had lots of cramps
and I was holding on the fence over the wall and I looked down and
there was still quite a few bodies floating by...and I thought, ‘God,
what’s happened here!”’63 The contrast with his relatively sheltered
youth in Montreal was shocking. Some men were so weak that they
had to crawl to the sea wall and tie themselves to a post to keep from
vanishing into the befoulled bay.

Huts with a “maximum” capacity of 50 soon held 175. Double-
decker wooden bunks made it just possible for everyone to lie down at
the same time. “The bunks were pushed together in pairs, and in this
way seven could sleep in the floor space otherwise occupied by
three—two on the top bunk, three below and two on the floor.”64
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Figure 3.3. Plan of North Point POW Camp, 1942. (Derived from war
crimes trial transcript, WO 235, File 1012 Part 2, Exhibit B2.)

The rations at North Point consisted of white rice, vegetables, and
occasionally a little fish. Sanitary conditions and overcrowding were
perhaps the worst features of the camp, while the low-vitamin, low-pro-
tein diet began to give rise to a host of deficiency diseases. Of these, the
most dramatic was the so-called “happy feet” or “electric feet.” Beriberi
and pellagra were common.

During January 1942, the Japanese ordered that a hospital be set
up in North Point itself, rather than relying on Bowen Road.6> The
need for medical facilities was obvious and urgent. A small decrepit
warehouse about 30 by 40 feet was made the camp hospital. There
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were 12 beds, though the number of patients rose as high as 42. The
roof leaked, and during rainy weather it was not uncommon to find an
inch of water on the floor, with large numbers of patients lying in the
water because there were not enough beds.®6 By mid-February, when
one might have expected that the hospital would be functioning effec-
tively, a patient described it in depressing terms:

So-called hospital was an old warehouse, no windows in east or south,
dank concrete walls and floor, roof supported by six huge stone
columns. It reminds me of Byron's description of the prison of Chillon.
There is a makeshift stove here but it will not draw, giving more smoke
than heat.6”

At first there were some medicines in the camp, but the drugs at
North Point were not replenished. One medical officer noted the con-
tents of the almost bare cupboard: magnesium sulphate in fair quanti-
ty, sulfapyridine (about 500 tablets), and sulfanilamide (about 3,000
tablets).68 Nothing more. There were in the camp at this time more
than 2,000 men, many with wounds of various kinds and most sick.
No diagnostic or laboratory facilities were available.

The patients in North Point Camp hospital represented a group at
some ill-defined mid-point with respect to degree of illness. Early in
1942 it was still possible to send the seriously ill to Bowen Road
Hospital, while the least severely ill were, so far as possible, kept in
their own barracks because of the limited number of beds available in
the camp hospital.

After breakfast on 21 January 1942, all the Indian POWs were sent
to Ma Tau Chung Camp in Kowloon. Two days later, POWs from the
Middlesex, Royal Scots, and HKVDC were marched to the ferry, en
route to Sham Shui Po. The Canadians in North Point remained there,
and when the Volunteers reached the ferry wharf they saw Canadians
arriving from the mainland, obviously headed for North Point.6 On 18
April 1942, the Royal Navy POWs were moved out of North Point
Camp. From this date, only the Canadians and a few Dutch mariners
were left there.”0

A major advance in camp civilization occurred on 2 February
1942: two Asian-style toilets were repaired and working.” Two days
later, another sign of civilization appeared: classes were started. These
covered a wide range of topics, including mathematics, civics, French,
and many others.”

Nevertheless, the camp was not a happy one, even by POW stan-
dards. On 25 February 1942, R.B. Goodwin was moved from an out-
side hospital to North Point Camp. He was stunned at what he found:

What had happened? Who were these broken, spiritless, dirty, slovenly,
unshaven, gaunt-looking spectres who stared at us with unfriendly,
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unwelcoming eyes? Could these be those same officers who had so
recently looked so immaculate on the dance floor of the Hongkong
hotel? Two months had passed since the last guns boomed, and that
scene of demoralisation made us wonder with trepidation what condi-
tions in the camp would be.”

Definitely, all was not well at North Point. Treatment by the
Japanese was not especially bad, but there was increasing unrest
because of what was described as the “utter selfishness” of some of the
officers, who had wired themselves off in a separate compound where
they enjoyed better food than the other ranks, and seemed “to care for
little else than playing bridge and making petty complaints to the
Japanese. There was one group which demanded gin!”7¢# An RAMC
officer who experienced all the Hong Kong camps wrote the following
account of North Point:

The effect of defeat and hardship on the morale of men inadequately
acclimatized, whose brief military career prior to the Hong Kong cam-
paign had been eighteen months garrison duty in the West Indies, was
dramatic. For the first month demoralization was complete. There was
no open insubordination but a sullen apathy, shown particularly in dis-
regard of personal cleanliness and appearance.... At this stage there were
no working parties for the Japanese, and the men would spend their
days lounging around the corners of huts, the only subject of conversa-
tion being food.”s

Because of the reference to garrison duty in the West Indies, this
passage must refer to the Winnipeg Grenadiers. Happily, that regiment
gradually regained its morale. Noz, as will become evident, was it the
only unit coping with demoralization.

Despite these problems, one young Canadian rifleman found
North Point Camp relatively congenial. He discovered a spirit of coop-
eration and discipline that did not exist in later camps, particularly in
Japan, where he encountered a “dog eat dog” attitude.” Perhaps his
memory of North Point is from a time later than that of the demoral-
ization described here.

The negative view the POWs had of the Japanese, initiated by the
then routine anti-Asian prejudice and pre-war and wartime propagan-
da, was accentuated, often ineradicably, in these early days in the
camps. Most hadn’t seen their comrades butchered in the hills of Hong
Kong Island or at St. Stephen’s College, nor the brutal rape of nurses,
but they had all heard of these atrocities.

The more thoughtful among them might have been able to under-
stand, if not excuse, some of these atrocities as battlefield excesses. But
at North Point their education in Japanese callous brutality continued.
Allister has written how, one cold night, he watched a naked Chinese
woman die slowly after being raped in the guardroom.”” This was not
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the rage of battle; it was lust and brutality indulged in weeks after the
fighting ended. Another Canadian at North Point saw similar cruel-
ties:

One night I was looking through a crack in the wall and I saw the guards
beating a man. Then they tied him up and continued beating him. Then
they untied him and stuck a bayonet through him and threw the body
into the harbour....Then the two guards took turns taking shots at the
body and clapped each other on the back when they hit it. That's how
much life was valued by them.”

Similarly, at Sham Shui Po, one member of the HKVDC watched
a Formosan guard shoot a Chinese girl who came too near the camp,
searching for shellfish along the beach. She lay “twitching in the mud for
nearly half an hour before he put another bullet through her head.”?

Sham Shui Po

Sham Shui Po8 (which means Deep Water Market) is a district in
northwestern Kowloon as well as the name of a permanent British mil-
itary encampment and, from the last days of 1941 till August 1945, a
POW camp.

Figure 3.4. Aerial view of Sham Shui Po Camp, Jubilee Buildings in the background.
(Frank Evans, Roll Call at Oeyama, 1985.)

James Bertram described Sham Shui Po as it was just before the
war began at the end of 1941:

The camp lay between the hills and the sea, on a reclaimed harbor flat
scored by deep typhoon drains. The whole area had formerly been used
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as a British military barracks. There was room for several thousand men;
and the general design of the camp was not bad—two large gravel
parade grounds at either end, and two broad surfaced avenues shaped
in cruciform. Everything reflected the sort of military mind that delights
in chessboard uniformity—the barrack huts, spaced as rigidly as tent
lines, were long low affairs with concrete floors. A freak amid all this
severity was a fantastic four-storey block of flats that rose like a mirage
along the water front. Known as Jubilee Buildings, it had originally been
built by an enterprising Indian speculator, who had sold it (at a good
profit) to the army for use as officers’ quarters.s!

Actually, the builder of the Jubilee Buildings was Sir Thomas Ho
Tung, the project being part of a housing development begun in 1925.82
The Jubilee Buildings were the best-made structures at Sham Shui Po.
The buildings were large, relatively modern, three-storied (by the
European style which numbers floors above the main or ground floor),
made of concrete, and with wide verandas.

The huts were wooden but built to withstand the high winds and
stresses of typhoons. The rafters were trusses of Oregon timber. Soon,
the POWs removed every second rafter. The timber split easily and
made excellent fuel .83

Figure 3.5. The Jubilee Buildings, Sham Shui Po, taken in 1941 just before war began.
(Courtesy of Mr. Peter Kifford, Crawley, UK.)

The initial impression the men had as they approached Sham Shui
Po for the first time as POWs was of space and order. The buildings
appeared substantial, and grass and trees had survived. But as they
came closer the picture changed abruptly. The barracks had been an
early target of the Japanese air force, and bombs had perforated the
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Jubilee Buildings from corner to corner. Many of the huts had been
gutted. As numerous diarists attest, the ravages of looters, who had
swarmed into the camp after the British garrison withdrew from
Kowloon, were unbelievable. The prisoners found only the brick or
timber shells of buildings. They had to improvise doors and windows
as best they could, and they slept on the concrete floors.

Maj. H.G.G. Robertson, RAMC, who arrived as a POW at Sham
Shui Po on 30 December 1941, adds more detail: “All the windows and
doors, taps, and electrical fittings had been torn off. There were no
latrines, nor any means of digging them, and the only water source
was a tap on one side of the parade ground.”8

Lt. Harry White was at Sham Shui Po immediately after the sur-
render, before being sent to North Point Camp. He recorded in his
diary for 30 December 1941 some of the concerns that affected many
groups of newly captured POWs, presaging the depressed state of the
men already referred to at North Point:

We are working hard to get things organized but a lot of the men are let-
ting go—their morale has broken and discipline is difficult to enforce.
With the Canadians it’s not too bad as we Platoon Officers are working
pretty close with our men and on the whole getting cooperation. There
is a little mutinous talk but we shall bring them round. It’s quite a job
trying to make some men realize they must do certain things for their
own good.8>

Two days later, the Japanese brought 30 pigs into the camp, pro-
ducing a positive if temporary impact on morale.8¢

The daily schedule at Sham Shui Po called for reveille at 6:30, 7:00,
or 7:30 a.m., depending on the season. Morning muster parade was at
8:00 a.m., breakfast at 8:30, and medical examination at 10:00 a.m.
Dinner was served at 12:30 p.m., “Conveyance of Order” at 4:00, sup-
per (again depending on season of year) at 5:30, 6:00, or 6:30. Evening
muster parade was held one hour after supper. Lights Out was at 9:30
or 10:00 p.m.%”

By late January, when the Canadians had been moved to North
Point Camp and the HKVDC and the British consolidated in Sham
Shui Po, some order had begun to appear. But self-preservation was a
major drive, and for some men this meant survival at the expense of
others. Bosanquet was one of those who moved into camp from North
Point. The first night in Sham Shui Po was a nightmare: “I had almost
everything I possessed stolen. When you have almost nothing, it is
very precious....It cast me into depths of despair. It was that act that
sparked in me the first seeds of the need to get out.”88 Ultimately he
was one of the few Europeans who escaped successfully.

Theft within the camp was all too common, especially in the early
weeks. It became the practice to assign two men to look after each hut.
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These men would rush to the huts at the end of the Japanese roll call,
before the remainder of the POWs, who had to march off. This was
done to discourage men from other huts taking short-cuts through,
stealing blankets and other belongings on the way.8
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Figure 3.6. Plan of the layout of Sham Shui Po POW Camp, Hong Kong. (Based on a
sketch in David Bosanquet, Escape Through China (London: Robert Hale, 1983).

Some officers stole, setting a demeaning example for the men. A
few officers took articles to sell, and one or two, Goodwin thought,
may have been court-martialled at Sham Shui Po for stealing watch-
es.% No additional documentation seems to have survived about these
events. But this is by no means the only instance of stealing by officers.
Dr. Isaac Newton noted, at Argyle Street Camp, that after a group of
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officers left the camp he checked the store of tinned food and found
that three tins had been taken, plus a packet of darning needles that
they had brought from Queen Mary Hospital. “The IMS Major says
that in his hospital the British soldiers actually stole the ward sister’s
tea when she was away.”9!

Just as at North Point Camp, at Sham Shui Po poor morale was a
major problem. One British POW remembered vividly a stern lecture,
late in January 1942, by the senior officer to the officers and NCOs; it
became an embarrassingly “frantic appeal for unity, discipline, regard
for sanity and respectfulness.” It would be a scandal, the officer con-
cluded, if he had to turn men over to the Japanese for punishment.9

One problem that occurred occasionally was that some POWs lit-
erally could not understand each other. Accents often grated against
the unaccustomed ear. Not all took it as philosophically as an Aussie
in Japan: “Ian Doherty remarked: ‘George Keil (Royal Scots) has been
very friendly with the Australians. A happy and welcome diversion. It
is difficult to interpret some of his remarks, but, if we can learn
Japanese surely we should soon learn Scottish.””93

Ingenious and sometimes bizarre rumours proliferated fantasti-
cally, and inevitably they affected morale also. In May 1942, the reign-
ing rumour was that Queen Elizabeth had had a son and heir.% This
happy event did not occur then, or ever. Bugs interested in a diet of
human flesh and blood were not limited to North Point Camp. At
Sham Shui Po a Royal Navy POW had his worst night ever; the bugs
attacked in thousands. “Had no sleep before reveille at 0600 and used
a whole box of matches trying to burn them off. As soon as bed was
clear and I lay down they would start again. All huts affected in the
same way.”%

In April 1942, medical inspection revealed that some of the Royal
Scots were lousy.? They were not alone in their affliction, which was
routine in camps throughout the Far East; washing facilities and the
supply of soap were almost invariably insufficient.

Interpreter Watanabe Kiyoshi, a sympathetic Japanese throughout
the long years of imprisonment, was acutely aware of the need for a
delousing centre at Sham Shui Po. He told his biographer that the worst
of those who were infested often had lumps of living matter hanging in
such places as under the armpits. “Other men,” he said, “got sick at the
sight of the flesh sagging from the weight of the heaving lice.”9”

Later, in Senryo Camp in Japan, at Nagasaki, POWs discovered an
ecological fact that served them well: fleas eliminate lice. Fleas suck the
blood of lice, thus killing them, before going on to attack their human
host.%

Because the electrical system at Sham Shui Po had been
destroyed, at least as much by Chinese looters removing electrical
wiring and fixtures as by bombing and shelling, electricity was a rare
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luxury. Indeed, no power whatever was available until 10 March 1942,
when the electricity finally became marginally operative.? Once rough
wiring had been restored for widely spaced low-wattage bulbs, ingen-
ious POWs fashioned water heaters from bared wires, on occasion
short-circuiting the entire camp system. The apparatus was ingenious
but potentially dangerous:

A wooden frame, some 24” by 18” of 2” by 1” was covered on one face
by an asbestos sheet scrounged from the hut walls. Old heavy gauge wire
netting was unraveled, straightened and formed into coils around a
broomstick or thinner rod. The requisite number of coils, found by trial
and error, were connected in series across nails spaced about 2” apart
along the long side of the frames, the two ends hooked into the mains.
Accompanied by flashes and weird humming noises the system would
warm up as the zinc from the galvanising burnt off the wire with pretty
green flames. Soon the coils would be red-hot—in places—and cooking
could begin. Sometimes a pot would accidentally fall or ‘short’ the coils;
with the result that the whole apparatus would become a welded mass.100

One POW recognized how annoying these gadgets were for the
Japanese. As fast as they were confiscated, the POWs made others. “I
feel that the Japanese were really most patient in this regard.”10! They
might well have made the inevitable power failures reason for brutal
retribution; they did not.

In March 1942, the Japanese gave permission for a canteen to be
opened. Once the limited supply of money in camp was used up, the
canteen was viewed as unhelpful, for the items seemed largely useless
and expensive. It did, however, sell cigarettes; once the men began to
labour for the Japanese, outside the camp, and thus earn small sums,
much of the money apparently was spent on cigarettes.1®2 For most,
the smokes were a small comfort and solace. But for a few they became
a menace, as we will see in Chapter Five.

Once, a senior Japanese officer inspected the camp. The POWs
formed up, and three hours later he arrived. By then, many had faint-
ed from fatigue and hunger. After the inspection the men were issued
with soap, a razor-blade, a tooth-brush, and a small towel, all free of
charge,10 items needed desperately because most POWs had lost their
personal kit. The tedious wait had been worthwhile.

After the closing of St. Teresa’s Hospital, patients requiring hos-
pitalization at Sham Shui Po had to be treated within the camp. Rarely
could a patient be sent to Bowen Road Hospital on the Island. Though
the barracks at Sham Shui Po were built long before the war, there had
never been a hospital on site.104 Space had to be found within Sham
Shui Po for this vital activity, further overcrowding the camp.

In September 1942, when the Canadians returned to their pre-war
barracks area at Sham Shui Po, they brought with them their own
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medical system, which functioned largely independently of the exist-
ing arrangement that provided care for the two British regiments and
for the HKVDC. Indian Medical Service personnel cared for the Indian
POWSs at Ma Tau Chung Camp.

RS A\ e
Figure 3.7. Interior of barracks at Sham Shui Po POW Camp, 1944. (From A.V. Skvorzov,

Chinese Ink and Brush Sketches of Prisoner of War Camp Life in Hong Kong, 25 December 1941-
30 August 1945, A.V. Skvorzov, 1945.)

Six weeks after they were moved to Sham Shui Po, Harry White
was appalled at the state of the new Canadian “hospital” there, which
he thought was no better than the ramshackle affair at North Point.
“Just one of the huts, makeshift doors and windows, blanket up for
blackout, two small lights. It’s a hell of a place. Filthy, no room to work
on the patients—two or three may be lying dead for hours. All cases in
the same building, Dysentery as well. The stench in the place is terrif-
ic from sores, dysentery, sweaty bodies, etc.”105 But this was no worse
than the “hospital” used by the British.

So poorly supplied and so overcrowded were the hospitals that
the men quickly adopted attitudes combining resignation, cynicism,
and despair. Some fatalistically minded POWSs began to avoid the hos-
pital early in captivity, resulting in an official statement recorded in
May 1942, by W.T. Carden: “An order issued today says that men must
not refrain from reporting sick because they know there are no medi-
cines and therefore can get no treatment, as they may have an illness
which may spread an epidemic through the camp and therefore must
be isolated from their fellows.”106
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Saito Shunkishi was the senior Japanese medical officer for the
Hong Kong POW camps. He failed to provide appropriate medical
attention, as will be detailed in regard to the epidemic of diphtheria
that ravaged the camp during 1942. He was notorious for having beat-
en Maj. John Crawford, on parade, and for blaming the medical staff,
doctors, and orderlies, for the high rates of illness and death.

Figure 3.8. Capt. Saito Shunkishi, IJA, formerly
senior medical officer at POW headquarters,
Hong Kong, ca. 1946. (Photo loaned by
Norman Leath.)

Dr. Saito graduated from the Kyoto Prefectural Medical School
in spring 1940. He joined the army on 15 May 1940 with the rank of
sergeant. On 28 January 1942 he arrived in Hong Kong as the senior
medical officer in the prisoner-of-war camps there.107 Saito was then
a full lieutenant and in medical charge of some 10,000 prisoners of
war. He called at the various camps perhaps once every three
months. Customarily he stayed for about 10 minutes, or just long
enough to refuse all requests—whichever was the shorter time—
according to Capt. Woodward, IMS.

It was hazardous to insist on any points with him as he was prone to slap
one in the face and leave in a huff which resulted in some further priva-
tions for the sick. He had been subdued and partly trained by Ashton-
Rose and as a result regarded Evans and me [Woodward] with a slightly
less jaundiced eye due to our association with Ashton at the Lower
‘Hospital” and to us fell the rather delicate task of dealing with this sav-
age creature, on the rare occasion of his visit.108
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Woodward saw “the good Dr. Saito” for the last time on 29 April
1944, the day Woodward embarked for Japan. Saito laughed heartily
when Woodward pleaded with him to return his copy of Boyd’s
Pathology, which he had found and removed from Woodward’s kit.

He said I would have no time for study when I got to Japan where every-
one must work. When I told him that I was most concerned to have
Medical books to study so that my years of imprisonment would not be
entirely wasted he pointed out that I need not concern myself about it as
we should all be kept as slaves till we died after Japan had won the war.10

Saito was sentenced to death after his war crimes trial in 194647,
for crimes allegedly carried out in all the camps at Hong Kong.
Ultimately, his sentence was commuted to 20 years at hard labour and,
given the general commutations that took place in the early 1950s, he
probably served little of that term.

Saito’s reputation was bad, but some of his staff were capable of
human gestures:

He had a corporal, Dolyama, I remember quite well, who was very kind
to me personally. He was quite a stickler over things, but he used to buy
me tobacco outside and bring it in occasionally. I gave him money for it
of course; he was very good like that, and quite an amusing little
man....He used to come in and tell you when you were going to be
inspected, and said, “Oh you must splash around with lysol and every-
thing around the door, put soap in it and all this, to show the people we
are very clean and good.” You know, put on a bit of a show. But he never
whacked you or anything like that, where Saito was quite prepared to
give you a sharp slap.110

By mid-1942, drafts of men began leaving for Japan to help offset
the critical labour shortage there, caused by massive inductions into
the armed forces. In September a draft was ordered. After these men
departed there was then room for all the Canadians to be moved to
Sham Shui Po on 26 September. North Point Camp was closed.

One event, on 25 October 1942, gave the Hong Kong POWs great
joy. On this Sunday afternoon Allied bombers attacked targets in Hong
Kong for the first time. The effect on the Japanese was uncertain,
though high casualties were rumoured. The effect on the POWs was
dramatic. Morale soared. At last the war was being carried to the
enemy before their very eyes.!'! Hong Kong had not been forgotten.

What they could not have known and, cynically, might have dis-
believed if they had, was that the Canadian government had not for-
gotten them either. Vance has suggested that Canada devoted as much
effort to the problems of its Far Eastern POW nationals as it did to
those in Europe.!12 But dealing with the Japanese was far more difficult
that dealing with Germany. For example, it was not until June 1943
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that the Canadian government, after many diplomatic exchanges,
obtained a presumably complete list of the names of its Hong Kong
POWSs.113

Throughout the last half of 1942, medical problems in Sham Shui
Po became progressively worse. The diphtheria epidemic was still
severe (see Chapter Six). More and more men were dying of dysentery
and the complications of malnutrition and starvation (see Chapter
Five). On 22 November 1942, a Canadian officer wrote: “The deaths in
camp are terrible, very bad for morale. Stopped blowing Last Post in
camp. The poor lads in hospital lie and wonder if their turn will be
next.”114

One month later, on 21 December 1942, the International
Committee for the Red Cross (ICRC) was permitted to visit the camp
for the first time. Afterwards the Delegate, C.A. Kengelbacher,
described Sham Shui Po in rather more neutral terms than the POWs
might have used. This camp, situated on the Kowloon peninsula fac-
ing the bay opposite Hong Kong Island, with mountains at the rear,
“consists of 132 [sic] stone/mortar buildings, mostly single storied, on
level ground, very sunny location, plenty of light. It includes kitchen,
bakery, canteen and storehouse. Most of this site was formerly used by
the British army.”115 It is only fair to note that this was only a small por-
tion of his report. Moreover, outspoken criticism by the Red Cross was
counterproductive. The Japanese read all ICRC reports, so the Swiss
had to be circumspect; if they were not, access could, and probably
would, be denied in the future and thus they would be unable to do
anything whatever to aid the prisoners.

The sufferings of Far Eastern POWSs were intensified by the fail-
ure of the Japanese to permit individual Red Cross food parcels to be
delivered to the prisoners. Unlike the camps in Europe, where, except
for the last months of the war, parcels were received almost weekly,
most of the men at Hong Kong and the other areas held by Japan saw
no more than at most, five or six parcels throughout the entire period
of captivity.116

The few Red Cross parcels that were received made a real differ-
ence in the lives of the men. One shipment arrived 4 September 1944:
“We got two more parcels and part of one. The distribution has been
well-handled this time. Maj. Crawford, Cndn. Sr. MO, in charge.”117
On 27 February 1945, all Canadians received packages that included
large quantities of cigarettes. These were a much sought-after substi-
tute for money, and diary entries for some time after were filled with
the dietary and morale-building benefits of having the extra food they
could now trade for.118

But some of the Red Cross material was diverted to other, illegal,
uses. This became a significant factor in several of the war crimes trials
held in 1946 and 1947. For example, on 27 May 1943, a diarist recorded:
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“The Compradore told us that Red Cross bacon was selling down in
town at 5.00 Yen a small tin—the bastards, where is it coming from?”119
Within the camp, conditions worsened slowly and inexorably.
Everyone was ill to some degree, many severely. And brave men
attempted to alleviate the condition of their fellow prisoners, often at
deadly risk. One of these was F/L Hector Gray, RAF. Imprisoned in
Sham Shui Po Camp until removed by the Japanese, Gray died in
Stanley Prison, Hong Kong, 18 December 1943. He was awarded the
George Cross posthumously, and this citation was promulgated:

Flight Lieutenant Gray was taken prisoner in Hong Kong in December
1941 and while in captivity he did all he could to sustain the morale of
his fellow prisoners. He smuggled much-needed drugs into the camp
and distributed them to those who were seriously ill, and he also ran a
news service on information he received from people outside the camp.
He was tortured continually over a period of nearly six months to make
him divulge the names of his informants, but he disclosed nothing, and
was finally executed by the Japanese.120

On 20 August 1943, all remaining officers above the rank of major
incarcerated in Sham Shui Po (including some medical officers) were
moved to the Argyle Street Camp.12! (The most senior officers had
been moved to Argyle Street Camp in 1942.) Presumably, one reason
was to prevent further attempts such as Gray’s to provide a focus of
leadership. At Argyle Street they joined the large contingent of fellow
officers who had been moved there months earlier.

For those who had relatives or friends among the civilian popula-
tion in Hong Kong, some improvement in supplies of food and cloth-
ing was possible. The Japanese appointed a day each week on which
gift parcels could be delivered to individual POWs. The arrangement
could be cancelled, and often was, in retaliation for offences real or
suspected. When the system worked it did much to sustain those for-
tunate enough to obtain such parcels. But the Canadians had been in
the colony for only three weeks before the fighting began. Dr. Selwyn
Selwyn-Clarke managed to obtain the names of all six thousand POWs
in Sham Shui Po Camp, including the survivors of the two Canadian
regiments. The solution worked out by Selwyn-Clarke was to arrange
contacts for the Canadians by proxy among his numerous helpers.
“Supplies of food, vitamins, soap and other articles for the camps in
Kowloon were stored for me nearby by Dr. T.J. Hua, in charge of the
Kwong Wah Hospital, who was to be repaid for his staunch co-opera-
tion by a spell of imprisonment.”122

The Japanese permitted a system of weekly parcel deliveries, so
that many of the men were supplied with extra food throughout the
war. Some members of the British and Indian regiments who had been
in Hong Kong for substantial periods of time had established liaisons
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or marriages with local women, including often “Wan Chai girls” of
possibly malleable virtue, and thus had the same advantages. Many of
these liaisons were formalized by proxy marriages, ceremonies that
must have had at least two motivations, one being genuine emotional
attachment, the other a recognition that invaluable food parcels could
result. Some of the marriages were conducted by Captain the
Reverend Eric John Green, a padre imprisoned with the men.123

Once the Japanese approved the principle that individually
addressed parcels could enter the camp, a system was established.
Periodically, deliveries were suspended temporarily as retaliation for
some POW transgression, but in general a woman could bring her man
a parcel once a month.

On the appointed day, Chinese and mixed-race women carried
parcels in sacks to the Sham Shui Po and Argyle Street camps. Similar
groups trudged with the precious supplies up the hillside to Bowen
Road Military Hospital on the Island. Public transport had vanished, so
the women had to walk to the camp. For those living on the Island, it is
about three miles from the Star Ferry Terminal to Sham Shui Po. Hard
work, carrying a parcel of any size and, often, trailing children.
Favoured items were brown sugar, and almost anything that would not
spoil and that might convey some palatable flavour to the endless,
insipid boiled rice. Clothing was much valued also. These volunteers
were organized and accompanied by Mrs. Selwyn-Clarke, widely
known as “Red Hilda,” both because of her hair colour and her politics.

Here the name of Helen Ho must be mentioned also, for she
played a major role in organizing parcels of food and clothing—both
openly and clandestinely—for POWs in the Hong Kong camps. Miss
Ho had been a kindergarten teacher until the war began. After the
capitulation the Japanese closed the schools. During the fighting she
had done some nursing at LaSalle College temporary hospital. There
she met Dr. Selwyn-Clarke, who later persuaded her to become
involved in aiding POWs once it became apparent that their life was
going to be extremely difficult. Once the Japanese decided to permit it,
food parcels were sent in to Sham Shui Po, 12 each week. If the intend-
ed recipient did not pick up the parcel, usually because he had died, it
came back and then would be sent to another name on a list of Allied
POWs. This list included names of Canadians.

Helen Ho’s involvement became major and, should the Japanese
have found out, probably lethal. Drugs had to be smuggled in. They
were put in 555 cigarette tins, which were flat. She or others gave them
to Rev. “Uncle Jon” Watanabe, IJA interpreter, who carried them into
the camps. After the war, Miss Ho was awarded the MBE for her brav-
ery and determination. Later she went to England, studied social
work, and followed that profession as her post-war career. She died in
the 1990s.
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Another woman who assisted in these efforts was the flamboyant
Emily “Mickie” Hahn, who had a daughter by Maj. Charles Boxer just
before the war began, and who remained in Hong Kong until 1943, try-
ing to find ways to help her wounded lover, by then a POW. Hahn was
recruited by the Selwyn-Clarkes. Though terrified of the potential for
disaster and its likely impact on her infant daughter, the American
journalist helped to carry black market items into internment camps.124
After the war, Mickie Hahn Boxer received a certificate from Hong
Kong recognizing her efforts.!25

In late January 1943, the Canadian hospital was moved to differ-
ent huts in Sham Shui Po. This was part of a reshuffling within the
camp after the dispatch of a large draft to Japan, including 663
Canadians, on 19 January. The new hospital was in huts on the north
west side of the camp. The patients had more room, though it was
depressingly dark. Three weeks later the Japanese finally provided
some glass for windows,126 which until then had been boarded up
against the winter chill and rain.

On a quite different theme, we have one brief fashion note from
this camp. On 7 April 1943, Harry White wrote in his diary: “Had my
hair all off, common practice here, cool and clean. We look like hell
though.”127

Questionable Behaviour by Allied Pows

There is voluminous evidence of cooperative and helpful behaviour
among the inmates of Allied POW camps in the Far East. The closest
ties were within combines of two to six men who banded together for
mutual support; often these combines comprised men from the same
military unit. On a larger scale there was inevitably inter-regimental
rivalry, sometimes intense and even destructive, and equally
inevitably there were inter-racial and inter-national antagonisms. But
in large measure the POWs united, with varying degrees of cohesion,
against the common enemy.

In a few instances, however, Allied POWs acted to the real detri-
ment of other POWs. As noted, theft occurred among the POWs.
Stealing from their captors was considered desirable, necessary, and
even patriotic. But theft from other POWs was regarded as particularly
heinous. Yet petty theft, both from their fellows and from the Japanese,
was common.128

More sinister were instances of collaboration with the enemy,
sometimes unquestionably real and deliberate, sometimes unintended
or thoughtless and largely innocent, and sometimes unproven.
Informers were a remarkably common problem. A Royal Navy POW
wrote a withering comment on one type of collaborator, adding a post-
war observation to his diary entry for 1 March 1944:
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Unfortunately we did not know all informers; they were mostly
Imperial troops who had done at least one tour of duty in H.K. and mar-
ried local girls. Their object to be allowed to remain in H.K. was to
receive food parcels and thus survive. There was nothing sacred to these
warped bastards and good men died as a result of their treachery. They
were organised as a H.Q. group under Major Boon, R.A.S.C., who ran
the camp for the Japs.129
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Figure 3.9. Cartoon-style drawing of Maj. Cecil Boon, RASC.
Caption: “Lest we forget! Shamshuipo 30.1.42-15.12.43. The
‘Queen’ of all ‘Stooges.” Maj. C. Boon R.A.S.C.” (Imperial
War Museum MS 85/42/1, Papers of CSM R.A. Edwards.)

On 18 April 1942, the Japanese gave orders for all officers to move
within an hour. Almost all officers except MOs were sent to Argyle
Street Camp. Boon was left in charge of the camp.130 Some weeks later,
Alsey, an NCO in the Royal Scots, took charge of a work detail under
Maj. “Cissy” Boon, as he was known among the POWs. Alsey thought
Boon acted and looked like a stage-hall English officer, and had to
leave him “ere I spewed my disgust up.”13! In September Alsey report-
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ed, in continuing disgust, that a naval Petty Officer had been confined
to quarters for 10 days for not saluting Boon.132

Maj. Cecil Boon, according to a fellow officer, had been an army
dancing champion before the war, an avocation that might not have
raised his status among the troops. At Sham Shui Po, Boon was sus-
pected of being more or less a self-appointed liaison officer with the
Japanese. Most of the POWs despised him. He was remembered as a
dapper figure, well dressed, invariably wearing dark glasses. During
the early days he appeared to have a generous supply of dollars. 133

Dr. Coombes didn’t think that Boon was a vicious man, or work-
ing against the POWs deliberately, or that he was particularly pro-
Japanese. He was merely a mouthpiece for them, apparently agreeing
immediately to follow their orders and passing them on to the men.
“He didn’t make a fuss about it, which a lot of people thought he
ought to have done, he ought to have stood up to the Japanese and
refused. He’d only have been beaten up, mind you. But he was not a
great character at all, a forceful character in any way.”134

The Japanese transmitted all their orders through Boon. If there
was to be a parade and search, the purpose being to get everybody out
on the parade ground while they searched all the huts, Boon gave
those orders. “I suppose he couldn’t avoid having to do that, but he
had a very thin time after the war, I believe. I think there was some
prosecution.”1% In fact, Boon was court-martialled—and exonerated.

Some of the friction in the camp related less to collaboration than
to corruption. The kitchen and anything to do with food handling was
the source of many complaints. Billings recorded a row in camp in the
middle of August 1944: “Fish came in to-day; they smacked it into a
boiler and made fish soup as a way out. One of the stooges, however,
saw the staff frying their own. Case going to Japs.”136 Lt. Harry White
commented on the same sorry event, with the cooks having “a little
feast on their own.”137 Everyone knew that this had happened and it
was bitterly resented by all.

Two weeks later, one of the kitchen workers was caught selling
rice to the Japanese. At least one 220-1b (100 kg) sack had disappeared,
“to say nothing of oil, M & V, bully and beans over the last six months.
He was fined ¥ 200 by Japs. Money was paid out of amenities fund to
which we were asked to contribute ¥ 2 each last week. He was not even
placed on a charge, because so many, including officers, were
involved. What a camp!”138 Obviously, discontent seethed in Sham
Shui Po, where unhappiness and suspicion constantly surrounded the
acquisition and distribution of food.

Another source of dissension, sometimes implicit, often explicit in
many writings about this period, has to do with the different treatment
accorded officers compared to the enlisted men. Much bitterness
marks some of the writings, and it positively resonates throughout



78 | Long Night's Journey into Day

Will Allister’s novel, A Handful of Rice, based upon his experiences at
Hong Kong.13?

How wide was the gap? Sheer survival is perhaps the most fun-
damental measure. And some figures are available. For example, in the
Royal Australian Navy, 39 officers and 342 ratings were captured, the
vast majority in the Far East. Of these, 6 officers and 113 ratings died
in captivity (5 officers and 4 ratings executed) and 33 officers and 229
ratings came home. This works out to a mortality among officers,
excluding those executed, of 1/34 (2.9%); in the ratings, 19/338 (35%).
Including those executed the figures are ¢/39 (15%), and 13/342 (33%).
These data suggest that being an officer enhanced one’s likelihood of
survival.140 One possible contributory reason is that, in general, offi-
cers did not have to work.

Joan Beaumont has compiled similar data with respect to the
Australians of “Gull Force.” The survivors of this group were impris-
oned on the islands of Ambon and Hainan between early 1942 and the
end of the war. Of 21 captains and lieutenants, 4 died in captivity
(19%); of 103 NCOs, 64 died (62%); and of 404 privates, 304 died
(75.2%!). Among those sent to Hainan, no officers died, 6 of 43 NCOs,
and 56 of 204 privates.!! One message at least seems clear from read-
ing these figures.

Similar computations can be made for the Canadians at Hong
Kong. Of 94 officers, 27 had died by 1945, or 29 percent; of 1879 Other
Ranks, 530 died, or 28 percent. This seems democratic enough. But if
the deaths are broken down into deaths by or as a result of battle and
deaths in POW camps, the figures change dramatically. Twenty-four
percent of all Canadian officers died in battle or of wounds, 5.6 percent
of the survivors died while POWs. For the men these figures are 14
percent and 16 percent. Thus the officers had high fatality rates in bat-
tle but low rates afterwards, suggesting that as prisoners they fared
significantly better than their men.142 And this finding would reinforce
the bitterness that continues to be felt by many ex-POWs, half a centu-
ry after the war and their imprisonment ended.

One source of discontent among Other Ranks related to their
understanding as to how Allied POWs ought to behave while in cap-
tivity. Carden wrote in his diary in February 1942 that the POWs were
being smartened up, under orders purporting to come from the
Japanese but which the men suspected originated with their own offi-
cers. These related to conduct on parade, general bearing, dress, and
saluting. He admitted that parades had become better “as the chaps
stand still and do not talk or wander about so much. This, of course, is
contrary to what prisoners should do as we understood it was our
duty to cause the enemy as much trouble as possible.” But the orders
were given by their own officers, who awarded punishments for
infringements of discipline on these parades. One of their captains was
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“more than the usual type of pig, and that the vast majority of our offi-
cers are either boys, old men or bloody fools.”143 Later that spring
Alsey recorded that the CO of the Royal Scots attended drill parade
and “nattered” all the time. “He wants pukka depot stuff, and in these
circumstances. I reiterate—he’s a doddering old twat.”144

Some inmates of the camp were disappointed that the great
majority accepted their prison life and appeared to be contented with
it; most seem never to have entertained serious thoughts of attempting
escape or to have wished to take part in further hostilities. “No doubt
this was largely, if not in many cases entirely, due to the lead set by the
senior officers, who were so strong in their determination that no one
should attempt to escape.”145

One officer’s mind-set about escaping comes through in a diary
entry from 1944: “Awful trouble on Monday as one fellow, quite with-
out consultation etc I think—walked out on Sunday night and has
apparently got away with it....It has had a lot of repercussions—no
newspapers!! a sad blow...it has lead [sic] to a lot of difficulties with
sentries and we have to have an officer on duty all night in each hut,
and several odd counts up during the night.”14¢ Personal inconven-
ience seems the dominant concern here. Lt.Cmdr. R.B. Goodwin,
RNZNVR, escaped the night of 16-17 July, 1944.147

Periodically, goods were brought in for the so-called “canteen,”
largely benefiting the officers because only they had money. When
cheese, jam, or chocolate came in, these items were snapped up by the
officers. One NCO observed that he had yet to see an officer with
beriberi or pellagra like the other ranks had.18 It was clear that some
officers did use their status to assure themselves better living condi-
tions than those endured by their men, as would be affirmed by the
man whose iron bed was taken from him for an officer who had
entered the camp.14 Other instances of real or apparent inequality will
be cited throughout these pages.

Argyle Street Camp

The former Nationalist Chinese Soldiers’ Internment Camp in Argyle
Street became Argyle Street POW Camp at the end of 1941. It was
located in Kowloon, on the land between Argyle Street and Prince
Edward Road West, abutting on Lomond Street to the west. At that
time the area was largely open country. Forfar Road, where the IJA
Prisoner-Of-War Headquarters was located, is one block further west.
The camp is 600 metres east of Kai Tak Airport. Argyle Street Camp
still existed, though unoccupied, as recently as 1995. Three kilometres
east was Sham Shui Po camp.

It is necessary to return to the time of the fighting in December
1941, to provide a chronological account of this camp. On Christmas
Eve 1941, Dr. Isaac Newton and three colleagues—Drs. Uttley,
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Hargreaves, and Gozano—apparently the first captured medical offi-
cers, were moved to this camp. About 950 British, Canadian, and
Indian troops were there already, about 150 wounded. The medical
officers had no operating theatre, no instruments, little in the way of
wound dressings, few drugs, and no nurses. They dressed wounds as
best they could, carrying on at night by candlelight.15

Figure 3.10. The former Argyle Street POW Camp,
Kowloon, Hong Kong, still in use when this photo-
graph was taken, 8 September 1987. (Photograph by
the author.)

In the next few days, Captains S. Martin Banfill, RCAMC, and
L.W. Ashton-Rose, IMS, arrived.15! For Banfill this was a significant
event, an exchange from a state of constantly pending but regularly
deferred execution to the profoundly more desirable status of just
another imprisoned medical officer.

Most of their patients had been wounded a week or more before
and still had their original dressings. The MOs were amazed at how well
the majority of them were doing. Fortunately most injuries were from
rifle bullets and hand grenades, with few bomb and shell splinters.152
The latter injuries were much more destructive of human tissue and
therefore more difficult to treat, even with adequate medical facilities.
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Newton was forced by the appalling conditions and scanty sup-
plies to go back to fundamental methods and practices:

The suffering is awful and we can do hardly anything to relieve it, it is a
most awful feeling of helplessness and there is so much to be done that
we can’t do it all or anything like all. We have no nurses....You can’t
walk through the ward without men calling out to you for one thing or
another but they never complain and some of them must be suffering
terrible pain. Tomorrow we are going to start operating on them but it
will be pretty primitive surgery I'm afraid....We had another batch of
about 60 prisoners brought in today so we must total very nearly a thou-
sand men in barracks built for 300 Chinese.153

Gradually, some order was introduced by the Japanese. On
28 December 1941, 200 relatively fit soldiers were taken from Argyle
Street Camp to work at Sham Shui Po, with the idea of moving the
remainder of the POWs there soon.!>¢ By 31 December there were 5,000
men and officers confined at Sham Shui Po Camp.15

Nevertheless, on 3 January 1942, Argyle Street Camp still contained
more than 1,000 men. About half had blankets, some had overcoats, but
many had only the clothes they were captured in. At night they slept on
boards or on the concrete floor. The dysentery cases and wounded men
were no better off. Inadvertently soiling their clothing and bedding, they
created a serious problem because there was nowhere clean to put them
while the floor and their clothes were being washed. There were few
drugs. On one occasion a dead man couldn’t be buried for 48 hours be-
cause there were no spades to dig a grave. For the same reason they were
unable to dig proper latrines, “and with 700 undisciplined Indian soldiers
you can imagine what a hopeless task it has been. The food also is none
too good and apt to be quite revolting when it gets cold as it frequently
did if there was a lot of work for us to do. Finally the whole place is crawl-
ing with flies because the Japanese had horse lines near the camp.”1%

On 8 January, Newton recorded that although 169 dysentery
patients had been sent off two days before, there were 70 new cases
(13 European, 57 Indian). The epidemic was out of control.
Fortunately, on 16 January 1942, Dr. Selwyn-Clarke was able to pro-
vide 500 grams of Dagenan, an anti-dysentery drug.!%” Thus they were
able to treat at least the worst cases. Gradually, more elaborate medical
services became available. For example, on 20 January 1942, Newton
was permitted to take a patient needing to have one eye removed, and
a metal fragment removed from the other, to the Queen Mary Hospital,
where they had an electromagnet.!58

In April 1942, Argyle Street Camp was transformed into an offi-
cers’ POW camp. Until then non-Indian officers were scattered among
the other camps; in January 1942, the Indian officers had been moved
to Ma Tau Chung Camp.
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The early and essentially complete segregation of the Indians par-
alleled Japanese practice in Singapore and elsewhere. Every effort was
made to persuade the Indians to volunteer for the Indian National
Army; separation from the influence of their British officers was an
essential first step in the process. Thus, excepting most of the medical
officers and some subalterns, all non-Indian officers captured by the
Japanese, about 600 in number, were eventually incarcerated at Argyle
Street Camp.

The first commandant at Argyle Street Camp was Lt. Sawamori,
until July 1942, when he was succeeded by Lt. Tanaka Hitochi.
Tanaka was tried in 1946-1947 for his actions while in charge there,
found guilty, and sentenced to three years at hard labour.’® From
December 1943 to April 1944, Lt. Hara was in charge, followed by
WO Ichiki in May 1944. The officers were moved to Sham Shui Po on
21 May 1944.160

Maj. Gen. Maltby, GOC Hong Kong, was transferred to Argyle
Street Camp from Sham Shui Po. He had destroyed his official papers
before the capitulation but retained a diary. The general and his staff
distributed the pages of the diary among themselves, fastening the
papers to their legs with adhesive tape. At Argyle Street Camp the
papers were sealed in a jar that was buried in concrete. The position
was marked and, after the war, the papers were recovered intact.16!
Presumably they helped convict some of the Japanese POW personnel
at war crimes trials.

In Argyle Street Camp the officers were not forced to work, but
their own administration made gardening compulsory.162 There were
at least three dozen medical officers in the camp—far more than were
needed to care for their fellow officers. Thus, of the IMS medical offi-
cers, only Capt. J.J. Woodward, being a certified surgeon, did medical
work at Argyle Street in the first months.163

For the first five months of the camp’s existence the Japanese
refused to provide facilities for a camp hospital. The sick had to be
treated in their own huts.1¢¢ However, an operating room of sorts was
available in Ma Tau Chung Camp, a short distance away, and some
surgery was done there. On those few occasions when this was per-
mitted by the Japanese, the surgeon and the anesthetist first func-
tioned as stretcher-bearers, carrying the patient the 300 to 400 metres
between camps. “The Surgeon stated that his surgical technique was
hardly improved by his having to undertake the preliminary carriage
of the patient.”165 Woodward explained the apparent Japanese ration-
ale for this order: “Stretcher parties were forbidden for fear of com-
munication with the Indians and it usually fell to the lot of Surgeon
Commander Cleave, RN, the Navy Surgical specialist and myself to
carry the case down a distance of about half a mile and to operate on
it if we could still stand up on arrival.”266 On one occasion, permission
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to move a patient having been denied, his perforated ulcer was oper-
ated on in the Argyle Street Camp dental room—successfully.

Finally, in October 1942, an outbreak of acute gastroenteritis
occurred, apparently due to fish poisoning. Four cases showed symp-
toms resembling those of cholera, and the diagnosis of that disease
was made bacteriologically by the Japanese. This outbreak disturbed
them sufficiently to order the opening of a camp hospital.167

Capt. Strahan, IMS, had had some experience of cholera in India
so0 it was arranged that Strahan and Woodward would be isolated with
the patients in a separate hut that the Japanese allowed them to use.168
After this disease (almost certainly not cholera) was cleared up, the
Argyle Street Camp hospital was staffed by IMS Capts. Evans (physi-
cian), Strahan (dysentery and skin), and Woodward (surgical and OC).
Through a Japanese medical sergeant they were able to get iron beds
and mattresses. This success they thought was chiefly due to the
reflected merit of their previous association with Maj. (A) Ashton-Rose,
of whom the Japanese approved.

According to Woodward, RAMC orderlies were found unwilling
or incapable of doing the hospital work. They were replaced by vol-
unteer officers “who worked hard for 3 years at this work and made a
great success of it.”169

Dr. Saito, then a full lieutenant and in complete medical charge of
some 10,000 POWs, called at the camp on an average of about once in
three months. One of Saito’s duties was to select cases for transfer to
Bowen Road British Military Hospital. “He seldom proceeded farther
than the main gate, however, where he might state that perhaps four
cases out of the seven suggested to him might go.” In the case of one
sick medical officer, Saito’s refusal to allow a transfer to hospital was
immediate and firm, unimpeded by any examination of the patient.
His attitude to sick men was that of complete indifference to their well-
being. “No opportunity was given to assess his skill as a medical offi-
cer, as he avoided at all times any contact with the sick.170

A common criticism made by POW medical officers was the lack
of medical involvement by Japanese medical officers. Their attitude
seems usually to have been that they were in full administrative con-
trol but they would not accept clinical jurisdiction or risk expressing
medical opinions. In at least a few instances, these men seem not to
have been the best products of Japanese medical education; their non-
involvement may have been a positive factor for the POWs.

Capt. AJ.N. Warrack, RAMC, was at Argyle Street from April
1942 till he was sent to Japan in April 1944. He judged this camp to be
significantly better than the other Hong Kong and mainland Japanese
camps that he experienced.!”! Among other matters, his official report
included information on the medical organization. Lt. Col. Shackleton,
RAMC, acted as SMO Argyle Street Camp and organized a medical
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committee of 12 of the medical officers in the camp. This committee
received reports on the state of the camp health from MOs in charge of
personnel and hospital, and made recommendations and suggestions
to the administrative authorities.”2

The diet at Argyle Street Camp was poor. The principal food was
white rice, with the quantity varying from about 375 to 700 grams a
day.173 But the officers, who were paid regularly, were able to supple-
ment this ration. In addition to buying food for themselves, the officers
sent money to the Other Ranks camp at Sham Shui Po, where malnu-
trition was severe and food supplies even more restricted.174

According to Warrack, in most months the Japanese issued a
small but inadequate quantity of medicine. But no drugs at all were
issued from July to September 1942. When medicines were issued,
they included iodine, aspirin, magnesium sulphate, sodium bicarbon-
ate, small amounts of sulfanilamide or sulfapyridine, and some vita-
min B.175 Fortunately, the indefatigable Dr. Selwyn-Clarke was able to
send many valuable drugs into the camp during 1942.

R.B. Goodwin was debriefed after his escape from Hong Kong in
1944. Among other things, he stated that from the end of May 1942
until early in 1944, the Japanese gave POWs a regular monthly supply
of tooth powder, washing soap, and toilet paper. During that period
they also received “a sufficient supply” of toothbrushes and small face
towels. This must have been while Goodwin was in Argyle Street
Camp, where officers unquestionably were better supplied than were
the men in Sham Shui Po. Again, the unconscious arrogance of the
officer appears; the phrase “gave POWs” obviously is capable of being
read as “all POWs” rather than “POW officers,” though the latter
is what was meant.1”6 Whether the bias was Goodwin’s or his inter-
rogators’ is unknown.

The caloric intake for the officers at Argyle Street was estimated to
vary from 1,400 per day (only Japanese rations available) to 2,000 per
day (canteen purchases and Red Cross supplies included). The men in
Sham Shui Po received roughly the same caloric intake, but unlike the
officers they had to work. Thus the gap between caloric needs and
caloric supplies was much greater for the men than for their officers.

For the two-year period Warrack was at Argyle Street Camp the
POWSs were living, he stated, “on the verge of deficiency disease.”177
Nothing expresses more clearly the difference between this officers’
camp and camps like Sham Shui Po that were maintained for the Other
Ranks, where that verge had been passed long before and where vita-
min deficiency diseases of numerous complicated kinds were the chief
medical complaints. While Sham Shui Po was haunted at night by
wraiths seeking ways to stop or diminish the agony of “electric feet,”
at Argyle Street only a few cases of painful feet were seen, and results
of treatment in these mild cases were good.178
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Another measure of the profound difference comes through in the
distressed tone of an officer of the Royal Artillery, in Argyle Street
Camp, when he discovered that a stray dog had mounted his bitch,
Sheila.1”? By this time, October 1942, any dog in Sham Shui Po would
have been eaten, not petted. In January 1943, the Other Ranks at Sham
Shui Po or Ma Tau Chung would have been disgusted and infuriated
to hear that “Sheila’s pup is being fed on a pint of milk and 2 eggs a
day.”180 That allowance would have saved lives in Sham Shui Po.

Another difference relates to the incidence of diphtheria. In con-
trast to the experience at North Point and Sham Shui Po camps, there
were only four mild cases at Argyle Street Camp. Antitoxin was avail-
able and the Japanese “investigated the outbreak, sprayed everyone
with carbolic, issued orders about the wearing of face masks and iso-
lated contacts and carriers. No complications nor deaths occurred.”18!

The conclusion is inescapable. One’s lot was significantly
improved if one had the good luck to be an officer.

Camp 1/N//

On 21 May 1944, all non-Indian officers were moved back to Sham
Shui Po, though to a separately designated section, “Camp N.”
(Argyle Street Camp was next used by Indian POWs.) The officers
moved in two groups, on 7 and 14 May 1944.182 Three months later, a
remarkable event took place, a bizarre and unexplained though wel-
come augmentation of the officers” diet: “on Monday we received as
rations 22 brace of pheasants!! can you beat it after no meat for over 2
years!!”183

On 26 April 1945, Lt. White, who had been in Sham Shui Po with
the men since they left North Point Camp, noted a major shift, as he
was one of 50 officers moved “over the wire” from “Camp S” to
“Camp N.”18 “The wire separating the two camps doesn’t mean
much. There are visits back and forth all the time. Just got to be care-
ful to dodge the Sentry.”185 And on 7 May 1945 this tireless diarist
observed that many of the officers did their share of the necessary
physical work, though he gives no numbers or proportions. “We even
have an English Lord who does some cobbling.”186

The officers remained in Camp “N” until the war ended.

Ma Tau Chung

Several refugee camps had been built in Hong Kong to accommodate
the huge numbers of Chinese civilians who were fleeing Japanese
domination on the mainland. The Hong Kong census by March 1941
was 1,650,000; three years earlier the number had been only 997,982.
Arrangements to handle the human tide were inadequate in 1938, but
eventually refugee camps were established at King’s Park, Ma Tau
Chung, North Point, Morrison Hill, Tai Hang, and Ngau Tau Kok.187
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Col. Penfold recorded in his diary on 25 January 1942 that four
days before, all the Indian Officers were taken out of Sham Shui Po
and shown the former refugee camp between Argyle St. and Ma Tau
Kok, where they were to live. The camp was called Ma Tau Chung. The
following day they moved there. The Volunteers who had ended up at
North Point after the capitulation came to Sham Shui Po and joined the
bulk of the HKVDC already there. The Indians from Argyle Street
joined the others at Ma Tau Chung, while the non-Indians at Argyle
Street, mostly Volunteers, went to Sham Shui Po. Finally, the Navy
marched out to North Point. The colonel considered all three—
Indians, Canadians, and Navy—as having been in a way discordant
elements in camp. Precisely why, he does not say. At Sham Shui Po it
was decided to move all officers into the Jubilee Buildings.!88 Thus,
with these various moves, the Japanese scheme of organization and
segregation was fully revealed.

Ma Tau Chung Camp was located 300 metres from the Argyle
Street Camp, on the opposite side of Argyle St. and set back from it.
Late in January 1942 the Indian regulars were taken there from Sham
Shui Po. The Indian members of the HKVDC were first taken to Argyle
Street Camp, but then, after a day or two, they were taken on to Ma
Tau Chung.18 More than two years later, the Indians were moved from
Ma Tau Chung to Argyle Street after the officers returned to Sham Shui
Po.190

Indians from many units occupied Ma Tau Chung. These includ-
ed the Rajputs and Punjabis, Indians of the Mule Corps, the Royal
Army Service Corps, the Hong Kong and Singapore Royal Artillery,
the Indian Medical Service, the Indian Hospital Corps, the Indian
warders from Stanley Gaol, and some Indian Police reservists.

Bertram commented on the lot of the Indian POWSs, whose fate
has been little recorded, at least in English. He believed that conditions
in Ma Tau Chung were much worse than those experienced by the
British and Canadians. The Japanese were applying pressure on the
Indians, hoping to force them to join Chandra Bose’s Indian National
Army (INA) and to fight against the British. But despite the rising tide
of anti-British nationalism within India, the majority of the POWs held
out with great fortitude. “The death roll among Indian troops was
higher than for any other prisoners in Hong Kong—it was a demon-
stration of loyalty that I felt British rule had done little to deserve,” was
Bertram’s comment.191

In May 1944 a POW on a working party near Ma Tau Chung saw
some of the Indian POWs. There were over 200 of them still in the
camp. Those he saw seemed to be in fairly good shape, but the camp
was very dirty and looked “buggy.”192

Endacott paints a more positive picture of the Indians’ captivity.
Those who had families in Hong Kong received parcels on a generous
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scale, even two or three times a week. Conversation with family mem-
bers was forbidden, but sometimes a kindly Japanese interpreter or
guard would ignore these encounters. Red Cross supplies from India
provided flour for chapattis, and ghee. “So,” he concluded, “on the
whole, the Indian prisoners did not fare so badly. There was some
beriberi and pellagra, caused mainly by switching to a rice diet to
which most Indians were unaccustomed.”19 Despite this essentially
positive description, the Japanese devoted much effort to propaganda
and intimidation. The Punjabi and Hong Kong and Singapore Royal
Artillery POWSs were brought to Gun Club Hill Barracks for this pur-
pose. However, almost all refused to collaborate, so they were sent
back to Ma Tau Chung and closely confined, on subsistence rations.1%

Figure 3.11. Maj. (Acting) Leopold W. Ashton-
Rose, IMS (1896-1957). (Courtesy of Marjorie
Ashton-Rose.)

Capt. Woodward was involved in the move of the Indian hospital
on 17 April 1942. After wholesale discharge of the well and nearly well
patients, the hospital was moved to a series of huts further down
Argyle St., outside both Argyle Street Camp and Ma Tau Chung. The
patients were chiefly Indians. Nursing staff was either RAMC or
Indian Hospital Corps; the MOs were Maj. (A) Ashton-Rose, Capts.
Woodward, Strahan, Evans, and Sundaram, all IMS, and about eight
officers of the Indian Medical Department.!% At Ma Tau Chung Camp,
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several patients suffering from dysentery or appendicitis died for lack
of treatment, though separated from medical care by only a narrow
lane and two wire fences. “The Japs just would not give permission for
them to be brought to Hospital.”1%

On 16 June 1942, as usual without warning, the British, both
patients and staff, were all removed from this hospital, which there-
after functioned as a purely Indian hospital. It was run by Jemadar
Chetan Dev, IMD, described by a colleague as

[O]ne of the best types of old style VCO. He carried on his duties under
the most trying conditions with great patience, integrity and resolution
and was completely aloof from the hurly-burly of plot and counter-plot
resulting from the disaffection and scheming caused by the Japs’ per-
sistent efforts to get recruits for the INA. He held the respect of both
Indians and Japs and is a man I am proud to call my friend...on those
occasions of our operating at the Lower Camp Hospital he was not
afraid to greet me with a friendliness and respect which must have jeop-
ardised his position with the Japs.197

Dislocating the Indians from contact with the British was effected
by the simple expedient of keeping physical separation complete. As
part of the scheme to suborn the Indians, in October 1942 British POWs
were made to do seemingly unnecessary manual labour just outside
Ma Tau Chung Camp, presumably in order to humiliate them before
the Indians.!¢ However, propaganda seems to have been largely inef-
fective in turning Indians. Far more serious was the brutal intimida-
tion practised on Indian officers and men, almost always because they
resisted persuasion to join the Indian National Army. The most well-
documented and surely the most vicious of these attacks involved
Capt. Matreen Ahmed Ansari.

This man became known to Martin Banfill soon after the capitu-
lation. Mixed in with the British wounded Banfill was looking after at
Sham Shui Po immediately after the surrender were many Indians
from the Rajputs and the Punjabis. A young Indian officer came along
and asked Banfill to look at his men. Banfill tried to excuse himself,
exhausted after caring for his own casualties, but the officer was
adamant, so Banfill went with him. This man was Captain Ansari,

a Muslim, an Indian, who had gone to Sandhurst, had a British com-
mission. He belonged to a princely family, he was some connection of
the Nizam of Hyderabad, and a gentleman, a really nice person. So I
went with him and I stayed with him and he got me something to eat.
He helped me and we bandaged up these Indians, and I slept with him
that night on the floor. I remember sharing a blanket. The Japanese
recruited a rebel Indian army under a man named Chandra Bose to
attack the British, to prove that they were liberating India in their attack
through Burma. They offered the command to Ansari, and Ansari said
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he was a British soldier subject to the King, and he wouldn’t. And they
beheaded him.1%°

Some time in 1942 the British Army Aid Group (BAAG) contact-
ed Ansari, and his escape probably could have been arranged. But
duty compelled him to remain with his men—he volunteered to go to
Ma Tau Chung Camp to stiffen the resistance of the Rajputs to
Japanese propaganda.20 Further details of Ansari’s brutal treatment at
the hands of the Japanese are described in the citation that accompa-
nied his George Cross:

ANSARI Matreen Ahmed, Capt., 7th Rajput Rifles, Indian
Army....Captain Ansari became a prisoner of war of the Japanese when
they invaded Hong Kong in December 1941...as he was closely related
to a ruler of a great Indian State his captors tried to persuade him to
renounce his allegiance to the British....When they found these ap-
proaches were useless he was thrown into Stanley Jail in May 1942,
where he suffered starvation and brutal ill-treatment. On being
returned to the prisoner of war camp he still proclaimed his loyalty to
the British and in May 1943 he was again thrown into Stanley Jail
where he was starved and tortured for five months. He was finally
sentenced to death with 30 other British, Indian and Chinese
prisoners and executed in October 1943. Throughout his long ordeal
Captain Ansari’s loyalty, courage and endurance never wavered and
his example helped many others to remain loyal.20!

Captain Ansari had been recommended for the Victoria Cross for
valour in the field before he was taken prisoner. After the war,
Compton Mackenzie found Ansari’s grave in the cemetery at Stanley.
Alongside Ansari are buried 20 of those who shared his convictions.

Ansari was the most prominent of those who were determined to
reaffirm their loyalty to the King-Emperor, but there were others.
Sepoy Nobat Khan, 2/14th Punjabs, caught while trying to escape, was
strung up to a beam and bayoneted several times. In addition he was
subjected to the suffocating water torture.202 Fortunately the bulk of
the Indians did not receive such personal attention. But more general
methods were tried: “the Japs asked the Indian troops to volunteer for
service with them, and when they refused they starved them for a
week till they finally gave in. Then 150 of them were put to guard an
air field in the New Territories and one night they all disappeared.”203
Endacott confirms this mass escape, “a striking success by the BAAG
whose agents, with help from the villagers of Lin Ma Hang, in March
1943 succeeded in liberating a large contingent of Indian troops to Free
China.”204

In the last half of 1944, at a time when many Indian POWs cap-
tured in Malaya and Singapore were released and sent back to their
homes in occupied areas, all local Hong Kong Indians who promised
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to work with the Japanese were released to their homes. (Chinese
members of the HKVDC had been released late in 1942.) At the end of
the war only three Indian prisoners, all members of the HKVDC,
remained in the Argyle Street Camp.205

Immediately after the war, the former POW camp for Indians,
Ma Tau Chung, was used, with other institutions, to house those in
transit through Hong Kong and “for those unable to pay the heavy ‘tea
money’ for house room.”2% Thus life began to return to “normal” in
the area.

For the men who remained in Hong Kong, life was more or less
as described, though with infinite variations of details and dates. But
for many hundreds of the British, Canadian, and HKVDC POWs, this
existence was profoundly changed when they were selected to travel
to Japan. Indian POWs, for political reasons, apparently were not sent
to be labourers in Japan. Drafts occurred several times in 1942, 1943,
and 1944. The voyages themselves, and the life the men led in Japan,
are described in Chapters Seven and Eight.



Chapter 4
Prisoner-of-War Life

in Hong Kong

It is difficult to appreciate without having seen it the tremendous loss
of morale and pride of a beaten and captured army.!

J'f any one aspect of prisoner-of-war life stands out in the memories
of the men it is the sameness. Their lives stretched off into an
unknown and therefore interminable future punctuated by a relative-
ly small number of memorable moments. Some of these were unpleas-
ant, such as a severe beating, a tedious or painful disease, or the bitter
discomfort of a Japanese winter; happily, some also were pleasant
events, such as the arrival of mail, a spirited amateur play or concert,
or some successful if minor sabotage effort against their captors.

Yet despite the seeming greyness of their days, most of the men
did get through each day, one at a time; there were events and routines
to be learned, and lived, and survived. In an attempt to make these
days understandable, I discuss POW activities within several general
headings. There are sections on work, entertainment, sports,
Christmas, sex, and escaping, among others. In broad scope, these
experiences were common to all the POWs. Inevitably, details vary,
sometimes widely, from person to person, from camp to camp, and
over time.

When asked to identify the aspect of POW life that was most dis-
tressing, many ex-POWs have identified two related factors. They
were deeply concerned that their families were unaware of their fate
after 8 December 1941; and they lamented the extreme slowness of
postal communications and the resulting infrequency of word from

Notes to Chapter 4 are on pp. 340-45.
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home. The Japanese, given their general denunciation of surrender,
and thus of POWs, could scarcely have been expected to devote much
energy towards assuring this or any of the other amenities expected by
Western prisoners. Their efforts do not seem to have been more than
perfunctory. Again, a cultural difference exerted a substantial effect
here; there is much evidence that most Japanese soldiers had few or no
contacts with home once they left Japan proper.

In addition, a logistical problem worsened the slowness of com-
munication. The number of translators capable of reading English was
grossly deficient. Every letter or postcard leaving any camp, and every
communication arriving there, had to be censored by the Japanese.
One consequence was that mail piled up. Often the POWs, visiting
Japanese offices for some reason, saw sacks of mail piled in a corner,
often the same sacks month after month.

Another offshoot of the translation bottleneck may have been the
use of pre-printed cards that permitted only the deletion of certain
words by the individual prisoner. Thus a card might read: I am
well...working hard...in hospital. The sender was to cross out incorrect or
inappropriate responses. Obviously, use of such cards greatly simpli-
fied the work of the censors. No additional writing was permitted, so
the cards were in essence pre-censored. But the information the men
could send home was minuscule, which only exacerbated deeply felt
resentments. The card did ease the task of those noble-minded POWs
who deliberately chose the “I am well” message even when so ill in
hospital that they had to ask an orderly to mark and address the card.
This tenacious desire to reassure their loved ones is a tribute to the
mens’ spirit.

At Hong Kong, outgoing letters were first permitted on 26 May
1942, each man to be allowed to write home once a month.2 Within a
day or two, a long list of restrictions regarding the writing of letters
had been posted on the bulletin board. This was not to be a mass mail-
ing, with a letter or card written by each man. Only a certain percent-
age could have this privilege: in Sham Shui Po, each hut drew lots to
see who would write home first. But in North Point Camp, the
Canadians who won the draw were to find that the matter was not a
simple one: “June 2nd, 42. The men who wrote home have had their let-
ters returned to them and told they must rewrite them, shorten to 200
words and not ask for a single thing.”3 Nevertheless, some mail did
leave the camps, and some of the letters eventually reached anxious
families, though rarely sooner than a year later.

Other kinds of communication were arranged by the Japanese,
notably radio broadcasting of messages, again by only a minority of
the men. Early in June 1942, Tom Forsyth of the Winnipeg Grenadiers
was one of 10 Canadians who were permitted to send messages home
in this way. They rode by bus to the dock, travelled by ferry to
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Kowloon, and rode another bus about four miles to Japanese HQ. “We
each spoke a short message into a microphone and a recording will be
broadcast, picked up and relayed till eventually they reach Canada.
We left camp at 12.30. Did not get back till 5, missed dinner, all the Japs
gave us at H.Q. was two cups of pale, weak green tea. No cream, no
sugar.”* Many of these ethereal messages did reach their intended
audience, often transcribed and forwarded by dedicated amateur
radio operators in Canada and the United States.

Work

A visitor to Hong Kong just before the war noted “the apparently airy
manner in which an engineer will say ‘Oh, we’ll just take the top off
the hill and fill in the valley here.” The newcomer is even more
impressed when he sees it done.”5 Hordes of Chinese labourers with
picks, shovels, and rickety wheelbarrows, aided by women and chil-
dren with baskets, attack the hill; in due course, it is carried into the
valley. This was possible because labour was so cheap. Of course, this
was exactly the technique by which the Japanese used POWs and
impressed Chinese to construct Kai Tak airport. For the Japanese, the
labour was very cheap indeed.

For military prisoners of the Japanese, the general principle
adhered to was that privates worked, NCOs supervised work, and
officers did not have to work. Exceptions were made by the Japanese
to all these regulations, perhaps the most notable and substantial tak-
ing place during the cruel so-called “Speedo” period on the Burma-
Siam railway, when many officers were forced to do brutally heavy
work over 14- and 16-hour days along with the men. Gardening, car-
ried out ostensibly for the POWs themselves, was an activity frequent-
ly assigned to the officers.

Of course, the major exception to all exemptions from work by
officers, expected by the POWs and usually permitted by the Japanese,
was that medical officers worked. Similarly, though not always with-
out argument and persuasion before the captors permitted it, the med-
ical orderlies usually could pursue their vocation. They and the MOs
had the enormous advantage of being able to keep busy doing what
they were trained to do. In both groups, the opportunity to work was
seen as a great boon. Albert Coates, an Australian MO captured in the
South Pacific, pointed out that although the Japanese often ignored the
Geneva Conventions, at least they did use captured surgeons “with
some humanitarian intent.”6 One former POW believes that the mem-
oirs that have been written have overlooked the contribution made to
prisoners of war by the medically trained men. “This group deserves
much recognition for their dedication to their fellow men.”” For the
medical orderlies there was an added bonus. Work in the hospitals
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offered legitimate exemption from more onerous and often dangerous
physical labour.

In most cases, non-medical officers would have preferred to be
able to work. They knew they needed real exercise, both physical and
mental. Inevitably, the Other Ranks would gladly have not worked or
at least have worked less hard. Early on, officers at Hong Kong super-
vised the working parties. But when the Japanese discovered that the
Chinese underground had established contacts with these parties, they
forbade officers to accompany the men. Occasionally, an officer would
work in place of a private by exchanging identities. Lt. White was one
of these officers; in October 1942 he took off his rank badges to join a
work party at a godown (warehouse) on the wharf. There, he handled
Red Cross supplies, individual parcels, and other material.8 This was
not a rare event, but it was the Other Ranks who sustained the real,
debilitating burden of exhaustingly hard labour.

The Japanese demanded working parties from Sham Shui Po as
early as 24 January 1942.9 In the beginning men sought to join the work
parties because they assumed there would be opportunities to smug-
gle goods back into camp, and they were lacking much. One British
NCO wrote of the trouble he had trying to get on a Japanese fatigue
party. The RSM (Regimental Sergeant-Major) told him he would have
to disguise himself as a private.1% Before long, however, men schemed
and connived to avoid working parties.

Canadians from North Point laboured both on the Island and on
the mainland during the first summer in captivity. They did all kinds
of work. Groups alternated, Grenadiers one day, Rifles the next, in
sending 200 men to work on the airport.!! One man reported that he
was in a party of 39 sent to Bowen Road Hospital to cut grass and
bushes around the electrically wired fence, to prevent current from
being grounded. Later, this task would cost one man his life.

Kai Tak airport became the chief destination for working parties,
which often gives survivors a certain grim satisfaction as their aircraft
land at Kai Tak. (From 1998 this quasi-poignant opportunity has dis-
appeared, as the international airport is now located elsewhere.) The
men were required to move a large hill by filling baskets with dirt and
stones and carrying them away. The POWs would get up at 4 a.m,,
have breakfast of rice and greens, and work all day, with perhaps a
bun at noon. They returned anywhere from about 6 p.m. to as late as
10 p.m. at night. They were “like zombies,” going around in a daze.!2
The weather often was rainy, cold, and miserable. In the winter
months, work parties had to go out in the dark and return in the dark.

Many men were not up to the work, largely because they were
chronically poorly fed. Conditions at the various work sites often
included brutal harassment. On one occasion at the airport, when a
POW didn’t work hard enough to suit the Japanese guard, he hit the
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prisoner across the head with a rifle butt and knocked him down. “The
guy got up and took a swing at the Japanese and another Japanese
came up behind and stuck a bayonet right through his stomach. That
was it.”13 No other Canadian I have questioned recalls this incident;
the details may be exaggerated or the memory may represent some
other location.

When working parties were first established, a man might be cho-
sen to go out only every third day. But soon, more men were required
by the Japanese. Coincident with the demand for increased numbers of
workers was an increase in the sickness rate. By September 1942, many
men whom the medical officers considered to be dangerously ill were
forced to work. “Work party calls for 500 men these days, have to use
many sick men. Japs won’t consider any less.”1* Selecting sick men
who would be least damaged by hard work was a heartbreaking and
difficult task but one that most medical officers had to face.15

Gradually the number who were able to play games or do sports
was confined almost entirely to officers who did not go on work par-
ties,16 or to